# **JMIR Biomedical Engineering**

Engineering for health technologies, medical devices, and innovative medical treatments and procedures Volume 4 (2019), Issue 1 ISSN 2561-3278 Editor in Chief: Syed A. A. Rizvi, MD, PhD, MBA, MPH, BSN

# Contents

# **Reviews**

Factors That Contribute to the Use of Stroke Self-Rehabilitation Technologies: A Review (e13732) Ioannis Vourganas, Vladimir Stankovic, Lina Stankovic, Andrew Kerr.	2
Immersive Virtual Reality in Health Care: Systematic Review of Technology and Disease States (e15025) Aaron Snoswell, Centaine Snoswell.	19
The Effects of Titanium Implant Surface Topography on Osseointegration: Literature Review (e13237) Preeti Kumar, Satheesh KS, Vyoma Grandhi, Vrinda Gupta	101

# **Original Papers**

Automatic Near Real-Time Outlier Detection and Correction in Cardiac Interbeat Interval Series for Heart Rate Variability Analysis: Singular Spectrum Analysis-Based Approach (e10740)	
Michael Lang	34
Modular Catheter Systems in Minimally Invasive Interventional Medical Procedures: Case Study (e14443) Bradley Beach, Brian Scansen.	51
An Analytics Framework for Physician Adherence to Clinical Practice Guidelines: Knowledge-Based Approach (e11659)	
Jaehoon Lee, Nathan Hulse.	60
Perspectives of Orthopedic Surgeons on the Clinical Use of Bioprinted Cartilage: Qualitative Study (e12148) Àngels Salvador Verges, Luis Fernández-Luque, Meltem Yildirim, Bertran Salvador-Mata, Francesc Garcia Cuyàs	71
The Impact of Aging and Hand Dominance on the Passive Wrist Stiffness of Squash Players: Pilot Study (e11670)	
Taya Hamilton, Stan Durand, Hermano Krebs	82
Determining the Accuracy of Oculus Touch Controllers for Motor Rehabilitation Applications Using Quantifiable Upper Limb Kinematics: Validation Study (e12291)	
Leia Shum, Bulmaro Valdés, HF Van der Loos	92



# **Review**

# Factors That Contribute to the Use of Stroke Self-Rehabilitation Technologies: A Review

Ioannis Vourganas<sup>1\*</sup>, BEng, MSc; Vladimir Stankovic<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD; Lina Stankovic<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD; Andrew Kerr<sup>2\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Electronic and Electrical Engineering, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, United Kingdom

<sup>2</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, United Kingdom

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

# **Corresponding Author:**

Ioannis Vourganas, BEng, MSc Department of Electronic and Electrical Engineering University of Strathclyde Royal College Building, 204 George St Glasgow, G1 1XW United Kingdom Phone: 44 141 548 2679 Email: <u>ioannis.vourganas@strath.ac.uk</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Stroke is increasingly one of the main causes of impairment and disability. Contextual and empirical evidence demonstrate that, mainly due to service delivery constraints, but also due to a move toward personalized health care in the comfort of patients' homes, more stroke survivors undergo rehabilitation at home with minimal or no supervision. Due to this trend toward telerehabilitation, systems for stroke patient self-rehabilitation have become increasingly popular, with many solutions recently proposed based on technological advances in sensing, machine learning, and visualization. However, by targeting generic patient profiles, these systems often do not provide adequate rehabilitation service, as they are not tailored to specific patients' needs.

**Objective:** Our objective was to review state-of-the-art home rehabilitation systems and discuss their effectiveness from a patient-centric perspective. We aimed to analyze engagement enhancement of self-rehabilitation systems, as well as motivation, to identify the challenges in technology uptake.

**Methods:** We performed a systematic literature search with 307,550 results. Then, through a narrative review, we selected 96 sources of existing home rehabilitation systems and we conducted a critical analysis. Based on the critical analysis, we formulated new criteria to be used when designing future solutions, addressing the need for increased patient involvement and individualism. We categorized the criteria based on (1) motivation, (2) acceptance, and (3) technological aspects affecting the incorporation of the technology in practice. We categorized all reviewed systems based on whether they successfully met each of the proposed criteria.

**Results:** The criteria we identified were nonintrusive, nonwearable, motivation and engagement enhancing, individualized, supporting daily activities, cost-effective, simple, and transferable. We also examined the motivation method, suitability for elderly patients, and intended use as supplementary criteria. Through the detailed literature review and comparative analysis, we found no system reported in the literature that addressed all the set criteria. Most systems successfully addressed a subset of the criteria, but none successfully addressed all set goals of the ideal self-rehabilitation system for home use.

**Conclusions:** We identified a gap in the state-of-the-art in telerehabilitation and propose a set of criteria for a novel patient-centric system to enhance patient engagement and motivation and deliver better self-rehabilitation commitment.

# (JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e13732) doi:10.2196/13732

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

home rehabilitation systems; stroke rehabilitation; telerehabilitation; patient participation; motivation; comparative effectiveness research

# Introduction

# Background

Stroke has become a global problem [1]. One new case is reported every 2 seconds, and the number of stroke patients is predicted to increase by 59% over the next 20 years [2]. In the United Kingdom alone, more than 100,000 stroke cases are reported annually [1], with impairment or disability affecting two-thirds of the 1.2 million stroke survivors [1]. In the United Kingdom, only 77% of stroke survivors are taken directly to the stroke unit. Due to the high number of patients, in England, for example, the social care costs are almost £1.7 billion per annum. The social care cost varies with the age of the patient: the older the patient, the higher the cost. The cost for a person who has had a stroke was reported in 2017 to be around £22,000 per annum. Thus, cost is one of the main drives for service delivery practices. In that respect, early discharge units have been used due to better outcomes and greater success on rehabilitation. Early discharge units consist of specialized personnel who offer an intensive rehabilitation program to the patient. However, after this intensive program of relatively short duration, the patient is discharged and continues the rehabilitation at home. This is expected to reduce costs by £1600 over 5 years for every patient, according to a 2017 report [1].

Due to increasing pressure to discharge patients early from hospital [3], they rely increasingly on home rehabilitation to improve their condition after discharge. As a result, the need has been increasing for home rehabilitation systems that are not dependent on specialist or clinician operators [1,4,5] while providing service similar to a clinical environment. Technological advances in home rehabilitation have been mainly focused on motor control impairments due to their prevalence in the patient population (85% worldwide [1]).

Rehabilitation in a home environment can prove more efficient than that in a clinical environment, as the home environment supports patient empowerment through self-efficacy [6,7]. The presence of supportive family members and a familiarity with the space are significant contributors to motivation. Additionally, rehabilitation in cooperation or in competition with family members demonstrates higher level of engagement [8].

Though rehabilitation in the comfort of a patient's home seems an attractive option, home environments have limitations that can affect the use of clinical devices. The most prevalent limitations are related to space and the lack of qualified personnel to operate devices. The number of occupants; the patient's mobility, individual personality, and mood disorders following stroke; and sound insulation, home modification requirements, and cost [9,10] also contribute to limitations of home rehabilitation. Finally, different age groups react differently to technology and devices; for example, elderly survivors often do not engage with wearable devices or video games [11]. As a result, stroke rehabilitation requires a person-centric approach that is suitable for the home environment and that does not require infrastructure change in the home.

# **Enhancing Motivation**

The success of stroke rehabilitation depends heavily on personal commitment and effort. Recent studies, for example, on applied psychology in behavior change theories for stroke rehabilitation [12-14], do support that the self-esteem of the patient is limited after stroke. In addition, there is an extended sedentary period due to disability and, thus, different programs of activities are set to motivate the patients. Thus, the patient's motivation and engagement have a critical impact on the success of any routine that is to be encouraged [15]. This is especially critical for devices used at home, since patients are usually interacting with them alone without frequent checks. Indeed, if a device does not provide a high level of engagement or motivation enhancement, it is more likely to be abandoned within 90 days [16]. Motivation levels depend on the individual, their achievements, and their needs at each given point in time. For example, once the patients achieve their physiotherapy exercise targets, they lose motivation for further practice. There are 3 main approaches to enhancing patients' motivation: (1) goal-setting theory, (2) self-efficacy improvement theory, and (3) possible selves theory.

# **Goal-Setting Theory**

This approach has been proved effective for stroke survivors. According to the goal-setting theory, the patient's motivation can be increased through setting small goals or targets. These need to be realistic, manageable, and well defined for the individual patient. However, they also need to be sufficiently challenging for the patient to be engaged [15,17-19]. Figure 1 presents the main components contributing to motivation enhancement based on the goal-setting theory.





# Self-Efficacy Improvement Theory

Self-efficacy is the individual's ability to appreciate his or her capability to execute a set of actions to manage a situation or challenge [20]. According to this theory, self-efficacy makes patients feel more empowered and more comfortable to overcome difficulties. In the case of rehabilitation, this has been strongly linked with self-confidence in executing activities of

Figure 2. Factors that contribute to self-efficacy enhancement.

daily living (ADL) [21,22] and with better future performance [23,24]. Figure 2 presents the main components contributing to self-efficacy improvement. Completing achievable goals supports mastery and allows engagement with more complex goals. The observation of others provides a vicarious experience, which supports enhanced confidence. Verbal appraisal provides the courage to tackle more difficult goals, while physiological feedback supports the will to improve.



# Possible Selves Theory

The third theory focuses the patient's motivation on achieving a positive future image of themselves [25]. This approach is based on the patient's psychological condition and their ability to envisage a positive future and a successful recovery. When implemented successfully, this approach creates an optimistic environment leading to better engagement with rehabilitation and faster recovery. However, creating a pessimistic environment can have a negative impact.

# **Factors Affecting Motivation**

Regardless of the approach implemented, several factors affect motivation positively (Figure 3) or negatively (Figure 4). The main contributor to a positive motivation effect is the information available to the patient. This includes acknowledgment of the condition, control of one's actions, achievement of goals, individualized care, overcoming an uncertain psychological condition, and receiving timely feedback [15,23,26]. Motivational feedback can be oral or visual. Also, receiving performance feedback is instrumental in maintaining motivation and engagement. Finally, self-selecting goals and having personal control is a major contributor. Negative factors usually arise from the patient's environment and, thus, care needs to be adapted to these environmental aspects to minimize their impact [27,28].

Additionally, constructive, supportive, and competitive motivational activities, such as specially designed games, can further enhance motivation and engagement with the required rehabilitation activity [8,22].

Based on the above approaches, motivation levels can be increased and engagement maintained at a high level. This is particularly important for home rehabilitation, as it reduces the requirement for caregiver engagement and provides greater control and independence to the patient. Thus, home rehabilitation has a direct impact on the cost of care and the requirement for physiotherapist visits.

Moreover, patients who have an increased capacity to perform daily activities are less dependent on other family members or care providers. This personal improvement in daily activities turns the home environment into a positive contributor to rehabilitation and recovery.



Figure 3. Factors that enhance motivation.



# **Objectives**

We aimed to examine the state-of-the-art in home rehabilitation systems and to assess their suitability and functionality from a patient engagement perspective. Although several review (narrative and systematic) articles have been published on rehabilitation technologies focused on particular areas of the taxonomy (eg, wearable sensor systems review [21] and robotic systems review [29]), to our knowledge, no extensive narrative review of existing home-based rehabilitation technologies to identify criteria for designing future solutions has been done.

Our goal was to make the following contributions: (1) extend the state-of-the-art in assessment of home-based rehabilitation by combining research from 3 research domains: motivation enhancement as part of patient psychology, home rehabilitation technologies, and monitoring technologies through an interdisciplinary approach; (2) provide an in-depth narrative

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13732/
```

RenderX

review of home rehabilitation systems that addresses both information and communication technologies and mechanical engineering solutions; (3) develop a patient motivation and engagement analysis of the reviewed technologies; and (4) identify a list of comparative criteria and successful device requirements to address patient motivation and engagement designed based on research findings from all 3 research domains.

# Methods

We selected a list of articles and references for review of home rehabilitation systems and monitoring systems to be included in the comparative analysis. The data sources used to search for items to be included in this review were the following databases of academic references, journals with a particular focus on stroke rehabilitation, and web sources: (1) PubMed, (2) Elsevier, (3) IEEE, (4) Springer, (5) Hindawi.com, (6) *Journal of* 

*NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, (7) websites of stroke-related institutions and foundations presenting articles on rehabilitation found through a generic Google search, and (8) Google Scholar (including ResearchGate).

The search criteria included the following keywords and combinations thereof: stroke; devices for stroke rehabilitation; home rehabilitation; rehabilitation engagement; rehabilitation motivation; stroke rehabilitation; telerehabilitation; smart meter; pattern recognition; kinematic analysis; robotic systems; exoskeleton systems; virtual reality; games; mobile applications; individualization; gait analysis; upper limb rehabilitation; balance rehabilitation and/or training.

As the above combination of data sources and keywords returned a vast amount of results, we selected the following inclusion criteria to identify the most relevant sources. (1) Language: English. (2) Date range: within the past 20 years (1996-2018). The majority of articles were published within the past 5 years to reflect the state-of-the-art (since 2014). Older references were made to technologies that substantially shaped the future direction of home rehabilitation systems. (3) Relevance: home or self-rehabilitation was necessary.

# Results

# Literature Search

The literature search returned a total of 307,550 results after the inclusion criteria were applied as presented in Table 1.

We used the following exclusion criteria to identify the most relevant sources and reduce the number of literature search results: (1) no relevance to stroke rehabilitation in the home environment, (2) trained personnel required to operate the technology; (3) medication or other clinical intervention required, (4) no report of engagement or motivation as a result of using the technology or other form of patient feedback, (5) no description of the technology, (6) no report of usability especially for older people, and (7) no additional contribution to the review findings compared with the previously reviewed articles.

Overall, we read 420 sources, as we excluded the majority by reading the abstracts. A total of 96 sources remained for analysis after meeting the inclusion criteria and having not been eliminated through the exclusion process.

Table 1. Results of the literature search before and after inclusion criteria were applied.

Торіс	Results of topic search	Results after inclusion criteria
Devices for stroke rehabilitation	325,000	6800
Home rehabilitation	1,150,000	36,200
Rehabilitation engagement	651,000	17,100
Rehabilitation motivation	128,000	17,300
Stroke rehabilitation	1,640,000	45,800
Stroke; telerehabilitation	8180	3110
Smart meter; pattern recognition	83,200	18,100
Stroke; kinematic analysis	105,000	15,700
Stroke rehabilitation; robotic systems	43,700	16,900
Stroke rehabilitation; exoskeleton systems	15,300	4440
Stroke rehabilitation; virtual reality	41,000	14,100
Stroke rehabilitation; games	47,100	16,900
Stroke rehabilitation; mobile applications	46,500	17,400
Stroke rehabilitation; individualized systems	35,800	17,300
Stroke rehabilitation; gait analysis	112,000	16,000
Stroke; upper limb rehabilitation	138,000	17,200
Stroke; balance rehabilitation	398,000	15,600
Stroke; balance training	799,000	11,600
Total literature search results	5,766,780	307,550

# **Home Rehabilitation Systems**

# Overview

RenderX

To perform a systematic and comprehensive review, we in proposed a taxonomy of rehabilitation systems, presented in in Figure 5, based on the type of technology presented in the (a)

http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13732/

reviewed articles. We obtained the taxonomy on the basis of the therapeutic effect in combination with sensing technology.

Home rehabilitation mainly focuses on motor control impairments due to minimal or no clinical and medical intervention [30,31]. On the other hand, most clinical systems (see left-hand side of Figure 5) have dependencies and are difficult to implement at home. Therapy that requires either

clinical or specialist personnel to assist in execution includes transcranial magnetic stimulation and transcranial direct current stimulation [32], regeneration of neural tissue stem cell therapy [33], and mirror therapy [34,35]. Similarly, treatment of aphasia and cognitive impairments is predominantly within a clinical environment or through specialist intervention [31,36]. As a result, these approaches would require regular home visits or would be impossible to perform away from the clinical environment.

The right-hand side of Figure 5 shows a variety of methods and approaches developed to support home rehabilitation focusing on locomotor training. They differ based on the individual's situation and disabilities [37].

Locomotor training [31,38-42] can be implemented through various methods. One approach is through the use of *exoskeleton devices* [43,44] for gait [45,46] or upper limb [47,48] training. Most large exoskeleton devices reduce clinic personnel costs [49-54] but are inappropriate for home use [55,56]. Some devices in this category have started to have feedback mechanisms incorporated, such as that described by Baran et al [5]. However, these are still very expensive systems requiring a caregiver to guide and support training. Thus, we did not review these systems.

*Biofeedback electromyography* is based on feedback systems [57,58]. Though mainly designed for clinical use, some devices using this approach have been designed for home use, such as Biomove [59]. However, the disadvantage of this method [59] is the use of wearable equipment, which is not suitable for all patients and particularly the for the elderly [11].

The same challenge is faced by *wearable body sensor network systems* [60]. Additionally, observation by expert or clinical personnel is often needed and, thus, we did not investigate these 2 categories further in this review.

Another approach is to use cameras or wearable sensors for *motion* or *kinematic analysis* [60-63]. Cameras and wearables, however, are considered too intrusive for home use by many patients and individuals [11]. Many applications of cameras and wearables in home rehabilitation systems exist; thus, we reviewed these in detail.

*Robotic systems* have been heavily investigated [64-71] for home use. However, they face the same challenges of high complexity and cost. This includes systems such as low-cost resistive elements training [72]. However, these systems still do not avoid the requirement for supervision of the exercise. We reviewed systems in this category to identify their ability to enhance motivation and patient engagement.

Figure 5. Taxonomy of rehabilitation systems for stroke patients. VR: virtual reality; tDCS: transcranial direct current stimulation; TMS: transcranial magnetic stimulation; WBSN: wearable body sensor network systems.





Another area of research interest is the virtual reality and *video* game domain [3,73-84]. Although this is a promising area for home rehabilitation, there are still many challenges. The games are not individualized to the patients' needs; hence, patients lose motivation easily and are not engaged with the activities they need to perform [4,8,15,85]. In particular, elderly patients demonstrate very low engagement with this technology [11]. This category can be expanded to include balance measurement [86], cell phone balance training [87], and even a music glove, which motivates patients with the help of music [88]. We further analyzed systems in this category.

We critically evaluated home-based rehabilitation technologies with a focus on patient engagement as the widely recognized key indicator of success of rehabilitation systems in the reviewed articles. In contrast with *usability*, which is a measure preferred in human-computer interaction studies, *engagement* is not the singular measure of the usability of an interface, but rather of the perpetual retention of the user's interest over a prolonged period of time as defined by Peters et al [14]. Engagement can be the effect of a successful human-computer interaction design in combination with the psychological motivation of stroke survivors for rehabilitation [14]. Based on the literature, engagement is more likely when the feedback is sufficient and well understood by the patient, and the system, apparatus, or device is easy and convenient to use without employing intrusive means and without complex requirements from the user [89].

# Kinematic Analysis at Home

In their presentation of a representative example of kinematic analysis systems, Baran et al [5] proposed a home rehabilitation system for upper limb recovery after stroke. They used a specially designed desk and chair to monitor the patient's movement through sensors and cameras. Other examples of kinematic analysis used cameras for upper limb [61] and gait analysis [62,63]. The methods were based either on an expensive camera, to accurately capture fast motion [61,63], or on a laptop and Microsoft Kinect camera sensor, depth image processing, and machine learning [62], to extract the motion patterns, which is relatively difficult to set up and operate.

Wang et al presented another approach for kinematic analysis without the use of cameras. Instead, they proposed a wireless wearable body sensor network system with inertia sensors (accelerometers, gyroscopes, and magnetometers), implemented with 2 wearable sensors per arm to support upper limb rehabilitation. However, the study had several limitations, including the misrepresentation of the Brunnstrom method [90,91] and the lack of feedback provided to the patient.

Kinematic analysis systems rarely provided individualized feedback to the patient. They relied on wearable components or cameras and were of relatively high complexity, making them outside the scope of our review. These are disadvantages, as they contradict the motivation and engagement requirements identified above (see Enhancing Motivation).

#### Robotic Systems at Home

Robotic systems in this domain have been extensively researched. Zhang et al [64] described an exoskeleton device that they claimed was lighter than similar technologies, to

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13732/
```

support upper limb rehabilitation. However, the device did not provide feedback to the patient, which would render home rehabilitation impossible. The device was focused on receiving and acting on signals from the patient to increase the task's difficulty. But it did not demonstrate to the patient any positive or negative changes to their rehabilitation exercise.

Similarly, Amirabdollahian et al [65] focused on finger and wrist rehabilitation through a robotic system combined with a computer game to enhance motivation. Additionally, this system incorporated feedback to the health care professional caring for the patient. Nevertheless, the same issues as with wearable components, increased complexity and not being individualized to the needs of the patient, appeared in this device. Nijenhuis et al [83] presented an extension of this work, where individualization and bilateral training were used to enhance motivation. However, this approach still used wearable technology.

Mohamaddan et al [67] addressed ADL, but their device did not provide feedback or keep the patient engaged. The device did not have progressively more difficult or easier exercises to support different stages of the recovery process.

Kohler et al [72] used a simpler approach by combining resistive elements with goal-oriented training. However, the recorded data was presented to the patient in the form of a sinusoidal graph, which is often not understandable information for the patient [92]. Extending research in this direction, Nimmy and Hepsiba [93] provided individualized exercises based on patient monitoring and also provided feedback and comparison with reference exercises. However, the resistive elements used constricted the device's applicability.

Systems in this category demonstrated disadvantages similar to those of kinematic analysis systems. Robotic systems included wearable components, were highly complex, and when feedback was provided it was complicated and not tailored to the individual. These systems lacked engagement and motivation, especially when used by the elderly.

#### Video Games and Virtual Reality at Home

Some work on demonstrating engagement has been reported for video games and virtual reality approaches. Yano et al [66] presented a system for gait rehabilitation based on body balance training. The device supported slope and stair climbing training. The software received angle positioning data to determine position, but this feedback was not tailored to the patient. Thus, supervised rehabilitation was needed, and engagement was not supported. Similarly, González et al [86] combined balance training with a game environment through Nintendo Wii and Microsoft Kinect platforms. However, they did not investigate engagement with this platform, particularly for the elderly population.

Sivan et al [70] reported on a platform for upper limb rehabilitation in which the patient interacted with a leg support and a joystick and was offered 8 different games. The game became progressively more difficult. However, there was no detailed feedback to the patient when his or her actions did not fully meet the requirements of the game. Additionally, the presence of other people in the home during the game was not

XSL•FO RenderX

taken into account. The device was difficult to set up. Slijper et al [77] took a similar approach and extended their work to cover bilateral training to enhance engagement. This system supported individualization and feedback, but it was unclear how this system supported ADL.

Johnson et al [71] proposed a software system offering different tasks for upper limb rehabilitation, with extensive feedback, focusing on increasing engagement through individualization of therapy and including bilateral and unilateral therapy. However, the system had several components and used a game environment, which can lead to aversion to the rehabilitation process. Along the same lines, Gorsic and Novak [8] aimed to increase engagement and motivation through the use of competitive or cooperative gaming. However, the game was not individualized to support all users (patients and healthy users).

Friedman et al [88] used a different approach where the focus was on gamification of the patient music experience for motivation enhancement. The device also combined visual feedback through light-emitting diodes installed in the wearable musical glove. However, the study raised the well-known issue of elderly patients reacting negatively to wearable devices. Also, the device was not individualized to support different patient needs.

Wittmann et al [76] harnessed the concept of gradually increasing difficulty to support motivation, through a virtual reality system targeting upper limb rehabilitation and use of several wearable components. The patient's motion was continuously monitored and assessed to calibrate the device and to set tailored goals.

Saposnik et al [3] developed a game as an iPad app that did not use wearable technology. However, the app had several limitations for a variety of patients to engage with this game (eg, age, familiarity, mobility, capacity to hold the device) and provided no explicit feedback to the patient.

Some evidence of motivation or engagement was provided for systems in this category. Some approaches also focused on individualization. However, the main disadvantage was the lack of incorporation into daily activities. Furthermore, the elderly were less engaged and motivation could be hindered, as the benefit in daily life was not directly perceived. Finally, the use of wearable devices or tools was a common trend in these systems.

# **Monitoring and Home Rehabilitation**

Some rehabilitation technologies required renovation and other modifications in the patient's home [9,10,16]. Other challenges for the successful deployment and engagement with home assistive rehabilitation technologies were design and technical limitations [43], and many systems did not meet the acceptance and motivation criteria as reviewed above. Indeed, retrofitting infrastructure in existing homes can be significantly more challenging than designing a smart home that will already be equipped with embedded technology. To avoid these issues, research has mostly focused on smart home environment or monitoring devices that stand alone and do not require redesign of the home [94]. Such systems mostly focus on monitoring

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13732/
```

XSL•FO

generic parameters and provide individualization through pattern recognition algorithms, but do not contribute to rehabilitation activities. Hence, monitoring systems can be tailored to the individual home environment [95-101] and to study individual patterns. To support rehabilitation, their scope would need to be altered to encompass rehabilitation goals, and patient motivation and engagement, while at the same time being transferable (supporting different application domains).

Systems for smart home environments have been proposed for various health-related applications [11,94-101]. They usually require extensive installation of sensors in several locations such as doors, windows, electrical appliances, and furniture. Monitoring devices can provide increasing understanding of the home environment, and of the patient and their condition; they can even provide a diagnosis. Such systems might be more appropriate to support rehabilitation based on performance of daily activities [21,22].

Research in this area has focused on machine learning for information extraction based on recorded data streams [11,94-101]. However, other challenges are introduced when such devices are used, including data security, data correctness, and device operational efficacy [22,101]. Cavallo et al [102] presented an example of such a system targeting rehabilitation. The system provided monitoring and remote supervision, but did not actively support rehabilitation. Some monitoring systems focused on specialist support [102] and behavior analysis [22]. Thus, rehabilitation, motivation, and engagement are outside the scope of these systems (leading to low scores in motivation).

According to Fell et al [22], there is a need for new monitoring devices that incorporate different sensors or input data streams. Figure 6 presents the additional information that can be used to support patient rehabilitation at home. The environment must be monitored and any deviation from the "normal" behavior must be identified. Changes in Figure 6 refer to identification of unexpected behavior, events, or abnormalities identified in the recorded data streams. "Other sensors" refers to the need for data fusion, acquisition of information from multiple sources, and a higher level of information extraction. For example, energy patterns can be identified through active power (smart meter) measurements; appliance use, though, might require other information such as time, temperature, location, and motion. Similarly, a health event may be recorded by a single monitoring parameter (eg, glucose level dropped below a threshold). However, changes in behavior and competence in daily activities require a series of additional measurements (eg, sound, motion, temperature, humidity, gases).

We found a gap in applying monitoring technologies (supported, for example, by machine learning, fusion, or pattern recognition) to rehabilitation that, at the same time, support patients in performing daily activities and enhance motivation. We suggest that, by using these monitoring technologies, *individualization* can be achieved for rehabilitation purposes, via providing appropriate feedback, applying machine learning to the individual patient, and focusing on daily activities, thus meeting the acceptance, motivation, and engagement requirements reviewed above (see Enhancing Motivation).

Figure 6. Monitored qualities for the health and care applications and the need for additional sensor input to monitoring devices [22]. ADLs: activities of daily living.



# **Comparative Analysis**

Tables 2-4 summarize the criteria we selected for the comparative analysis. The methods for selecting the criteria were as follows. For Table 2, we selected these criteria based on the narrative review of motivation and engagement aspects we analyzed (see Enhancing Motivation). For Table 3, we selected these criteria according to commonly used and evaluated metrics in the majority of the reviewed articles. This was additionally informed by the conclusions outlined in the Enhancing Motivation and Home Rehabilitation Systems sections. For Table 4, we selected the criteria to meet other acceptability and economic aspects (including long term

usability and transferability), as well as a separate category for the application area presented in the reviewed articles.

We used the extracted information from the reviewed articles to establish the criteria and to identify whether the criteria were met by the proposed systems. For the engagement and motivation criteria, as well as acceptance, all of the reviewed articles reported results on a common basis; thus, we needed no additional steps to cross-validate the reported results.

Tables 2-4 present a detailed comparative analysis of all the aforementioned technologies that were applicable for use in the home environment. We selected the technologies as representative examples of each category we analyzed.

Table 2. Summative assessment of the reviewed systems for the selection of criteria for the comparative analysis: motivation.

First author, year, reference no.	Motivation met	hod	Engaging	Supports daily activities		
	Cooperative	Supportive	Constructive	General		
Baran, 2011 [5]	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Zhang, 2016 [64]	No	No	No	No	No	No
Yano, 2015 [66]	No	No	No	No	No	No
Mohamaddan, 2015 [67]	No	No	No	No	No	No
Sivan, 2014 [70]	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Johnson, 2007 [71]	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes
González, 2015 [86]	No	No	No	No	No	No
Wang, 2017 [60]	No	No	No	No	No	No
Kohler, 2010 [72]	No	No	No	No	No	No
Friedman, 2011 [88]	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes
Nimmy, 2013 [93]	No	No	No	No	No	No
Wittmann, 2015 [76]	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Slijper, 2014 [77]	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Nijenhuis, 2015 [83]	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Saposnik, 2014 [3]	No	No	No	No	No	No
Gorsic, 2016 [8]	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Fell, 2017 [22]	No	No	No	No	No	No
Cavallo, 2009 [102]	No	No	No	No	No	No



	Table 3.	Summative	assessment of	of the re	viewed	systems	for the	selection (	of criteria	for th	e compa	arative	analy	sis: ad	cceptan	ce
--	----------	-----------	---------------	-----------	--------	---------	---------	-------------	-------------	--------	---------	---------	-------	---------	---------	----

First author, year, reference no.	Individualized	Suitable for the elderly	Nonwearable	Nonintrusive
Baran, 2011 [5]	No	No	No	No
Zhang, 2016 [64]	No	No	No	Yes
Yano, 2015 [66]	No	Yes	No	Yes
Mohamaddan, 2015 [67]	No	Yes	No	Yes
Sivan, 2014 [70]	No	No	No	No
Johnson, 2007 [71]	Yes	No	No	Yes
González, 2015 [86]	No	Yes	No	Yes
Wang, 2017 [60]	No	No	No	Yes
Kohler, 2010 [72]	No	Yes	No	Yes
Friedman, 2011 [88]	No	Yes	No	Yes
Nimmy, 2013 [93]	No	Yes	No	Yes
Wittmann, 2015 [76]	No	No	No	Yes
Slijper, 2014 [77]	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Nijenhuis, 2015 [83]	No	No	No	Yes
Saposnik, 2014 [3]	No	No	Yes	Yes
Gorsic, 2016 [8]	No	Yes	No	Yes
Fell, 2017 [22]	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Cavallo, 2009 [102]	Yes	Yes	No	No

Table 4. Summative assessment of the reviewed systems for the selection of criteria for the comparative analysis: technological aspects.

First author, year, reference no.	Intended use			Cost-effective	Technologically simple	Transferable
	Monitoring	Rehabilitation	Diagnosis			
Baran, 2011 [5]	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
Zhang, 2016 [64]	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
Yano, 2015 [66]	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No
Mohamaddan, 2015 [67]	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No
Sivan, 2014 [70]	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
Johnson, 2007 [71]	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
González, 2015 [86]	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No
Wang, 2017 [60]	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No
Kohler, 2010 [72]	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No
Friedman, 2011 [88]	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No
Nimmy, 2013 [93]	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No
Wittmann, 2015 [76]	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
Slijper, 2014 [77]	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No
Nijenhuis, 2015 [83]	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
Saposnik, 2014 [3]	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No
Gorsic, 2016 [8]	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
Fell, 2017 [22]	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Cavallo, 2009 [102]	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	Yes

Our analysis identified 3 aspects of technologies that we used for comparison: (1) motivation, (2) acceptance of technology, and (3) technological aspects. We selected these aspects for their importance in supporting patients' motivation and

XSL•FO RenderX

engagement (motivation) and in being incorporated into patients' rehabilitation routines (acceptance, technology).

For each aspect, we identified several comparison criteria. Regarding motivation, the criteria are (1) the motivation method used, (2) the patient's engagement with the technology, and (3) whether the technology supports daily activities as an additional measure of motivation. There are 3 motivation methods: cooperative, supportive, and constructive. When the method used in a technology was not specified, we characterized it as general. With respect to acceptance, the criteria are (1) individualization of the device to meet patients' needs, (2) suitability of the device for *elderly patients*, (3) the use of wearable components, and (4) the use of intrusive monitoring methods (eg, wearable sensors, on-body sensors, cameras, microphones). Wearable and intrusive methods have a negative impact on acceptance. Technological aspects are (1) intended use for the technology (monitoring, rehabilitation, diagnosis), (2) cost, (3) complexity, and (4) transferability to other domains.

Regarding intended use, besides our focus of rehabilitation, we also included 2 systems that perform monitoring and diagnostics.

"Yes" in the table highlights that the system met the criteria, which was demonstrated in the published work, subject to our interpretation. "No" indicates that the system did not meet the criteria.

We assessed a system to be individualized or personalized or person centric when it learned or adapted to the needs of a particular patient by incorporating some type of feedback loop mechanism where the device adjusted the requested task(s) to the ability of the patient. Examples of such mechanisms are machine learning approaches and increasing task difficulty. We assessed suitability for the elderly based on Debes et al [11]. We classified nonwearable (on-body sensors, wearable components) and nonintrusive (cameras, microphones) systems according to the system inputs that were used. The intended use of the system can be for rehabilitation, smart home monitoring, or smart home diagnosis of a health condition.

In the analysis, we considered systems that could be purchased by an average household in the United Kingdom to be cost-effective. We considered systems that would require a high capital investment, and thus reimbursement from the health care provider, to be not cost-effective. We considered technologically complex systems to be those that had a significant number of components, required significant training before use, or required extensive installation to be usable in a household. Finally, transferable systems were those that could be used for other rehabilitation purposes and were not restricted to stroke rehabilitation.

As the tables show, no technology met all the selected criteria. Most of the technologies were suitable for the elderly and were nonintrusive. However, most technologies lacked motivation and engagement enhancement through the use of a variety of motivation methods. The developed approaches were technology centric, whereas a person-centric approach is necessary to keep patients engaged and motivated in achieving their rehabilitation goals. Several devices claimed to enhance motivation but produced little or no evidence of patient engagement

http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13732/

[5,8,70,71,74,75,81,86]. None of the devices intended for rehabilitation were transferable to other uses. Devices intended for monitoring or diagnosis had the desired transferability features [22,102]. Only 1 of the reviewed technologies proposed for rehabilitation supported individualization [71]; however, it did not meet the requirements for elderly patients and it used wearable components. On the other hand, individualization was supported by monitoring devices that were not intended for rehabilitation use [22,100]. Several technologies we reviewed were inappropriate for home rehabilitation, as they were technologically complex and expensive.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

The first rows of Tables 2-4 list all the selected criteria, drawn from our extensive literature review, that must be met for a home rehabilitation system to be engaging and enable stroke recovery patients to meet their progressively ambitious goals or targets. Based on the above analysis, an ideal home rehabilitation device should meet all the identified criteria and requirements. The device needs to avoid wearable or intrusive components. It needs to support enhanced motivation and engagement by being incorporated into the daily activity routine. It must be cost-effective and not complex to install, maintain, and use. It needs to support the needs of all patients, regardless of age and background. Moreover, it needs to be portable and transferable to other domains.

The successful design of an assistive technology or rehabilitation device should take under consideration what the individual should and can achieve during rehabilitation [16]. Quantification and further analysis of the present and future conditions of the patient could overcome difficulties and unforeseen circumstances and could result in better assistive technology design.

Data and patterns from electronic databases are quite important to tailor rehabilitation, as the device can learn patients requirements and goals, adapt to their individual needs, and provide suitable challenges, for example, through machine learning. Individual choice and personal control are mandatory for success (see Monitoring and Home Rehabilitation). Technology design has to follow a person-centric approach considering technology ability levels. Given the developments in smart devices, algorithms, and information extraction, devices can adopt a person-centric approach while meeting the requirements for cost and complexity.

Contributions from the patient's environment can be used to enhance motivation and engagement with the activity. Members of the family or others can provide a competitive or cooperative stimulation. Additionally, rehabilitation incorporated into the completion of daily activities could enhance motivation. Finally, the continuous adjustment of the technology or device to the patient's changing requirements has a more beneficial effect. The device should adapt to increased levels of difficulty to provide stimulation for achieving higher targets.

Thus, a system catering to every occasion, individualized and adapted to support the patient's daily activities in their home

XSL•FO RenderX

environment, has a higher potential for successful acceptance and engagement. This system should incorporate a device, hardware, and additional software. However, developing such a system for the full range of impairments and rehabilitation tasks is an unrealistic goal. This is due to the requirement for different types of inputs for each condition, the range of rehabilitation goals, the differences between patients, and the differences between home environments. Hence, the successful system should focus on supporting specific daily activities that have measurable outcomes specified in recognized health care rehabilitation tests (see Comparative Analysis).

# Conclusion

We reviewed rehabilitation devices for stroke patients in detail. The focus was on systems that are intended for use within the home environment for self-rehabilitation routines. We reviewed several technology domains under the criteria of motivation and engagement enhancement for continued use without the need for clinical or specialist involvement. We demonstrated that the existing approaches do not meet all the criteria in the motivation, acceptance, and technological categories. However, there is evidence that some devices proposed for monitoring instead of rehabilitation might provide solutions to individualization and thus wider engagement and acceptance. We identified the criteria for a device and system that will provide the required level of self-rehabilitation commitment as nonintrusive, nonwearable, motivation and engagement enhancing through a list of motivation methods, individualized, supporting daily activities, suitable for the elderly, cost-effective, simple, transferable, and intended for use in rehabilitation.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- 1. Stroke Association. State of the nation: stroke statistics January 2017. London, UK: The Association; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.stroke.org.uk/sites/default/files/state\_of\_the\_nation\_2017\_final\_1.pdf</u>
- 2. Stroke Association. State of the nation: stroke statistics February 2018. London, UK: The Association; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.stroke.org.uk/system/files/sotn\_2018.pdf</u>
- 3. Saposnik G, Chow C, Gladstone D, Cheung D, Brawer E, Thorpe KE, iHOME Research Team for the Stroke Outcomes Research Canada Working Group. iPad technology for home rehabilitation after stroke (iHOME): a proof-of-concept randomized trial. Int J Stroke 2014 Oct;9(7):956-962. [doi: 10.1111/ijs.12328] [Medline: 25042159]
- 4. Balaam M, Egglestone S, Fitzpatrick G, Rodden T, Hughes A, Wilkinson A, et al. Motivating mobility: designing for lived motivation in stroke rehabilitation. New York, NY: ACM Press; 2011 Presented at: 29th Annual Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 7-12 2011; Vancouver, BC, Canada p. 3073-3082.
- 5. Baran M, Lehrer N, Siwiak D, Chen Y, Duff M, Ingalls T, et al. Design of a home-based adaptive mixed reality rehabilitation system for stroke survivors. 2011 Presented at: 33rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society; Aug 30-Sep 3, 2011; Boston, MA, USA p. 7602-7605.
- Chaiyawat P, Kulkantrakorn K, Sritipsukho P. Effectiveness of home rehabilitation for ischemic stroke. Neurol Int 2009 Nov 16;1(1):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/ni.2009.e10] [Medline: 21577347]
- Murray J. 2018 UCI study shows in-home therapy effective for stroke rehabilitation. Orange, CA: UCI Health; 2018 May 24. URL: <u>http://www.ucihealth.org/news/2018/05/uci-stroke-therapy-study</u> [accessed 2019-06-04] [WebCite Cache ID 78sj8zuaM]
- 8. Gorsic M, Novak D. Design and pilot evaluation of competitive and cooperative exercise games for arm rehabilitation at home. 2016 Presented at: 38th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in MedicineBiology Society; Aug 16-20, 2016; Orlando, FL, USA p. 4690-4694.
- Langhorne P, Bernhardt J, Kwakkel G. Stroke rehabilitation. Lancet 2011 May 14;377(9778):1693-1702. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60325-5] [Medline: 21571152]
- 10. World Health Organization. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2017.
- 11. Debes C, Merentitis A, Sukhanov S, Niessen M, Frangiadakis N, Bauer A. Monitoring activities of daily living in smart homes: understanding human behavior. IEEE Signal Process Mag 2016 Mar;33(2):81-94. [doi: 10.1109/MSP.2015.2503881]
- Connell LA, McMahon NE, Redfern J, Watkins CL, Eng JJ. Development of a behaviour change intervention to increase upper limb exercise in stroke rehabilitation. Implement Sci 2015 Mar 12;10:34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-015-0223-3] [Medline: 25885251]
- 13. Ezeugwu VE, Manns PJ. Using intervention mapping to develop and implement a home-based sedentary behavior change intervention after stroke. Transl Behav Med 2018 Dec 19. [doi: <u>10.1093/tbm/iby128</u>] [Medline: <u>30566661</u>]
- Peters D, Calvo RA, Ryan RM. Designing for motivation, engagement and wellbeing in digital experience. Front Psychol 2018;9:797 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00797] [Medline: 29892246]
- 15. Pickrell M, Bongers B, van den Hoven E. Understanding persuasion and motivation in interactive stroke rehabilitation. In: MacTavish T, Basapur S, editors. Persuasive Technology. Cham, Switzerland: Springer Nature Switzerland AG; 2015:15-26.

- 16. Szeto A. Rehabilitation engineering and assistive technology. In: Enderle JD, Blanchard SM, Bronzino JD, editors. Introduction to Biomedical Engineering. Second edition. Boston, MA: Academic Press; 2005:211-254.
- 17. Sugavanam T, Mead G, Bulley C, Donaghy M, van Wijck F. The effects and experiences of goal setting in stroke rehabilitation a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil 2013 Feb;35(3):177-190. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638288.2012.690501</u>] [Medline: <u>22671934</u>]
- Rosewilliam S, Roskell CA, Pandyan A. A systematic review and synthesis of the quantitative and qualitative evidence behind patient-centred goal setting in stroke rehabilitation. Clin Rehabil 2011 Mar 25;25(6):501-514. [doi: 10.1177/0269215510394467]
- 19. Hartigan I. Goal setting in stroke rehabilitation: part 1. Br J Neurosci Nurs 2012 Apr;8(2):65-69. [doi: 10.12968/bjnn.2012.8.2.65]
- 20. Ayers S, Baum A, McManus Stanton Newman C, Wallston K, Weinman J, West R. Cambridge Handbook of Psychology, Health and Medicine. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 2007.
- 21. Patel S, Park H, Bonato P, Chan L, Rodgers M. A review of wearable sensors and systems with application in rehabilitation. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2012;9:21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-9-21] [Medline: 22520559]
- 22. Fell M, Kennard H, Huebner G, Nicolson M, Elam S, Shipworth D. Energising Health: A Review of the Health and Care Applications of Smart Meter Data. London, UK: SMART Energy GB; May 2017.
- 23. Robinson-Smith G, Pizzi ER. Maximizing stroke recovery using patient self-care self-efficacy. Rehabil Nurs 2003;28(2):48-51. [Medline: 12673976]
- 24. Jones F, Riazi A. Self-efficacy and self-management after stroke: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil 2010 Aug 27;33(10):797-810. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2010.511415]
- 25. Guthrie S, Harvey A. Motivation and its influence on outcome in rehabilitation. Rev Clin Gerontol 2008 Nov 17;4(03):235. [doi: 10.1017/S0959259800003865]
- 26. Krebs HI, Volpe B, Hogan N. A working model of stroke recovery from rehabilitation robotics practitioners. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2009 Feb 25;6(1):6. [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-6-6]
- 27. Maclean N, Pound P, Wolfe C, Rudd A. Qualitative analysis of stroke patients' motivation for rehabilitation. BMJ 2000 Oct 28;321(7268):1051-1054. [Medline: <u>11053175</u>]
- 28. Maclean N, Pound P, Wolfe C, Rudd A. The concept of patient motivation: a qualitative analysis of stroke professionals' attitudes. Stroke 2002 Feb;33(2):444-448. [Medline: <u>11823650</u>]
- 29. Pennycott A, Wyss D, Vallery H, Klamroth-Marganska V, Riener R. Towards more effective robotic gait training for stroke rehabilitation: a review. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2012 Sep 07;9:65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-9-65] [Medline: 22953989]
- 30. Lawrence ES, Coshall C, Dundas R, Stewart J, Rudd AG, Howard R, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of acute stroke impairments and disability in a multiethnic population. Stroke 2001 Jun;32(6):1279-1284 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11387487]
- 31. Brewer L, Horgan F, Hickey A, Williams D. Stroke rehabilitation: recent advances and future therapies. QJM 2012 Sep 27;106(1):11-25. [doi: <u>10.1093/qimed/hcs174</u>]
- 32. Webster BR, Celnik PA, Cohen LG. Noninvasive brain stimulation in stroke rehabilitation. NeuroRX 2006 Oct;3(4):474-481. [doi: 10.1016/j.nurx.2006.07.008]
- 33. Moniche F, Escudero I, Zapata E, Mancha F, Vega-Salvatierra Á, Pardo B, et al. Clinical studies of bone marrow-derived stem cell therapy in stroke patients. In: Jin K, Ji X, Zhuge Q, editors. Bone Marrow Stem Cell Therapy for Stroke. Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore; 2017:241-259.
- Invernizzi M, Negrini S, Carda S, Lanzotti L, Cisari C, Baricich A. The value of adding mirror therapy for upper limb motor recovery of subacute stroke patients: a randomized controlled trial. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2013 Jun;49(3):311-317. [Medline: 23480975]
- 35. McDermott A, Kagan A, Harvey-Vaillancourt S, Tavakol S, Moldoveanu D, Cheang P, et al. Stroke Engine. Ottawa, ON: Heart & Stroke Foundation Canadian Partnership for Stroke Recovery; 2018. Mirror therapy – upper extremity URL: <u>https://www.strokengine.ca/en/intervention/mirror-therapy/</u> [accessed 2018-01-16] [WebCite Cache ID 769zMCsmM]
- Brady MC, Kelly H, Godwin J, Enderby P. Speech and language therapy for aphasia following stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 May 16(5):CD000425. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD000425.pub3</u>] [Medline: <u>22592672</u>]
- Timmermans AAA, Seelen HAM, Willmann RD, Kingma H. Technology-assisted training of arm-hand skills in stroke: concepts on reacquisition of motor control and therapist guidelines for rehabilitation technology design. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2009 Jan 20;6:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-6-1] [Medline: 19154570]
- Moore JL, Roth EJ, Killian C, Hornby TG. Locomotor training improves daily stepping activity and gait efficiency in individuals poststroke who have reached a 'plateau' in recovery. Stroke 2010 Jan;41(1):129-135. [doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.563247] [Medline: 19910547]
- Hornby TG, Campbell DD, Kahn JH, Demott T, Moore JL, Roth HR. Enhanced gait-related improvements after therapistversus robotic-assisted locomotor training in subjects with chronic stroke: a randomized controlled study. Stroke 2008 Jun;39(6):1786-1792. [doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.504779] [Medline: 18467648]

- 40. Macko RF, DeSouza CA, Tretter LD, Silver KH, Smith GV, Anderson PA, et al. Treadmill aerobic exercise training reduces the energy expenditure and cardiovascular demands of hemiparetic gait in chronic stroke patients. A preliminary report. Stroke 1997 Feb;28(2):326-330. [Medline: 9040684]
- 41. Barbeau H, Visintin M. Optimal outcomes obtained with body-weight support combined with treadmill training in stroke subjects. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2003 Oct;84(10):1458-1465. [Medline: <u>14586912</u>]
- 42. Schmidt H, Werner C, Bernhardt R, Hesse S, Krüger J. Gait rehabilitation machines based on programmable footplates. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2007 Feb 09;4:2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-4-2] [Medline: 17291335]
- 43. Egglestone SR, Axelrod L, Nind T, Turk R, Wilkinson A. A design framework for a home-based stroke rehabilitation system: identifying the key components. 2009 Presented at: 3rd International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare; Apr 1-3, 2009; London, UK p. 1-8.
- 44. Saini S, Rambli DRA, Sulaiman S, Zakaria MN, Shukri SRM. A low-cost game framework for a home-based stroke rehabilitation system. 2012 Presented at: International Conference on Computer Information Science (ICCIS); Jun 12-14, 2012; Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia p. 55-60.
- 45. Walkbot. San Jose, CA: Exoskeleton Report LLC; 2016 Nov 26. URL: <u>https://exoskeletonreport.com/product/walkbot/</u>[WebCite Cache ID 76A0MkgeD]
- 46. Kim S, Yang L, Park IJ, Kim EJ, JoshuaPark MS, You SH, et al. Effects of innovative WALKBOT robotic-assisted locomotor training on balance and gait recovery in hemiparetic stroke: a prospective, randomized, experimenter blinded case control study with a four-week follow-up. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2015 Jul;23(4):636-642. [doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2015.2404936] [Medline: 25850089]
- 47. Wong CK, Jordan K, King M. Robotic arm skate for stroke rehabilitation. 2011 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics; Jun 27-Jul 1, 2011; Zurich, Switzerland p. 1-6.
- 48. Loureiro RCV, Harwin WS, Lamperd R, Collin C. Evaluation of reach and grasp robot-assisted therapy suggests similar functional recovery patterns on proximal and distal arm segments in sub-acute hemiplegia. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2014 May;22(3):593-602. [doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2013.2265263] [Medline: 23744701]
- 49. Masiero S, Poli P, Rosati G, Zanotto D, Iosa M, Paolucci S, et al. The value of robotic systems in stroke rehabilitation. Expert Rev Med Devices 2014 Mar;11(2):187-198. [doi: <u>10.1586/17434440.2014.882766</u>] [Medline: <u>24479445</u>]
- 50. Koenig A, Omlin X, Bergmann J, Zimmerli L, Bolliger M, Müller F, et al. Controlling patient participation during robot-assisted gait training. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2011 Mar 23;8:14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-8-14] [Medline: 21429200]
- 51. Schabowsky CN, Godfrey SB, Holley RJ, Lum PS. Development and pilot testing of HEXORR: hand EXOskeleton rehabilitation robot. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2010 Jul 28;7:36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-7-36] [Medline: 20667083]
- Secoli R, Milot M, Rosati G, Reinkensmeyer DJ. Effect of visual distraction and auditory feedback on patient effort during robot-assisted movement training after stroke. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2011 Apr 23;8:21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-8-21] [Medline: 21513561]
- Staubli P, Nef T, Klamroth-Marganska V, Riener R. Effects of intensive arm training with the rehabilitation robot ARMin II in chronic stroke patients: four single-cases. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2009 Dec 17;6:46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-6-46] [Medline: 20017939]
- 54. Ziherl J, Novak D, Olenšek A, Mihelj M, Munih M. Evaluation of upper extremity robot-assistances in subacute and chronic stroke subjects. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2010 Oct 18;7:52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-7-52] [Medline: 20955566]
- 55. Poli P, Morone G, Rosati G, Masiero S. Robotic technologies and rehabilitation: new tools for stroke patients' therapy. Biomed Res Int 2013;2013:153872 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2013/153872] [Medline: 24350244]
- 56. Díaz I, Gil JJ, Sánchez E. Lower-limb robotic rehabilitation: literature review and challenges. J Robotics 2011;2011:1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2011/759764]
- 57. Giggins OM, Persson UM, Caulfield B. Biofeedback in rehabilitation. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2013 Jun 18;10:60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-10-60] [Medline: 23777436]
- 58. Kim J. The effects of training using EMG biofeedback on stroke patients upper extremity functions. J Phys Ther Sci 2017;29(6):1085-1088. [doi: 10.1589/jpts.29.1085]
- 59. Biomove: stroke recovery, stroke rehabilitation and stroke treatment at home. Jerusalem, Israel: Curatronic Ltd : URL: https://web.archive.org/web/20161031070446/http://www.biomove.com:80/ [WebCite Cache ID 76A3HHMLU]
- 60. Wang JP, Guo LQ, Sheng TY, Xiong DX. Automated Brunnstrom assessment for home rehabilitation based on GRNN model. 2017 Presented at: 4th Annual International Conference on Information Technology and Applications (ITA 2017); May 26-28, 2017; Guangzhou, China. [doi: 10.1051/itmconf/20171201021]
- 61. Yang C, Kerr A, Stankovic V, Stankovic L, Rowe P, Cheng S. Human upper limb motion analysis for post-stroke impairment assessment using video analytics. IEEE Access 2016;4:650-659. [doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2016.2523803]
- 62. Ye M, Yang C, Stankovic V, Stankovic L, Kerr A. A depth camera motion analysis framework for tele-rehabilitation: motion capture and person-centric kinematics analysis. IEEE J Selected Topics Signal Process 2016 Aug;10(5):877-887. [doi: 10.1109/JSTSP.2016.2559446]

- 63. Yang C, Ugbolue UC, Kerr A, Stankovic V, Stankovic L, Carse B, et al. Autonomous gait event detection with portable single-camera gait kinematics analysis system. J Sensors 2016;2016:1-8. [doi: 10.1155/2016/5036857]
- Zhang Y, Guo S, Cao G, Zhang S, Liu Y. A novel variable stiffness actuator-based exoskeleton device for home rehabilitation. 2016 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Mechatronics and Automation; Aug 7-10, 2016; Harbin, China p. 878-883.
- 65. Amirabdollahian F, Ates S, Basteris A, Cesario A, Buurke J, Hermens H, et al. Design, development and deployment of a hand/wrist exoskeleton for home-based rehabilitation after stroke SCRIPT project. Robotica 2014 Sep 23;32(08):1331-1346. [doi: 10.1017/S0263574714002288]
- 66. Yano H, Tanaka N, Kamibayashi K, Saitou H, Iwata H. Development of a portable gait rehabilitation system for home-visit rehabilitation. Sci World J 2015;2015:1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/849831]
- 67. Mohamaddan S, Jamali A, Abidin ASZ, Jamaludin MS, Majid NAA, Ashari MF, et al. Development of upper limb rehabilitation robot device for home setting. Procedia Comput Sci 2015;76:376-380. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.procs.2015.12.312</u>]
- 68. Díaz M, Saez-Pons J, Heerink M, Angulo C. Emotional factors in robot-based assistive services for elderly at home. 2013 Presented at: IEEE International Symposium on Robot and Human Interactive Communication; Aug 26-29, 2013; Gyeongju, Korea p. 711-716.
- White M, Vining Radomski M, Finkelstein M, Nilsson DAS, Eugen Oddsson LI. Assistive/socially assistive robotic platform for therapy and recovery: patient perspectives. Int J Telemed Applications 2013;2013:1-6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2013/948087]
- 70. Sivan M, Gallagher J, Makower S, Keeling D, Bhakta B, O'Connor RJ, et al. Home-based computer assisted arm rehabilitation (hCAAR) robotic device for upper limb exercise after stroke: results of a feasibility study in home setting. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2014;11(1):163. [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-11-163]
- 71. Johnson MJ, Feng X, Johnson LM, Winters JM. Potential of a suite of robot/computer-assisted motivating systems for personalized, home-based, stroke rehabilitation. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2007 Mar 01;4(1). [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-4-6]
- 72. Kohler F, Schmitz-Rode T, Disselhorst-Klug C. Introducing a feedback training system for guided home rehabilitation. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2010 Jan 15;7(1). [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-7-2]
- 73. Proffitt R, Lange B. Considerations in the efficacy and effectiveness of virtual reality interventions for stroke rehabilitation: moving the field forward. Phys Ther 2014 Oct 24;95(3):441-448. [doi: <u>10.2522/ptj.20130571</u>]
- 74. Gaber A, Taher MF, Waheb MA. A comparison of virtual rehabilitation techniques. 2015 Presented at: World Congress on Electrical Engineering and Computer Systems and Science (EECSS ); Jul 13-14, 2015; Barcelona, Spain p. 1-6.
- 75. Mousavi HH, Khademi M. A review on technical and clinical impact of Microsoft Kinect on physical therapy and rehabilitation. J Med Eng 2014;2014:846514 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2014/846514] [Medline: 27006935]
- 76. Wittmann F, Lambercy O, Gonzenbach RR, van Raai MA, Hover R, Held J, et al. Assessment-driven arm therapy at home using an IMU-based virtual reality system. 2015 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics (ICORR); Aug 11-14, 2015; Singapore p. 707-712.
- Slijper A, Svensson KE, Backlund P, Engström H, Sunnerhagen K. Computer game-based upper extremity training in the home environment in stroke persons: a single subject design. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2014;11(1):35. [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-11-35]
- Kenyon R, Leigh J, Keshner E. Considerations for the future development of virtual technology as a rehabilitation tool. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2004 Dec 2004 Dec 23;1(1):13. [doi: <u>10.1186/1743-0003-1-13</u>] [Medline: <u>15679951</u>]
- 79. Adamovich SV, Fluet GG, Mathai A, Qiu Q, Lewis J, Merians AS. Design of a complex virtual reality simulation to train finger motion for persons with hemiparesis: a proof of concept study. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2009;6(1):28. [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-6-28]
- Gil-Gómez J, Lloréns R, Alcañiz M, Colomer C. Effectiveness of a Wii balance board-based system (eBaViR) for balance rehabilitation: a pilot randomized clinical trial in patients with acquired brain injury. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2011 May 23;8:30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-8-30] [Medline: 21600066]
- 81. Smith ST, Talaei-Khoei A, Ray M. Electronic games for aged care and rehabilitation. 2009 Presented at: 11th International Conference on e-Health Networking, Applications and Services (Healthcom); Dec 16-18, 2009; Sydney, Australia p. 42-47.
- Lehrer N, Attygalle S, Wolf SL, Rikakis T. Exploring the bases for a mixed reality stroke rehabilitation system, part I: a unified approach for representing action, quantitative evaluation, and interactive feedback. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2011 Aug 30;8:51. [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-8-51] [Medline: 21875441]
- 83. Nijenhuis SM, Prange GB, Amirabdollahian F, Sale P, Infarinato F, Nasr N, et al. Feasibility study into self-administered training at home using an arm and hand device with motivational gaming environment in chronic stroke. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2015 Oct 09;12:89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12984-015-0080-y] [Medline: 26452749]
- 84. Stewart JC, Yeh S, Jung Y, Yoon H, Whitford M, Chen S, et al. Intervention to enhance skilled arm and hand movements after stroke: a feasibility study using a new virtual reality system. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2007 Jun 23;4(1). [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-4-21]
- Colombo R, Pisano F, Mazzone A, Delconte C, Micera S, Carrozza MC, et al. Design strategies to improve patient motivation during robot-aided rehabilitation. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2007 Feb 19;4:3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-4-3] [Medline: 17309790]

- 86. González A, Fraisse P, Hayashibe M. A personalized balance measurement for home-based rehabilitation. 2015 Presented at: 7th International IEEE/EMBS Conference on Neural Engineering (NER); April 22-24, 2015; Montpellier, France p. 711-714.
- 87. Lee B, Kim J, Chen S, Sienko KH. Cell phone based balance trainer. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2012;9(1):10. [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-9-10]
- 88. Friedman N, Chan V, Zondervan D, Bachman M, Reinkensmeyer DJ. MusicGlove: motivating and quantifying hand movement rehabilitation by using functional grips to play music. 2011 Presented at: 33rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society; Aug 30-Sep 3, 2011; Boston, MA, USA p. 2359-2363.
- Pérez-Quiñones MA, Sibert JL. A collaborative model of feedback in human-computer interaction. 1996 Presented at: SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; Apr 13-18, 1996; Vancouver, BC, Canada. [doi: 10.1145/238386.238535]
- 90. Teasell R, Hussein N. Stroke Rehabilitation Clinician Handbook. London, ON: Evidence-Based Review of Stroke Rehabilitation; 2016. Motor rehabilitation: rehab of hemiplegic upper extremity post stroke URL: <u>http://www.ebrsr.com/</u> <u>sites/default/files/Chapter%204B\_Upper%20Extremity%20Post%20Stroke\_0.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 76A4Db8QJ]
- 91. Saebo. The Brunnstrom stages of stroke recovery. Charlotte, NC: Saebo, Inc; 2018 Jun 09. URL: <u>https://web.archive.org/</u> web/20181123224448/https://www.saebo.com/the-stages-of-stroke-recovery/ [accessed 2019-02-13] [WebCite Cache ID 76A1BhPny]
- 92. Marchionini G. Exploratory search: from finding to understanding. Commun ACM 2006 Apr 01;49(4):41. [doi: 10.1145/1121949.1121979]
- 93. Nimmy JT, Hepsiba D. Rehabilitation exercise monitoring system. Int J Adv Res Electron Commun Eng 2013;2(3):389-391 [FREE Full text]
- 94. Yassine A, Singh S, Alamri A. Mining human activity patterns from smart home big data for health care applications. IEEE Access 2017;5:13131-13141. [doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2017.2719921] [Medline: 27295638]
- 95. Samarah S, Al Zamil MG, Aleroud AF, Rawashdeh M, Alhamid MF, Alamri A. An efficient activity recognition framework: toward privacy-sensitive health data sensing. IEEE Access 2017;5:3848-3859. [doi: <u>10.1109/ACCESS.2017.2685531</u>]
- 96. Ni Q, García Hernando AB, de la Cruz IP. The elderly's independent living in smart homes: a characterization of activities and sensing infrastructure survey to facilitate services development. Sensors 2015 May 14;15(5):11312-11362. [doi: 10.3390/s150511312]
- 97. Ebeid E, Heick R, Jacobsen RH. Deducing energy consumer behavior from smart meter data. Future Internet 2017 Jul 06;9(3):29. [doi: 10.3390/fi9030029]
- 98. Gajowniczek K, Ząbkowski T. Data mining techniques for detecting household characteristics based on smart meter data. Energies 2015 Jul 22;8(7):7407-7427. [doi: 10.3390/en8077407]
- 99. Melzi FN, Zayani MH, Hamida AB, Same A, Oukhellou L. Identifying daily electric consumption patterns from smart meter data by means of clustering algorithms. 2015 Presented at: 2015 IEEE 14th International Conference on Machine LearningApplications (ICMLA); Dec 9-11, 2015; Miami, FL, USA p. 1136-1141.
- Al-Wakeel A, Wu J, Jenkins N. k -means based load estimation of domestic smart meter measurements. Appl Energy 2017 May;194:333-342. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.06.046</u>]
- 101. Wang Y, Chen Q, Hong T, Kang C. Review of smart meter data analytics: applications, methodologies, and challenges. IEEE Trans Smart Grid 2019 Jun;10(3):3125-3148. [doi: 10.1109/TSG.2018.2818167]
- 102. Cavallo F, Aquilano M, Odetti L, Arvati M, Carrozza MC. A first step toward a pervasive and smart ZigBee sensor system for assistance and rehabilitation. 2009 Presented at: 2009 IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics; Jun 23-26, 2009; Kyoto, Japan p. 632-637.

# Abbreviations

ADL: activities of daily living

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.02.19; peer-reviewed by J Machaj, J Parker; comments to author 27.04.19; revised version received 19.06.19; accepted 19.07.19; published 15.08.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Vourganas I, Stankovic V, Stankovic L, Kerr A Factors That Contribute to the Use of Stroke Self-Rehabilitation Technologies: A Review JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e13732 URL: <u>http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13732/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/13732</u> PMID:



©Ioannis Vourganas, Vladimir Stankovic, Lina Stankovic, Andrew Kerr. Originally published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering (http://biomedeng.jmir.org), 15.08.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://biomedeng.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Review**

# Immersive Virtual Reality in Health Care: Systematic Review of Technology and Disease States

Aaron J Snoswell<sup>1\*</sup>, BEng; Centaine L Snoswell<sup>2\*</sup>, BPharm, MPH, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Information Technology and Electrical Engineering, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia

<sup>2</sup>Centre for Health Services Research, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

# **Corresponding Author:**

Aaron J Snoswell, BEng School of Information Technology and Electrical Engineering The University of Queensland Level 4 / General Purpose South Building (Building 78) Brisbane, 4072 Australia Phone: 61 422424060 Email: <u>a.snoswell@uq.edu.au</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Immersive virtual reality (IVR) presents new possibilities for application in health care. Health care professionals can now immerse their patients in environments to achieve exposure to a specific scene or experience, evoke targeted emotional responses, inspire, or distract from an experience occurring in reality.

**Objective:** This review aimed to identify patient-focused applications for head-mounted IVR for acute treatment of health conditions and determine the technical specifications of the systems used.

**Methods:** A systematic review was conducted by searching medical and engineering peer-reviewed literature databases in 2018. The databases included PubMed, EMBASE, Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature, Association for Computing Machinery, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Scopus, and Web of Science. Search terms relating to health and IVR were used. To be included, studies had to investigate the effectiveness of IVR for acute treatment of a specific health condition. IVR was defined as a head-mounted platform that provides virtual and auditory immersion for the participant and includes a minimum of 3 degrees of orientation tracking. Once identified, data were extracted from articles and aggregated in a narrative review format.

**Results:** A total of 58 studies were conducted in 19 countries. The studies reported IVR use for 5 main clinical areas: neurological and development (n=10), pain reduction through distraction (n=20), exposure therapy for phobias (n=9), psychological applications (n=14), and others (n=5). Studies were primarily feasibility studies exploring systems and general user acceptance (n=29) and efficacy studies testing clinical effect (n=28).

**Conclusions:** IVR has a promising future in health care, both in research and commercial realms. As many of the studies examined are still exploring the feasibility of IVR for acute treatment of health conditions, evidence for the effectiveness of IVR is still developing.

(JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e15025) doi:10.2196/15025

# KEYWORDS

virtual reality; health care; telemedicine; systematic review; mHealth

# Introduction

RenderX

Virtual reality (VR) has recently seen a resurgence of interest, both in the general public and academic communities. Technological improvements in processing, graphics, display, and 3D software have led to the release of several new

https://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e15025

commercially available VR systems since 2010. As a result, VR systems today cost one-sixtieth of the price, have better performance, and require less specialized hardware than systems from 20 years ago [1].

VR systems immerse the user in a virtual environment by completely replacing the visual environment and possibly aural

sensation. The aim is to achieve a sense of *presence* such that the user perceives themselves as being part of the virtual environment. Key technical factors that help induce presence are accurate and stable tracking of the user's head and possibly body motions, low-latency updating of the visual image provided to the user, a high display resolution, and a wide field of view.

Although commonly used for entertainment, VR is increasingly being used for so-called *serious* applications. Nonimmersive VR has a long history of use in health care; however, in this study, the more recent trends of immersive virtual reality (IVR) for health-related treatment applications are reviewed. IVR presents interesting possibilities for application in health care. Health care professionals can now immerse their patients in environments to achieve exposure to a specific scene or experience [2], evoke targeted emotional responses [3], inspire [4], or distract from an experience occurring in reality [5]. Relevant previous reviews have focused on specific clinical specialties such as mental health [6] or cognitive and motor rehabilitation [7,8]. This study aimed to summarize research across many clinical specialties. Findings are compared with those of related reviews in the Discussion section.

Terminology varies across different fields and from academia to public vocabulary. In this review, IVR is defined as a VR system that provides at least 3 degrees of freedom (DOF) of head orientation tracking (ie, roll, pitch, and yaw) and uses a head-mounted display (HMD) worn by the user. Traditionally, IVR may also include projection-based virtual environments (sometimes called *CAVE* systems). These systems were excluded to align this review with the recent trend of commercially available low-cost head-mounted devices. In addition to head orientation tracking, IVR systems may further provide head positional tracking or hand, controller, or body tracking in conjunction with various other sensory modalities such as haptic feedback.

Non-IVR systems that display a virtual environment to the user on a personal computer or mobile phone display without head tracking were excluded. Such systems have a long history of successful use in health care, most notably in psychology, with several reviews available [9-12]. Finally, this review did not focus on nontreatment applications of VR in health care such as for training.

The primary research question addressed by this review is as follows: what are the patient-focused applications for IVR in health research? This review examines the technical specifications of the systems being used and collates the health conditions being targeted.

# Methods

# Search Strategy

This review follows the methods described in a published protocol (PROSPERO 2018 CRD42018105512) [13]. Articles were included if they were published after 2010 when low cost IVR technology became commercially available. Only full-text journal articles available in English were included.

Search terms with appropriate amendments (dependent on medical subject headings) were used to search PubMed, EMBASE, Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature, Association for Computing Machinery, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Scopus, and Web of Science for articles. ProQuest Global was additionally searched for theses. Search terms were (health OR rehabilitation OR telere\* OR "digital health" OR ehealth OR "virtual care" OR telemedicine OR telehealth) and ("virtual environment" OR "artificial environment" OR "virtual reality") not (surge\*). Where possible, results were filtered to human-focused studies.

# **Article Selection**

After duplicates were removed, titles and abstracts were screened for eligibility. The remaining articles were then read in full to confirm eligibility. Owing to the volume of articles returned, rehabilitation applications of IVR were excluded during the abstract and full-text review.

Studies were included if they related to any population receiving acute disease—specific treatment using IVR. Studies were excluded if they described training for health professionals in IVR (generally surgery education), non–earth-based applications (ie, focused, on space exploration), nonacute treatment applications such as rehabilitation, only described a system or hypothetical system without pilot or efficacy results, or were general well-being IVR systems for nondescript clinical purposes such as mood elevation or incentivizing exercise.

The primary search was conducted by one researcher (CS). Abstracts were reviewed by two researchers (CS and AS), with any disagreement discussed to reach consensus.

# **Data Extraction and Analysis**

The data extracted included study type (efficacy or feasibility), IVR system, and condition and treatment purpose. Meta-analysis was not completed on the selected studies because of the large variation in identified studies.

# Results

# **Study Selection**

Figure 1 shows the article selection process and lists the exclusion criteria. The study extraction and selected results are listed in Tables 1-5.



Figure 1. Article selection process. IVR: immersive virtual reality.



A total of 58 studies were conducted in 19 countries. The studies reported IVR use for 5 main clinical areas: neurological and development (n=10), pain reduction through distraction (n=20), exposure therapy for phobias (n=9), other psychological applications (n=14), and other applications (n=5). Studies were categorized into 3 types: feasibility studies looking at the system and general user acceptance (n=29), efficacy studies testing clinical effect (n=28), and economic analysis (n=1).

# What Are the Patient-Focused Applications for Immersive Virtual Reality in Health Research?

# Neurological and Development

Ten articles reported that IVR was used for social attention training in children and adults with autism spectrum disorder [14-16]. Owing to the immersive nature of the environment, the individual's attention can be directed in training scenarios [14]. Environments were designed to immerse patients in general

social situations [14,17,18] or prepare them for specific social situation such as public bus rides [15]. IVR was used to achieve similar goals for children with intellectual development disabilities [19] and neurodevelopmental disorders [20].

IVR was also used to assist with the treatment of memory and cognitive functioning decline for individuals who had experienced a stroke or Alzheimer disease [21]. These IVR systems enabled individuals to practice undertaking everyday tasks in a simulated environment such as shopping for multiple items [21] or navigating a building structure [22].

Alternatively, IVR was used as a method of cognitive stimulation for patients in a hospital intensive care unit [23]. As these individuals were unable to leave their hospital environment, IVR created an opportunity for them to experience alternate environments to assist with cognitive stimulation [23]. See Table 1 for an overview.

Author, year (country)

land) [23]

Gerber et al, 2017 (Switzer-

Table 1. Included studies: neurological and development.

Kit 2

#### Immersive virtual Condition and treatment purpose Number of Reported participant Article type reality system participants age (years) Oculus Developer Efficacy Cognitive stimulation for patients 37 20-85 in the intensive care unit Oculus Developer Feasibility Social ability in autism spectrum 17 15-26

Amaral et al, 2017 (Portu- gal) [14]	Oculus Developer Kit 2	Feasibility	Social ability in autism spectrum disorder	17	15-26
Bernardes et al, 2015 (Portu- gal) [15]	Not stated	Feasibility	Social ability in autism spectrum disorder	5	32.2 (4) <sup>a</sup>
Fitzgerald et al, 2018 (Australia) [16]	Oculus Commercial Version 1	Feasibility	Increased learning in autism spec- trum disorder	2	25-35
Gelsomini et al, 2016 (Italy) [19]	Google Cardboard	Feasibility	Learn behavioral skills for individu- als with intellectual development disabilities	5	Children <sup>b</sup>
Gelsomini et al 2016 (Italy) [20]	Google Cardboard	Feasibility	Functional improvement for individ- uals with neurodevelopment disor- ders	10	6-10
Liu et al, 2018 (China) [17]	HTC Vive	Feasibility	Social interaction in autism spec- trum disorder	4	5-7
Shahab et al, 2018 (Iran) [18]	HTC Vive	Feasibility	Game therapy for autism spectrum disorder	14	Children <sup>b</sup>
White et al, 2016 (Canada) [22]	Oculus Developer Kit 2	Feasibility	Cognitive changes in Alzheimer disease	1	74
Gamito et al, 2017 (Portu- gal) [21]	eMagin Z800	Efficacy	Attention and memory after stroke	29	55 (14) <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Mean (SD).

<sup>b</sup>Direct quote from article, specific ages for participant/s not reported.

# Pain Reduction Through Distraction

In this study, 20 articles reported that IVR was used for patients experiencing pain to distract them by providing alternate sensory

input and to treat pain in specific populations with neck pain and phantom limb pain (Table 2).

#### Snoswell & Snoswell

Table 2. Included studies: pain reduction through distraction.

#### Snoswell & Snoswell

	8				
Author, year (country)	Immersive virtual reality system	Article type	Condition and treatment purpose	Number of participants	Reported participant age (years)
Mosadeghi et al, 2016 (USA) [24]	Samsung Gear VR	Feasibility	Hospitalized patients	30	49.1 (17) <sup>a</sup>
Delshad et al, 2018 (USA) [25]	Samsung Gear VR	Economic analysis	Hospital patients	Not applica- ble	Not reported
Tashjian et al, 2017 (USA) [26]	Samsung Gear VR	Efficacy	Hospitalized patients	100	54.5 (18)
Ambron et al, 2018 (USA) [27]	Oculus Developer Kit 2	Feasibility	Phantom limb pain	2	Middle aged to late- middle-aged <sup>b</sup>
Amin et al, 2017 (Canada) [5]	Google Cardboard and Oculus Develop- er Kit 2	Efficacy	Chronic pain	30	23-68
Birnie et al, 2018 (Canada) [28]	Samsung Gear VR	Feasibility	Pediatric cancer	17	8-18
Ebrahimi et al, 2017 (Iran) [29]	Not reported	Efficacy	Dressing changes for burns patients	60	24-40
Faber et al, 2013 (USA) [30]	Cybermind HiRes900	Efficacy	Burns patients	36	8-57
Ford et al, 2018 (USA) [31]	Sunnypeak <sup>c</sup>	Feasibility	Burns patients	10	30-69
Garrett et al, 2017 (Canada) [32]	Oculus Developer Kit 2	Feasibility	Chronic pain	8	31-71
Gold et al, 2018 (USA) [33]	AppliedVR and Samsung Gear VR or Google MergeVR	Efficacy	Phlebotomy	143	15.4 (3) <sup>a</sup>
Henriksen et al, 2017 (France) [34]	Oculus Developer Kit 2	Feasibility	Phantom limb pain	3	45-60
Hoffman et al, 2014 (USA) [1]	Oculus Commercial Version 1	Feasibility	Skin stretching therapy for burns patients	1	11
Jeffs et al, 2014 (USA) [35]	Kaiser Optics SR80a	Efficacy	Dressing changes for burns patients	28	10-17
Nielsen et al, 2017 (Denmark) [36]	HTC Vive	Feasibility	Phantom limb pain	8	21-27
Osumi et al, 2017 (Japan) [37]	Oculus Developer Kit 2	Feasibility	Phantom limb pain	8	43-64
Bahat et al, 2015 (Australia) [38]	Vuzix Wrap 1200VR	Feasibility	Chronic pain and movement	32	40.6 (14) <sup>a</sup>
Bahat et al, 2018 (Australia) [39]	Oculus Developer Kit 1	Efficacy	Chronic pain and movement	90	38.5, 57.5 <sup>d</sup>
Scapin et al, 2017 (Brazil) [40]	Samsung Gear VR	Feasibility	Burns patients	2	8-9
Tanja-Dijkstra et al, 2014 (UK) [41]	Vuzix iWear VR920	Efficacy	Dental anxiety related to pain	69	33.1 (13) <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Mean (SD).

<sup>b</sup>Direct quote from article, specific ages for participant/s not reported.

<sup>c</sup>These systems are low-cost phone-based head-mounted displays that are not widely commercially available.

<sup>d</sup>Quartile 1, quartile 3.

# Distraction

RenderX

IVR was used to provide patients with sensory information unrelated to their current situation or condition, the immersive nature of the virtual environments being a key factor in this application. Distraction through modified sensory input showed a reduction in pain sensations [5,24,26,32] and has been used to assist with painful procedures or exercises such as phlebotomy [28,33], dental appointments [41], dressing changes [29-31,35,40], and movement therapy for burns patients [1]. IVR has been used in both pediatric and adult populations for this purpose, in the hospital, clinic, and home settings [29-31,35,40].

# Treatment

Studies were identified where IVR was used to replicate the treatment method Mirror Box Therapy, where patients use a mirror to create the illusion of an amputated limb still being present [36]. IVR represents a format in which amputated limbs can be simulated and used to complete gamified tasks [27,34,36,37]. IVR was also used to optimize the accuracy with which patients executed neck movement exercises to increase

their range of motion and reduce their neck pain symptoms [38,39].

# **Exposure Therapy for Phobias**

Overall, 9 articles reported that IVR has been harnessed to treat phobias, used as a method of either self-guided [42-44] or clinician-led [2,45,46] exposure therapy for patients (Table 3). Phobias included social phobia [2,42] (social anxiety disorder

Table 3. Included studies: exposure therapy for phobias.

[SAD]), acrophobia [43,46] (fear of heights), agoraphobia [44,45] (fear of entering open or crowded places), aviophobia [47] (fear of flying), arachnophobia [3] (fear of spiders), and claustrophobia [48] (fear of confined spaces). Many of the IVR environments or activities were personalized for the specific patient, highlighting the benefit of using technology such as IVR for exposure therapy [2,3,49,42,44-45,46].

1	15 1				
Author, year (country)	Immersive virtual reality system	Article type	Condition and treatment purpose	Number of participants	Reported participant age (years)
Bouchard et al, 2017 (Canada) [2]	eMagin Z800	Efficacy	Social phobia (SAD <sup>a</sup> )	59	34.5 (12) <sup>b</sup>
Freeman et al, 2018 (UK) [49]	HTC Vive	Efficacy	Acrophobia (fear of heights)	100	30-53
Hartanto et al, 2016 (Netherlands) [42]	Custom	Feasibility	Social phobia (SAD <sup>a</sup> )	5	38-64
Hong et al, 2017 (Korea) [43]	Samsung Gear VR	Efficacy	Acrophobia (fear of heights)	48	23.2 (2) <sup>b</sup>
Malbos et al, 2013 (Australia) [44]	Virtual Realities HMD42	Efficacy	Agoraphobia	18	24-72
Maples-Keller et al, 2017 (USA) [47]	eMagin Z800	Efficacy	Aviophobia (fear of flying)	89	21-67
Meyerbroeker et al, 2013 (Nether- lands) [45]	WorldViz Vizard 3.0	Efficacy	Agoraphobia	55	18-65
Shiban et al, 2015 (Germany) [3]	eMagin Z800	Efficacy	Arachnophobia	41	18-60
Shiban et al, 2016 (Germany) [48]	eMagin Z800	Efficacy	Claustrophobia	48	18-65

<sup>a</sup>Social anxiety disorder.

<sup>b</sup>Mean (SD).

# **Other Psychological Applications**

Overall, 14 articles reported other psychological application for IVR (Table 4), including self-management in depression [50,51],

exposure therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) [52-54], reducing delusions and hallucinations [4,46,55,56], improving unhealthy eating habits [57-60], and reducing attention deficits in schizophrenia [61].

Table 4. Included studies: other psychological applications.

#### Snoswell & Snoswell

Author, year (country)	Immersive virtual reality system	Article type	Condition and treatment purpose	Number of participants	Reported participant age (years)
Atherton et al, 2016 (UK) [55]	nVisor SX111	Efficacy	Persecutory ideation in paranoid in- dividuals	26	43.4 (16) <sup>a</sup>
Cai et al, 2017 (China) [50]	Not reported	Feasibility	Self-guided symptom management for individuals with depression	12	20-35
Cárdenas-López et al, 2014 (Mexi- co) [57]	Neuro-VR 2.0	Feasibility	Increased weight loss after gastric band surgery for obesity	3	32-44
Cárdenas-López et al, 2015 (Mexi- co) [58]	Neuro-VR 2.0	Efficacy	Increased weight loss in obese individuals	24	$\geq 18$ and $\leq 50$
Dellazizzo et al, 2018 (Canada) [4]	Samsung Gear VR	Feasibility	Reduction of verbal hallucination symptoms	1	Early 50s <sup>b</sup>
Dietrichkeit et al, 2018 (Germany) [56]	Oculus Developer Kit 2	Feasibility	Recall accuracy for individuals who experience delusions	2	36-44
Freeman et al, 2016 (UK) [46]	HTC Vive	Efficacy	Reduced safety-seeking behavior in individuals with persecutory delusions	30	40.6 (14) <sup>a</sup>
Hussain et al, 2018 (USA) [51]	Oculus Commercial Version 1	Feasibility	Increase in positivity generally and toward seeking help for depressed individuals	12	18-26
Keizer et al, 2016 (Netherlands) [59]	Oculus Developer Kit 2	Efficacy	Body size distortion in anorexia nervosa	30	22 (4) <sup>a</sup>
La Paglia et al, 2016 (Italy) [61]	Neuro-VR 2.0	Efficacy	Attention deficits in schizophrenia	15	29 (12) <sup>a</sup>
Marco et al, 2013 (Spain) [60]	Not reported	Feasibility	Eating disorders	34	15-40
McLay et al, 2017 (USA) [52]	Custom	Efficacy	Exposure therapy in posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD)	88	33 (8) <sup>a</sup>
McLay et al, 2014 (USA) [53]	Custom	Feasibility	Symptoms reduction in PTSD	28	25-49
Reger et al, 2016 (USA) [54]	eMagin Z800	Efficacy	Exposure therapy for PTSD	162	29.5 (6) <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Mean (SD).

<sup>b</sup>Direct quote from article, specific ages for participant/s not reported.

# Depression

Both depression-focused studies described self-administered VR therapy that could be used at home. In one case, a preprogrammed virtual avatar prompted individuals to share their experiences with depression with the aim of increasing self-help behaviors [51]. A second application featured integrated neurofeedback for self-management of symptoms at home through interaction with preprogrammed environments [41].

# Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

IVR was used in two studies to improve the immersion of the experience for exposure therapy in PTSD treatments [52-54]. Exposure therapy using VR is well documented in the literature; however, only two studies were identified as immersive for this review.

# **Delusions and Hallucinations**

IVR for persecutory delusions allowed patients to be immersed in social environments with progressively more avatars present, which enabled a safe situation to practice being in a social environment [46]. Another IVR experience used virtual

https://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e15025

RenderX

immersive social environments to build self-confidence as a mechanism to combat paranoia and persecutory delusions [55]. IVR was also used to ameliorate delusions related to memory recall by using IVR to experience environments and practice recalling details accurately [56].

A case study examined using IVR as a mechanism for therapy for individuals experiencing verbal hallucinations. Using an avatar created in IVR, a therapist was able to virtually embody the persona of the verbal hallucination, allowing the patient a new mechanism of interactive therapy, which showed promising results [4].

# Unhealthy Eating Habits

Overall, 4 papers described the results of studies using IVR to assist with acute unhealthy eating habits, including obesity, anorexia nervosa, and general eating disorders [57-60]. In all 4 studies, IVR was used to create a full-body illusion aimed at correcting inaccurate patient perceptions of themselves as a supplement to cognitive behavioral therapy [57-60].

# Schizophrenia

Individuals living with schizophrenia received IVR-based cognitive behavioral therapy to undertake attention training tasks [61].

# **Other Applications**

A total of 5 articles were identified where IVR was being used for patient-focused clinical application that did not specifically align with the other categories identified (Table 5). These articles demonstrated the use of IVR for vestibular conditions [62,63], tinnitus [64], multiple sclerosis [65], and balance control

Table 5. Included studies: other applications.

for fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) [66]. Of 3 studies, 2 reported using IVR to optimize patient execution of exercises to reduce vestibular conditions [62,63], including vestibular hypofunction and benign paroxysmal positional vertigo. IVR was also used to assist with specialist clinician-guided tinnitus treatment, in place of cognitive behavioral therapy [64]. Multiple sclerosis patients walked on a treadmill with sensors at their feet and used IVR to improve their gait while avoiding or stepping over virtual obstacles [65]. Children with FASD used IVR to enhance task-specific balance practice exercises, improving their overall balance control [66].

Author, year (country)	Immersive virtual reality system	Article type	Condition and treatment purpose	Number of participants	Reported participant age (years)
Malinvaud et al, 2016 (France) [64]	Not reported	Efficacy	Reduced tinnitus symptoms	148	52.5 (13) <sup>a</sup>
Micarelli et al, 2017 (Italy) [62]	Revelation <sup>b</sup>	Efficacy	Vestibulo-ocular reflex gain in vestibular hypofunction	51	50.5 (9) <sup>a</sup>
Peruzzi et al, 2016 (Italy) [65]	eMagin Z800	Feasibility	Gait improvement in multiple sclerosis patients	8	34-60
Tabanfar et al, 2018 (Canada) [63]	HooToo <sup>b</sup>	Efficacy	Epley treatment for paroxysmal po- sitional vertigo	20	26.4 (7) <sup>a</sup>
McCoy et al, 2015 (USA) [66]	Custom	Feasibility	Sensorimotor balance control train- ing for children with FASD <sup>c</sup>	11	11.4 (2) <sup>a</sup>

# <sup>a</sup>Mean (SD).

<sup>b</sup>These systems are low-cost phone-based head-mounted displays that are not widely commercially available.

<sup>c</sup>Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder.

# What Are the Technical Specifications of These Systems?

Systems from 58 articles were categorized into 3 groups: commercially available integrated systems, commercially available systems that use a smartphone as a display device, and custom-designed systems that are not commercially available. Of 58 articles, 5 did not provide adequate information to identify the IVR system used, however, did provide adequate photos and use language to convince the authors that IVR was used in the study [15,29,50,60,64].

Where a system is reported to have 0 DOF of head tracking, the referenced studies incorporated an additional head tracking system to make the VR system immersive.

Some studies reported the use of IVR software that may support a variety of hardware devices. These studies were included when the authors were convinced that the reported software version supported IVR hardware as a display option. The software systems reported included NeuroVR version 2.0 (Milan, Italy) [61], WorldViz Vizard version 3.0 [45], and AppliedVR RelieVR [33]. In addition, one study reported the use of a modified HMD that included an eye tracking device [23]. Detailed technical specifications are listed in Tables 6-9.



Manufacturer	System	Head tracking DOF <sup>a</sup>	Display resolution	Horizontal FOV <sup>b</sup> (degree)	Number of studies	References
HTC	Vive	6	2160×1200	110	5	Liu et al (2018) [17], Shahab et al (2017) [18], Nielsen et al (2017) [36], Freeman et al (2016) [49], and 2018 [46]
Oculus	Rift Commercial Version 1	6	2160×1200	110	3	Hoffman et al (2014) [1], Fitzgerald et al (2018) [16], Hussain et al (2018) [51]
Oculus	Rift Development Kit 2	6	1920×1080	100	10	Amin et al (2017) [5], White et al (2016) [22], Gerber et al (2017) [23], Amaral et al (2017),[14] Ambron et al (2018) [27], Garrett et al (2017) [32], Henriksen et al (2017) [34], Osumi et al (2017) [37], Dietrichkeit et al (2018) [56], Keizer et al (2016) [59]
Oculus	Rift Development Kit 1	3	1280×800	110	1	Bahat et al (2018) [39]
Kaiser Optics	SR80a	0	1280×1024	80	1	Jeffs et al (2014) [35]
Cybermind	HiRes900	0	800×600	approximately 50	1	Faber et al (2013) [30]
eMagin	Z800	3	1600×600	approximately 43	7	Bouchard et al (2017) [2], Shiban et al (2015) [3], and (2016) [21], Gamito et al (2017) [47], Maples- Keller et al (2017) [48], Reger et al (2016) [54], Peruzzi et al 2016 [65]
Virtual Realities	VR1280	0	1280×1024	60	1	Atherton et al (2016) [55]
Virtual Realities	HMD42	3	800×600	42	1	Malbos et al (2013) [44]
nVisor	SX111	0	1280×1024	102	1	Atherton et al (2016) [55]
Vuzix	Wrap 1200VR	3	1280×720	35	1	Bahat et al (2015) [38]
Vuzix	iWear VR920	3	1280×480	32	1	Tanja-Dijkstra et al (2014) [41]

<sup>a</sup>DOF: degrees of freedom.

<sup>b</sup>FOV: field of view.

Table 7.	Commercially	available,	smartphone-based	immersive	virtual	reality systems.
----------	--------------	------------	------------------	-----------	---------	------------------

Manufacturer	System	Mobile device	Head tracking DOF <sup>a</sup>	Display resolution	Number of studies	References
Samsung	Gear VR	Samsung Note 4	3	2560×1440	2	Scapin et al (2016) [24], Mosadeghi et al (2016) [40]
Samsung	Gear VR	Samsung Galaxy S7	3	2560×1440	1	Tashjian et al (2017) [26]
Samsung	Gear VR	Samsung Galaxy S6	3	2560×1440	3	Birnie et al (2018) [28], Gold et al (2018) [33], Hong (2017) [43]
Google	MergeVR	Google Pixel (version not reported)	3	b	1	Gold et al (2018) [33]
Google	Cardboard	Samsung Galaxy Note 4	3	2560×1440	1	Amin et al (2017) [5]
Google	Cardboard	Apple iPod Touch (fifth Generation)	3	1136×640	1	Ford et al (2018) [31]
Google	Cardboard	Not reported	3	b	2	Gelsomini et al (2016a) [19] and (2016b) [20]
Not stated	Sunnypeak	Apple iPod (version unstated)	3	b	1	Ford et al (2018) [31]
Not stated	НооТоо	Apple iPhone 6	3	1334×750	1	Tabanfar et al (2018) [63]
Not stated	Revelation	Nokia Lumia 930	3	1920×1080	1	Micarelli et al (2017) [62]

<sup>a</sup>DOF: degrees of freedom.

<sup>b</sup>Unknown as mobile device was not reported.

https://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e15025

Table 8. Custom immersive virtual reality systems.

System	Head tracking DOF <sup>a</sup>	Display resolution	Horizontal FOV <sup>b</sup> (degree)	Number of studies	References
Memphis	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	1	Hartanto et al (2015) [42]
STABEL <sup>c</sup>	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	1	McCoy et al (2015) [66]
VRGET <sup>d</sup>	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	2	McLay et al (2014) [52] and (2017) [53]

<sup>a</sup>DOF: degrees of freedom.

<sup>b</sup>FOV: field of view.

<sup>c</sup>STABEL: Sensorimotor Training to Affect Balance, Engagement and Learning.

<sup>d</sup>VRGET: Virtual Reality Graded Exposure Therapy.

Table 9. Immersive virtual reality software frameworks.

Manufacturer	System	Number of studies	References
Neuro-VR	Neuro-VR 2.0	3	Cardenas-Lopez et al (2014) [57] and (2015) [58], La Paglia (2016) [61]
WorldViz	Vizard 3.0	1	Meyerbroeker et al (2013) [45]
AppliedVR	RelieVR	1	Gold et al (2018) [33]

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This review identified 58 studies from 19 countries that used IVR for acute treatment of conditions. The included studies featured participants ranging in age from 5 to 74 years, with one acceptability study reporting a significant age difference between participants willing to use IVR (younger participants) and those unwilling to use IVR (older participants) [24]. The conditions treated in the included studies were broadly in 5 categories: neurological and neurodevelopment, pain, phobias, psychological applications, and miscellaneous. All the studies used IVR to immerse patients into a virtual environment, but the purposes were different; examples including experience of an environment, exposure therapy, and assistance with accuracy of movement or distraction. The IVR applications presented in the reviewed articles were at different stages of maturity. Approximately half of the reviewed articles tested the feasibility of treatment with IVR, whereas others that were slightly more mature tested the efficacy of IVR compared with conventional treatment methods. This suggests that although nonimmersive VR has a long history of use in health treatment [67], IVR as a tool in treatment and management of health conditions is still a developing area.

A benefit of IVR systems is that the simulated environment can be easily tailored to the individual patient, such as the clinician controlling a virtual embodiment of an avatar that is relevant to the patient's condition, or designing a specific, patient-relevant environment [46,51]; however, such applications require careful system design that takes the clinician's technical abilities into account. Future generations of commercially available IVR systems will likely have an increasing focus on social and multiuser interactions, further enabling interactive treatment methodologies that are already being employed [14,15,44,45].

# **Future Directions and Implications for Practice**

The data indicate that IVR systems are sometimes extended with other sensors and input modalities such as integrating eye tracking [23] or brain-computer interfaces [14]. Although useful in some health settings, such extensions of IVR may not become commonplace in commercial systems designed for general consumers. However, the budding applications of IVR in health care may inform the future development of commercial IVR technology, including considerations such as water resistance for use in water-based therapy regimes or high-moisture environments [68,69]. Some studies also described the use of weight-assisting arms to support an HMD when the patient may not be able to support the weight of the device themselves [1].

It appears that IVR has a promising future in health care, in research and commercial realms. As many of the studies examined are exploratory, the feasibility of IVR for acute treatment of conditions and the evidence for the effectiveness of IVR is still developing. The studies that did examine efficacy demonstrated preliminary evidence that IVR is either as effective as or more effective than their selected conventional therapy. A majority of the studies had low participant numbers and did not extend their analysis to undertake statistical significance testing of a hypothesis. Future research into the effectiveness of IVR could incorporate more rigorous statistical methods to examine effectiveness.

In the studies, it was reviewed here that commercially available IVR systems are not commonly being used for in-home or self-treatment regimes. This highlights a potential application area that could be investigated in the future: the use of IVR in a telehealth or remote health setting.

The early state of IVR technology adoption highlights another area for future work: the development of policy and procedural guidelines for patient safety and security when interacting with IVR technology. For example, such procedures may consider the need for antibacterial design or treatment of face-touching components for sharing of IVR HMDs and calibration of IVR

```
(SL•FO
```

technology to the individual patient's sensory ability to prevent or reduce simulation sickness. Policies should also consider and address patient data protection issues, and provide adequate guidance on privacy, specifically for biometric or similar data collected when interacting with IVR systems.

# **Implications for Research**

From a research quality perspective, this review highlighted that many studies did not provide adequate detailed technical information about the IVR system being used—this aligns with findings of poor reporting quality from previous reviews [6]. Details such as specific software and hardware versions were not routinely reported in adequate detail for technical systems to be reproducible. Especially in the case of custom IVR systems, it is important for such details to be reported thoroughly to aid research quality, peer-review, evaluation, and reproducibility. This is an area where future studies could improve their reporting. For example, including a photo or diagram of a patient interacting with the IVR system provides a rich source of information for the reader, while adding minimal text to a research manuscript.

# Limitations

Owing to the volume of studies, this review had to be limited to acute treatment applications of IVR. IVR has also appeared in health literature as a training tool for health professionals, especially for surgical applications and in rehabilitation to increase compliance with exercise regimes and improve the accuracy of rehabilitation task completion. Any of the several existing reviews can be referred to for more information about the use of IVR in these areas.

# Conclusions

Some studies indicate that simulation sickness is still a limiting factor for application of IVR systems in health care [26,70,71]. This is an ongoing area of research in the broader IVR community [71], and future improvements to IVR system design will likely increase the compatibility of IVR technology with the general populace. In the interim, this finding highlights the need for best practice guidelines for IVR system deployment and development. Furthermore, IVR systems are not suitable for all populations—a consideration that is important for health applications. However, IVR technology can be adapted to suit the needs of specific populations such as blind or low-vision patients [72,73]. The emergence of a technical contracting business that specializes in IVR for health applications is a promising step in this direction. To this end, there is a need for close integration of technical and clinical team members to maximize the efficacy of any new or proposed system.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Hoffman HG, Meyer 3rd WJ, Ramirez M, Roberts L, Seibel EJ, Atzori B, et al. Feasibility of articulated arm mounted Oculus Rift virtual Reality goggles for adjunctive pain control during occupational therapy in pediatric burn patients. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2014 Jun;17(6):397-401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2014.0058] [Medline: 24892204]
- Bouchard S, Dumoulin S, Robillard G, Guitard T, Klinger E, Forget H, et al. Virtual reality compared with exposure in the treatment of social anxiety disorder: a three-arm randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry 2017 Apr;210(4):276-283
  [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.184234] [Medline: 27979818]
- Shiban Y, Brütting J, Pauli P, Mühlberger A. Fear reactivation prior to exposure therapy: does it facilitate the effects of VR exposure in a randomized clinical sample? J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 2015 Mar;46:133-140. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2014.09.009] [Medline: 25460259]
- 4. Dellazizzo L, du Sert OP, Potvin S, Breton R, Pelletier J, Renaud P, et al. Avatar therapy for persistent auditory verbal hallucinations: a case report of a peer research assistant on his path toward recovery. Psychosis 2018 Aug 3;10(3):213-219. [doi: 10.1080/17522439.2018.1499799]
- Amin AM, Tong X, Gromala D, Shaw CD. Cardboard Mobile Virtual Reality as an Approach for Pain Distraction in Clinical Settings: Comparison, Exploration and Evaluation with Oculus Rift. In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2017 Presented at: CHI EA'17; May 6-11, 2017; Denver, Colorado, USA p. 2345-2351 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=3027063.3053234</u> [doi: <u>10.1145/3027063.3053234</u>]
- 6. Jerdan SW, Grindle M, van Woerden HC, Boulos MN. Head-mounted virtual reality and mental health: critical review of current research. JMIR Serious Games 2018 Jul 6;6(3):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.9226] [Medline: 29980500]
- Tieri G, Morone G, Paolucci S, Iosa M. Virtual reality in cognitive and motor rehabilitation: facts, fiction and fallacies. Expert Rev Med Devices 2018 Feb;15(2):107-117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17434440.2018.1425613] [Medline: 29313388]
- Laver KE, Lange B, George S, Deutsch JE, Saposnik G, Crotty M. Virtual reality for stroke rehabilitation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Nov 20;11:CD008349 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD008349.pub4</u>] [Medline: <u>29156493</u>]
- Krijn M, Emmelkamp PM, Olafsson RP, Bouwman M, van Gerwen LJ, Spinhoven P, et al. Fear of flying treatment methods: virtual reality exposure vs cognitive behavioral therapy. Aviat Space Environ Med 2007 Feb;78(2):121-128. [Medline: <u>17310883</u>]

- 10. Riva G. Virtual reality in psychotherapy: review. Cyberpsychol Behav 2005 Jun;8(3):220-30; discussion 231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cpb.2005.8.220] [Medline: 15971972]
- 11. Ricciardi F, de Paolis LT. A comprehensive review of serious games in health professions. Int J Comput Games Technol 2014 Jan;2014:1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2014/787968]
- 12. Bartolomé NA, Zorrilla AM, Zapirain BG. Can Game-Based Therapies Be Trusted? Is Game-Based Education Effective? A Systematic Review of the Serious Games for Health and Education. In: Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Computer Games. 2011 Presented at: CGAMES'11; July 27-30, 2011; Louisville, KY, USA p. 275-282 URL: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/6000353</u> [doi: 10.1109/CGAMES.2011.6000353]
- 13. Snoswell CL, Snoswell AJ. University of York. 2018. The Use of Immersive and Portable Virtual Reality in Patient-Focused Healthcare URL: <a href="https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?ID=CRD42018105512">https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?ID=CRD42018105512</a> [accessed 2018-11-08]
- 14. Amaral CP, Simões MA, Mouga S, Andrade J, Castelo-Branco M. A novel Brain Computer Interface for classification of social joint attention in autism and comparison of 3 experimental setups: a feasibility study. J Neurosci Methods 2017 Oct 1;290:105-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2017.07.029] [Medline: 28760486]
- Bernardes M, Barros F, Simoes M, Castelo-Branco M. A Serious Game With Virtual Reality for Travel Training With Autism Spectrum Disorder. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Virtual Rehabilitation. 2015 Presented at: ICVR'15; June 9-12, 2015; Valencia, Spain p. 127-128 URL: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/7358609/</u> <u>authors#authors</u> [doi: <u>10.1109/icvr.2015.7358609</u>]
- 16. Fitzgerald E, Yap HK, Ashton C, Moore DW, Furlonger B, Anderson A, et al. Comparing the effectiveness of virtual reality and video modelling as an intervention strategy for individuals with autism spectrum disorder: brief report. Dev Neurorehabil 2018 Apr 5;21(3):197-201. [doi: 10.1080/17518423.2018.1432713] [Medline: 29400605]
- Liu S, Xi Y, Wang H. The Utility of the Virtual Reality in Autistic Disorder Treatment. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Universal Access in Human-Computer Interaction. 2018 Presented at: UAHCI'18; July 15-20, 2018; Las Vegas, NV, USA p. 551-559 URL: <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007%2F978-3-319-92049-8\_40</u> [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-92049-8\_40]
- Shahab M, Taheri A, Hosseini SR, Mokhtari M, Meghdari A, Alemi M, et al. Social Virtual Reality Robot (V2R): A Novel Concept for Education and Rehabilitation of Children with Autism. In: Proceedings of the 5th RSI International Conference on Robotics and Mechatronics. 2017 Presented at: ICRoM'17; October 25-27, 2017; Tehran, Iran p. 82-87 URL: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/8466148</u> [doi: 10.1109/icrom.2017.8466148]
- Gelsomini M, Garzotto F, Montesano D, Occhiuto D. Wildcard: a wearable virtual reality storytelling tool for children with intellectual developmental disability. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2016 Aug;2016:5188-5191. [doi: <u>10.1109/EMBC.2016.7591896</u>] [Medline: <u>28269433</u>]
- 20. Gelsomini M. An Affordable Virtual Reality Learning Framework for Children With Neurodevelopmental Disorder. In: Proceedings of the 18th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility. 2016 Presented at: ASSETS'16; October 23-26, 2016; Reno, Nevada, USA p. 343-344 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2982143</u> [doi: 10.1145/2982142.2982143]
- 21. Gamito P, Oliveira J, Coelho C, Morais D, Lopes P, Pacheco J, et al. Cognitive training on stroke patients via virtual reality-based serious games. Disabil Rehabil 2017 Feb;39(4):385-388. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.934925] [Medline: 25739412]
- 22. White PJ, Moussavi Z. Neurocognitive treatment for a patient with Alzheimer's disease using a virtual reality navigational environment. J Exp Neurosci 2016;10:129-135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4137/JEN.S40827] [Medline: 27840579]
- 23. Gerber SM, Jeitziner MM, Wyss P, Chesham A, Urwyler P, Müri RM, et al. Visuo-acoustic stimulation that helps you to relax: a virtual reality setup for patients in the intensive care unit. Sci Rep 2017 Oct 16;7(1):13228 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13153-1] [Medline: 29038450]
- 24. Mosadeghi S, Reid MW, Martinez B, Rosen BT, Spiegel BM. Feasibility of an immersive virtual reality intervention for hospitalized patients: an observational cohort study. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Jun 27;3(2):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.5801] [Medline: 27349654]
- 25. Delshad SD, Almario CV, Fuller G, Luong D, Spiegel BM. Economic analysis of implementing virtual reality therapy for pain among hospitalized patients. NPJ Digit Med 2018;1:22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-018-0026-4] [Medline: 31304304]
- 26. Tashjian VC, Mosadeghi S, Howard AR, Lopez M, Dupuy T, Reid M, et al. Virtual reality for management of pain in hospitalized patients: results of a controlled trial. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Mar 29;4(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.7387] [Medline: 28356241]
- Ambron E, Miller A, Kuchenbecker KJ, Buxbaum LJ, Coslett HB. Immersive low-cost virtual reality treatment for phantom limb pain: evidence from two cases. Front Neurol 2018;9:67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00067] [Medline: 29515513]
- 28. Birnie KA, Kulandaivelu Y, Jibb L, Hroch P, Positano K, Robertson S, et al. Usability testing of an interactive virtual reality distraction intervention to reduce procedural pain in children and adolescents with cancer [Formula: see text]. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2018;35(6):406-416 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1043454218782138] [Medline: 29950139]

- 29. Ebrahimi H, Namdar H, Ghahramanpour M, Ghafourifard M, Musavi S. Effect of virtual reality method and multimedia system on burn patients' pain during dressing. J Clin Anal Med 2017;8:485-489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4328/JCAM.5512]
- Faber AW, Patterson DR, Bremer M. Repeated use of immersive virtual reality therapy to control pain during wound dressing changes in pediatric and adult burn patients. J Burn Care Res 2013;34(5):563-568 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/BCR.0b013e3182777904] [Medline: 23970314]
- Ford CG, Manegold EM, Randall CL, Aballay AM, Duncan CL. Assessing the feasibility of implementing low-cost virtual reality therapy during routine burn care. Burns 2018 Jun;44(4):886-895 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2017.11.020] [Medline: 29305105]
- 32. Garrett B, Taverner T, McDade P. Virtual reality as an adjunct home therapy in chronic pain management: an exploratory study. JMIR Med Inform 2017 May 11;5(2):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.7271] [Medline: 28495661]
- Gold JI, Mahrer NE. Is virtual reality ready for prime time in the medical space? A randomized control trial of pediatric virtual reality for acute procedural pain management. J Pediatr Psychol 2018 Apr 1;43(3):266-275. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsx129] [Medline: 29053848]
- 34. Henriksen B, Nielsen R, Kraus M, Geng B. A Virtual Reality System for Treatment of Phantom Limb Pain Using Game Training and Tactile Feedback. In: Proceedings of the Virtual Reality International Conference - Laval Virtual 2017. 2017 Presented at: VRIC'17; March 22-24, 2017; Laval, France URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=3110306</u> [doi: 10.1145/3110292.3110306]
- 35. Jeffs D, Dorman D, Brown S, Files A, Graves T, Kirk E, et al. Effect of virtual reality on adolescent pain during burn wound care. J Burn Care Res 2014;35(5):395-408 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/BCR.000000000000019] [Medline: 24823326]
- 36. Nielsen R, Henriksen B, Kraus M, Geng B. Comparison of Body Positions in Virtual Reality Mirror Box Therapy for Treatment of Phantom Limb Pain in Lower Limb Amputees. In: Proceedings of the Virtual Reality International Conference - Laval Virtual. 2017 Presented at: VRIC'17; March 22-24, 2017; Laval, France URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.</u> <u>cfm?id=3110307</u> [doi: <u>10.1145/3110292.3110307</u>]
- 37. Osumi M, Ichinose A, Sumitani M, Wake N, Sano Y, Yozu A, et al. Restoring movement representation and alleviating phantom limb pain through short-term neurorehabilitation with a virtual reality system. Eur J Pain 2017 Jan;21(1):140-147 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ejp.910] [Medline: 27378656]
- Bahat HS, Takasaki H, Chen X, Bet-Or Y, Treleaven J. Cervical kinematic training with and without interactive VR training for chronic neck pain a randomized clinical trial. Man Ther 2015 Feb;20(1):68-78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.math.2014.06.008] [Medline: 25066503]
- Bahat HS, Croft K, Carter C, Hoddinott A, Sprecher E, Treleaven J. Remote kinematic training for patients with chronic neck pain: a randomised controlled trial. Eur Spine J 2018 Jun;27(6):1309-1323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00586-017-5323-0] [Medline: 29018956]
- 40. Scapin SQ, Echevarría-Guanilo ME, Fuculo PR, Martins JC, Barbosa MD, Pereima MJ. Use of virtual reality for treating burned children: case reports. Rev Bras Enferm 2017;70(6):1291-1295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/0034-7167-2016-0575] [Medline: 29160492]
- 41. Tanja-Dijkstra K, Pahl S, White MP, Andrade J, Qian C, Bruce M, et al. Improving dental experiences by using virtual reality distraction: a simulation study. PLoS One 2014;9(3):e91276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091276] [Medline: 24621518]
- 42. Hartanto D, Brinkman WP, Kampmann IL, Morina N, Emmelkamp PG, Neerincx MA. Home-Based Virtual Reality Exposure Therapy with Virtual Health Agent Support. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Pervasive Computing Paradigms for Mental Health. 2015 Presented at: MindCare'15; September 24-25, 2015; Milan, Italy p. 85-98 URL: <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-3-319-32270-4.pdf#page=92</u> [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-32270-4\_9]
- Hong YJ, Kim HE, Jung YH, Kyeong S, Kim J. Usefulness of the mobile virtual reality self-training for overcoming a fear of heights. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2017 Dec;20(12):753-761 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2017.0085] [Medline: 29211504]
- 44. Malbos E, Rapee RM, Kavakli M. A controlled study of agoraphobia and the independent effect of virtual reality exposure therapy. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2013 Feb;47(2):160-168. [doi: 10.1177/0004867412453626] [Medline: 22790176]
- 45. Meyerbroeker K, Morina N, Kerkhof GA, Emmelkamp P. Virtual reality exposure therapy does not provide any additional value in agoraphobic patients: a randomized controlled trial. Psychother Psychosom 2013;82(3):170-176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000342715] [Medline: 23548832]
- 46. Freeman D, Bradley J, Antley A, Bourke E, DeWeever N, Evans N, et al. Virtual reality in the treatment of persecutory delusions: randomised controlled experimental study testing how to reduce delusional conviction. Br J Psychiatry 2016 Jul;209(1):62-67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.115.176438] [Medline: 27151071]
- Maples-Keller JL, Price M, Jovanovic T, Norrholm SD, Odenat L, Post L, et al. Targeting memory reconsolidation to prevent the return of fear in patients with fear of flying. Depress Anxiety 2017 Jul;34(7):610-620 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/da.22626] [Medline: 28380277]
- Shiban Y, Peperkorn H, Alpers GW, Pauli P, Mühlberger A. Influence of perceptual cues and conceptual information on the activation and reduction of claustrophobic fear. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 2016 Jun;51:19-26. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbtep.2015.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>26687921</u>]

- 49. Freeman D, Haselton P, Freeman J, Spanlang B, Kishore S, Albery E, et al. Automated psychological therapy using immersive virtual reality for treatment of fear of heights: a single-blind, parallel-group, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Psychiatry 2018 Aug;5(8):625-632 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30226-8] [Medline: 30007519]
- 50. Cai H, Wang Z, Zhang Y, Chen Y, Bin H. A Virtual-Reality Based Neurofeedback Game Framework for Depression Rehabilitation using Pervasive Three-Electrode EEG Collector. In: Proceedings of the 12th Chinese Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing. 2017 Presented at: ChineseCSCW'17; September 22-23, 2017; Chongqing, China p. 173-176 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=3127433</u> [doi: <u>10.1145/3127404.3127433</u>]
- Hussain SA, Park T, Yildirim I, Xiang Z, Abbas F. Virtual-Reality Videos to Relieve Depression. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Virtual, Augmented and Mixed Reality. 2018 Presented at: VAMR'18; July 15-20, 2018; Las Vegas, FL, USA p. 77-85 URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4929408/</u> [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-91584-5\_6]
- 52. McLay RN, Baird A, Webb-Murphy J, Deal W, Tran L, Anson H, et al. A randomized, head-to-head study of virtual reality exposure therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2017 Apr;20(4):218-224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2016.0554] [Medline: 28394217]
- McLay R, Ram V, Murphy J, Spira J, Wood DP, Wiederhold MD, et al. Effect of virtual reality PTSD treatment on mood and neurocognitive outcomes. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2014 Jul;17(7):439-446 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2013.0383] [Medline: 24635120]
- 54. Reger GM, Koenen-Woods P, Zetocha K, Smolenski DJ, Holloway KM, Rothbaum BO, et al. Randomized controlled trial of prolonged exposure using imaginal exposure vs virtual reality exposure in active duty soldiers with deployment-related posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). J Consult Clin Psychol 2016 Nov;84(11):946-959 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000134] [Medline: 27606699]
- 55. Atherton S, Antley A, Evans N, Cernis E, Lister R, Dunn G, et al. Self-confidence and paranoia: an experimental study using an immersive virtual reality social situation. Behav Cogn Psychother 2016 Jan;44(1):56-64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1352465814000496] [Medline: 25384608]
- 56. Dietrichkeit M, Flint K, Krieger E, Grzella K, Nagel M, Moritz S. Two case studies from a virtual reality intervention for delusions: feasibility and preliminary evidence. Cogn Behav Ther 2018 Aug 1;11:e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/s1754470x18000090]
- 57. Cárdenas-López G, Torres-Villalobos G, Martinez P, Carreño V, Duran X, Dakanalis A, et al. Virtual reality for improving body image disorders and weight loss after gastric band surgery: a case series. Stud Health Technol Inform 2014;196:43-47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3233/978-1-61499-375-9-43] [Medline: 24732477]
- 58. Cárdenas-López G, Martinez P, Riva G, Duran-Baca X, Gonzalo T. Virtual Reality Environments as Auxiliaries in the Treatment of Obesity. In: Proceedings of the 2015 Virtual Reality International Conference. 2015 Presented at: VRIC'15; April 8-10, 2015; Laval, France URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2806175</u> [doi: 10.1145/2806173.2806175]
- Keizer A, van Elburg A, Helms R, Dijkerman HC. A virtual reality full body illusion improves body image disturbance in anorexia nervosa. PLoS One 2016;11(10):e0163921 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163921] [Medline: 27711234]
- 60. Marco JH, Perpiñá C, Botella C. Effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy supported by virtual reality in the treatment of body image in eating disorders: one year follow-up. Psychiatry Res 2013 Oct 30;209(3):619-625 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.02.023] [Medline: 23499231]
- 61. la Paglia F, la Cascia C, Rizzo R, Sanna M, Sideli L, Francomano A, et al. Virtual reality environments to rehabilitation attention deficits in schizophrenic patients. Ann Rev Psychother Telemed 2016;14:143-148 [FREE Full text]
- 62. Micarelli A, Viziano A, Augimeri I, Micarelli D, Alessandrini M. Three-dimensional head-mounted gaming task procedure maximizes effects of vestibular rehabilitation in unilateral vestibular hypofunction: a randomized controlled pilot trial. Int J Rehabil Res 2017 Dec;40(4):325-332. [doi: 10.1097/MRR.0000000000244] [Medline: 28723718]
- 63. Tabanfar R, Chan HH, Lin V, Le T, Irish JC. Development and face validation of a Virtual reality Epley maneuver system (VREMS) for home Epley treatment of benign paroxysmal positional vertigo: a randomized, controlled trial. Am J Otolaryngol 2018;39(2):184-191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amjoto.2017.11.006] [Medline: 29169952]
- 64. Malinvaud D, Londero A, Niarra R, Peignard P, Warusfel O, Viaud-Delmon I, et al. Auditory and visual 3D virtual reality therapy as a new treatment for chronic subjective tinnitus: results of a randomized controlled trial. Hear Res 2016 Mar;333:127-135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.heares.2015.12.023] [Medline: 26773752]
- 65. Peruzzi A, Cereatti A, Croce UD, Mirelman A. Effects of a virtual reality and treadmill training on gait of subjects with multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. Mult Scler Relat Disord 2016 Jan;5:91-96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2015.11.002] [Medline: 26856951]
- McCoy SW, Jirikowic T, Price R, Ciol MA, Hsu L, Dellon B, et al. Virtual sensorimotor balance training for children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: feasibility study. Phys Ther 2015 Nov;95(11):1569-1581 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2522/ptj.20150124] [Medline: 26112255]
- 67. Rose T, Nam CS, Chen KB. Immersion of virtual reality for rehabilitation review. Appl Ergon 2018 May;69:153-161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2018.01.009] [Medline: 29477323]

- 68. Quarles J. Shark Punch: A Virtual Reality Game for Aquatic Rehabilitation. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Virtual Reality. 2015 Presented at: VR'15; March 23-27, 2015; Arles, France p. 265-266 URL: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/7223397</u> [doi: 10.1109/vr.2015.7223452]
- 69. Lv Z. Bringing Immersive Enjoyment to Hyperbaric Oxygen Chamber Users Using Virtual Reality Glasses. In: Proceedings of the 3rd 2015 Workshop on ICTs for improving Patients Rehabilitation Research Techniques. 2015 Oct 01 Presented at: REHAB'15; October 1-2, 2015; Lisbon, Portugal p. 156-159 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2838982</u> [doi: 10.1145/2838944.2838982]
- 70. Hartnagel D, Taffou M, Sandor PM. Effects of Short Exposure to a Simulation in a Head-Mounted Device and the Individual Differences Issue. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction. 2017 Presented at: HCI'17; July 9-14, 2017; Vancouver, Canada p. 9-16 URL: <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/</u> 978-3-319-58753-0\_2#aboutcontent [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-58753-0\_2]
- Nalivaiko E, Davis SL, Blackmore KL, Vakulin A, Nesbitt KV. Cybersickness provoked by head-mounted display affects cutaneous vascular tone, heart rate and reaction time. Physiol Behav 2015 Nov 1;151:583-590 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.08.043] [Medline: 26340855]
- 72. Lahav O, Gedalevitz H, Battersby S, Brown D, Evett L, Merritt P. Virtual environment navigation with look-around mode to explore new real spaces by people who are blind. Disabil Rehabil 2018 May;40(9):1072-1084 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2017.1286391] [Medline: 28637136]
- Lahav O, Schloerb DW, Srinivasan MA. Rehabilitation program integrating virtual environment to improve orientation and mobility skills for people who are blind. Comput Educ 2015 Jan 1;80:1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2014.08.003] [Medline: 25284952]

# Abbreviations

DOF: degrees of freedom FASD: Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder HMD: head-mounted display IVR: immersive virtual reality PTSD: posttraumatic stress disorder SAD: social anxiety disorder VR: virtual reality

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.06.19; peer-reviewed by J Salisbury, A Aminbeidokhti, T Muto; comments to author 24.07.19; revised version received 13.08.19; accepted 18.08.19; published 26.09.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Snoswell AJ, Snoswell CL Immersive Virtual Reality in Health Care: Systematic Review of Technology and Disease States JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e15025 URL: <u>https://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e15025</u> doi:<u>10.2196/15025</u> PMID:

©Aaron J Snoswell, Centaine L Snoswell. Originally published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering (http://biomedeng.jmir.org), 26.09.2019 This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://biomedeng.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

Automatic Near Real-Time Outlier Detection and Correction in Cardiac Interbeat Interval Series for Heart Rate Variability Analysis: Singular Spectrum Analysis-Based Approach

# Michael Lang<sup>1</sup>, MSc

Graduate School of Excellence Computational Engineering, Technische Universität Darmstadt, Darmstadt, Germany

**Corresponding Author:** Michael Lang, MSc Graduate School of Excellence Computational Engineering Technische Universität Darmstadt Dolivostraße 15 Darmstadt, 64293 Germany Phone: 49 61511624401 Fax: 49 61511624404 Email: <u>michael.lang@ieee.org</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Heart rate variability (HRV) is derived from the series of R-R intervals extracted from an electrocardiographic (ECG) measurement. Ideally all components of the R-R series are the result of sinoatrial node depolarization. However, the actual R-R series are contaminated by outliers due to heart rhythm disturbances such as ectopic beats, which ought to be detected and corrected appropriately before HRV analysis.

**Objective:** We have introduced a novel, lightweight, and near real-time method to detect and correct anomalies in the R-R series based on the singular spectrum analysis (SSA). This study aimed to assess the performance of the proposed method in terms of (1) detection performance (sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy); (2) root mean square error (RMSE) between the actual N-N series and the approximated outlier-cleaned R-R series; and (3) how it benchmarks against a competitor in terms of the relative RMSE.

**Methods:** A lightweight SSA-based change-point detection procedure, improved through the use of a cumulative sum control chart with adaptive thresholds to reduce detection delays, monitored the series of R-R intervals in real time. Upon detection of an anomaly, the corrupted segment was substituted with the respective outlier-cleaned approximation obtained using recurrent SSA forecasting. Next, N-N intervals from a 5-minute ECG segment were extracted from each of the 18 records in the MIT-BIH Normal Sinus Rhythm Database. Then, for each such series, a number (randomly drawn integer between 1 and 6) of simulated ectopic beats were inserted at random positions within the series and results were averaged over 1000 Monte Carlo runs. Accordingly, 18,000 R-R records corresponding to 5-minute ECG segments were used to assess the detection performance whereas another 180,000 (10,000 for each record) were used to assess the error introduced in the correction step. Overall 198,000 R-R series were used in this study.

**Results:** The proposed SSA-based algorithm reliably detected outliers in the R-R series and achieved an overall sensitivity of 96.6%, specificity of 98.4% and accuracy of 98.4%. Furthermore, it compared favorably in terms of discrepancies of the cleaned R-R series compared with the actual N-N series, outperforming an established correction method on average by almost 30%.

**Conclusions:** The proposed algorithm, which leverages the power and versatility of the SSA to both automatically detect and correct artifacts in the R-R series, provides an effective and efficient complementary method and a potential alternative to the current manual-editing gold standard. Other important characteristics of the proposed method include the ability to operate in near real-time, the almost entirely model-free nature of the framework which does not require historical training data, and its overall low computational complexity.

(JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e10740) doi:10.2196/10740

# **KEYWORDS**

change-point detection; cumulative sum; forecasting; heart rate variability; R-R series; singular spectrum analysis; ventricular premature complexes

# Introduction

# **Background on Heart Rate Variability**

Oscillations in the time interval between successive heart beats, referred to as heart rate variability (HRV), have long been known to allow for insight into the intricate control mechanisms of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) [1-4]. Accordingly, research into HRV has attracted considerable attention over the past 4 decades, as evidenced by an exponential growth of published work [5,6].

In a nutshell, heart rhythm and rate can be said to be governed by the 2 competing divisions of the ANS, that is, the sympathetic nervous system and the parasympathetic nervous system. An increased sympathetic input to the sinoatrial (SA) node yields an increase in heart rate (HR) mediated by the release of adrenaline and noradrenaline and the subsequent activation of  $\beta$ -1-adrenoceptors, resulting in an accelerated diastolic depolarization. On the other hand, an increase in the parasympathetic outflow decreases the HR through the release of acetylcholine by the vagus nerve, which binds to and activates M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in the SA node and eventually slows down the diastolic depolarization rate [4,7-9].

Various HRV measures have been established and are usually categorized as either time domain, frequency domain, or nonlinear analysis techniques [2,4]. To a large extent, the popularity of HRV is because of its easy acquisition and seemingly straightforward interpretation.

# The Necessity of Preprocessing the R-R Series

It is crucial to realize that by virtue of its very definition, the HRV encompasses only oscillatory phenomena between heart beats resulting from the SA node depolarization [4,10]. While, ideally, all components of an R-R series originate from the SA node, the actual R-R series in both healthy and diseased subjects are contaminated by outliers due to artifacts and heart rhythm disturbances such as ectopic beats (ie, heart beats whose origin is outside of the SA node). Thus arises the necessity to ensure that the HRV analysis is performed on a series representing only the actual normal sinus rhythm (NSR) interbeat intervals, commonly referred to as N-N series (as in normal-to-normal).

The detrimental impact of ectopics on HRV measures is pronounced and well-documented [6,11-17]. In a recent study Stapelberg et al [18] examined the sensitivity of 38 time domain, frequency domain and nonlinear HRV measures to the addition of artifacts in real and artificial 24-hour recordings. In accordance with previous findings, they concluded short-term time domain HRV measures to be more sensitive to the presence of artifacts than their long-term counterparts. Furthermore, frequency domain measures were found to generally be more sensitive than time domain measures, whereas the less commonly used nonlinear measures were shown to exhibit some inherent robustness properties. Ectopic heart beats are ubiquitous phenomena and not limited to patients with cardiac disorders and diseases. Hingorani et al [19] retrospectively examined the prevalence of cardiac arrhythmias by scrutinizing 24-hour Holter recordings of 1273 healthy volunteers from 22 phase I clinical trials; note that this specific population is not a representative sample of the overall population. The sample was heavily biased in that, consistent with the requirements of phase I clinical trials, subjects were extensively screened by history, physical examination, and laboratory tests and were therefore significantly healthier than the overall population. Crucially, all subjects underwent 12-lead pretrial electrocardiography (ECG) and were excluded if they had any cardiac conduction disorder or disease, including a personal or familiar history thereof. Those exhibiting  $\geq 2$ consecutive ectopics as well as bigeminy, trigeminy and quadrigeminy in their 12-lead ECG examination were also excluded. Despite these rigorous exclusion criteria, Hingorani et al [19], among other findings, found premature atrial complexes in 60.8% of the examined Holter records, followed by premature ventricular complexes (PVCs), which were observed in 43.4% of healthy volunteers. While multifocal PVCs occurred in 5.3%, 3.3% exhibited >200 PVCs per 24-hour ECG recordings. A relatively high prevalence of occasional ectopic beats has been reported by numerous other authors as well both in healthy and diseased subjects [20-23].

In summary, the detection and correction of ectopic beats in tachograms are not merely imperative for formal consistency with the HRV definition but arises from the impact of ectopics on HRV measures and the general prevalence of ectopics.

#### **Prior Work and State-of-the-Art**

Compared with the overall research interest directed toward HRV applications, the crucial issue of the discrepancy between most real-world R-R series and their respective N-N series has arguably not received as much attention. The actual gold standard of manual R-R series editing, advocated for in the field's relevant guideline by the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology Task Force [4], remains unaltered to this day [11,24].

It should be noted that, aiding and abetting the aforementioned exponential growth of the HRV-related (applied) research, a number of well-designed and widely used software packages for the HRV analysis have been developed and made available to the general public; these include, but are not limited to, Kubios [25,26], Nevrokard's aHRV [27], and others [28-30]. More often than not, these commercial software packages tend to be closed source and therefore provide only a limited benefit to algorithm developers. On the other hand, it ought to be acknowledged that they are well suited for the needs of practitioners, as they combine advanced preprocessing and analysis features, intuitive graphical interfaces, and support for various file formats.

XSL•FC RenderX

In automated approaches the task of the detection and correction of outliers is usually tackled as a two-step process.

First, outliers in the R-R tachogram are detected, usually by straightforward thresholding based on a fixed percentage difference to previous intervals or their SD [31], although some more sophisticated methods have also been proposed [12].

Second, the detected (regions of) artifacts from step 1 are either discarded (thereby reducing the effective length of the tachogram), substituted by preceding uncorrupted intervals or by intervals obtained through interpolation, with linear and cubic spline interpolation being the most popular techniques [11].

# **Objective of This Work**

The objective of this study was to introduce a general framework of low computational complexity that allows for an automatic near real-time detection and correction of outliers in the R-R series based on the singular spectrum analysis (SSA). The main novel contributions of this work include (1) the application of a recently proposed model-free lightweight SSA change-point detection (I-SSA-CPD) algorithm [32]; (2) a modification of I-SSA-CPD through the use of an adaptive control limit sequential ranks (AC-SRC) control chart [33] to drastically reduce detection delays; and (3) upon detection of an anomaly, the substitution of the corrupted tachogram segment by an approximation obtained through recurrent SSA forecasting based on a small outlier-free tachogram segment.

An extensive simulation study comprising 198,000 5-minute long R-R series, obtained by randomly inserting varying amounts of simulated ectopic beats in records taken from the MIT-BIH Normal Sinus Rhythm Database (NSRDB), is conducted to assess the artifact detection and correction performance of the proposed algorithm.

# Fundamentals of Basic Univariate Singular Spectrum Analysis and Singular Spectrum Analysis Based Change-Point Detection

Recently, this author proposed a low-complexity model-free approach based on SSA and nonparametric cumulative sum (CUSUM) control charts for real-time cardiac anomaly detection, referred to as I-SSA-CPD [32]. It was shown that I-SSA-CPD reliably detects anomalies even when directly applied to unprocessed (ie, no preprocessing was performed) raw ECG and photoplethysmographic records from common databases publicly available through Physiobank [34].

In this study, modifications to the original I-SSA-CPD algorithm will be introduced, and its capabilities will be expanded by adding a recurrent forecasting feature to generate appropriate substitutes of the corrupted tachogram entries. First, however, a brief restatement of SSA and I-SSA-CPD [32] is required.

# Basic Singular Spectrum Analysis Algorithm

SSA is a powerful technique of time series analysis owing much of its appeal to an inherent model-free concept combining elements of conventional time series analysis, multivariate geometry and statistics, and signal processing [35]. The univariate basic SSA can be considered as the application of

https://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e10740/

the principal component analysis to the Hankel matrix (obtained through an embedding of the original univariate time series) with the subsequent attempt to reconstruct the original series.

Consider *N* observations  $|\mathbf{x}| = (x_1, ..., x_N)$  of a univariate time series and a lag-integer or embedding dimension *M* (1 < M < < N) also commonly referred to as the window length. The basic SSA algorithm then encompasses the following 4 steps:

1. Embedding 
$$\mathbf{x} = (x_1, ..., x_N \to \mathbf{X} \in \mathbb{A} \times K)$$

A trajectory matrix X is constructed by mapping  $|\mathbf{x}|$  into a sequence of K = N - M + 1 lagged column vectors  $X_j = (x_j, ..., x_j)^T$  is a sequence of K = K of size M scielding.

 $(x_{j+M-1})^T$ , j = 1, ..., K of size M, yielding

×

X is called a Hankel matrix because of its characteristic of having equal elements on the antidiagonals. One can think of X as multivariate data with *M* characteristics and *K* observations and accordingly  $X_j$  of X as column vectors in the *M*-dimensional space <sup>*M*</sup>.

2. Singular Value Decomposition of X

Taking the singular value decomposition (SVD) of X decomposes the trajectory matrix into its orthogonal bases and yields a set of M eigenvalues and eigenvectors. Let the eigenvalues of  $XX^T$  be  $\lambda_1 \ge \dots \ge \lambda_M \ge 0$  and  $U_1, \dots, U_M$  be the respective eigenvectors. Then, with  $d = \max(i, \text{ such that } \lambda_i > 0)$  denoting the rank of X, the SVD of X can be expressed as the sum of d elementary matrices

x
-
_

with rank 1 matrices  $\boxtimes$  and  $\boxtimes$  being the eigenvectors of  $X^T X$ . Accordingly, the decomposition in Equation (2) is completely

characterized by the set of so-called "eigentriples" 🔳.

Note that owing to the symmetry of left and right singular vectors, the SVDs of X with lag M and K = N - M + 1 are equivalent, entailing the lack of any additional benefit from the use of larger embedding dimensions M > N / 2 [32,35-39].

### 3. Eigentriple Grouping

Consider the task of extracting a particular component or signal of interest from observed data contaminated by various artifacts such as noise. To do so, during the third stage of the basic SSA, disjoint subsets of indices  $\{1, ..., d\}$  are determined such that the respective systems of eigenvectors span the subspaces associated with those signal components.

In the example of aiming at the separation of a signal from unwanted noise and other disturbances, this entails determining an appropriate subset of indices  $I = \{i_1, ..., i_l\}, l < d \le M$  that span an *l*-dimensional subspace in <sup>M</sup>, denoted as  $_I \subset {}^M = span$  $\{U_I\} = span \{U_{i_I}, ..., U_{i_l}\}$ , representing the signal whereas the

XSL•FO RenderX
remaining eigentriples with  $\overline{I} = \{i_1, ..., i_d\} / I$  are said to span the noise subspace  $\overline{I} \subset {}^M = span \{U_{\overline{I}}\}.$ 

The trajectory matrix component  $X_I$  corresponding to the subset I of eigentriples associated with the signal of interest is then

×

and the component  $X_{\bar{I}}$  corresponding to the subset  $\bar{I} = \{i_1, ..., i_d\}$  *I* associated with the remainder of the observed signal is

×

such that the overall SVD of X can be rewritten as

	×	
L	_	

In the case of separability (see, eg, [36] at 17), the contribution of  $X_I$  to the entire observed signal X is represented by the

respective share of eigenvalues

4. Diagonal Averaging

For perfectly separable signal components, all matrices in the expansion of Equation (5) are Hankel matrices, which require that they all have equal entries on their antidiagonals. In real-world problems, however, perfect separability is rarely achievable. While an approximate separability usually suffices, the final fourth step in the SSA algorithm is required, as the matrices  $X_i$  from step 3 would have unequal entries on their antidiagonals. Thus, the Hankelization of all  $X_i$  is performed, that is, the compliance with the Hankel structure is enforced by taking the average of each antidiagonal and then replacing each element of that antidiagonal with the determined average. This yields

<b>v</b>
^
_

with 🗵 being the diagonally averaged matrices.

One can then, for example, easily reconstruct the approximation of the signal of interest through the eigentriples with indices I through the one-to-one correspondence between  $\square$  and the respective time series  $\square$  which provides an approximation of either the entire time series  $\square$  or some components of it, depending on the particular choice of indices I.

## Singular Spectrum Analysis Based Change-Point Detection Rationale

The sequential application of SSA for change detection is based on Moskvina and Zhigljavsky [40] (see [39] for an exhaustive discussion; see also [35] for an earlier account of the basic idea). The rationale is to slide 2 (possibly intersecting) moving windows over the time series and to apply the first 3 stages of the basic SSA each time. Think of the first window as adaptively generating a low-dimensional base subspace representation (capturing the main structure in the series) and the second window, which contains at least M new data samples, as

```
https://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e10740/
```

generating a test subspace. As both windows are slid over the series, some sort of distance between the base and the test subspace is monitored. If no change-point occurs, the distance remains small, whereas it spikes in the presence of a sudden significant change in the main structure of the series.

The algorithm by Moskvina and Zhigljavsky has been successfully applied to various change detection problems and some improved variations of it have been presented as well (see [32] for a detailed background). Computational complexity, however, ought to be acknowledged as a potentially significant limitation of the said algorithm. Recently, 1-SSA-CPD [32] has been proposed as a lightweight alternative. Contrary to the algorithm by Moskvina and Zhigljavsky, which recalculates the SVD of 2 sliding windows each time new observations become available, I-SSA-CPD relies on a nominal low-dimensional signal subspace representation computed only once at startup. As new observations become available, I-SSA-CPD simply allocates them into a vector and calculates a test statistic based on the squared Euclidean distance and the angle between this new data vector and the previously determined nominal reference subspace.

#### Singular Spectrum Analysis Parameter Selection

The behavior of SSA is largely determined by 2 tuning parameters, namely the window length M and the number l of eigenvalues to be used in the embedding and grouping steps, respectively. While it is undisputed that the successful application of SSA hinges on an appropriate choice of M and l, practitioners are faced with the nuisance that no clear-cut rules as to how they ought to be determined exist.

For a series of length *N* and window length (or embedding dimension) 1 < M < N, as previously discussed, there is no additional benefit from using M > N / 2 (see, eg, [35] at 69 and[36] at 47). It is widely acknowledged that as the appropriate window length *M* depends on both the underlying data and the particular application, no universal rule for determining it exists [35-39]. General recommendations vary between M N / 4 [37] and M N / 2 [35,36]. In the case of a periodic signal with period *T*, it is important for *M* to be, at least, equal to *T* for the SSA to capture the main structure of the series. Furthermore, *M* should be proportional to *T* [35,36,38]. Of note, small windows act like a smoothing filter of width 2M - 1 [36].

Similarly, it is well known that selecting a proper l is also crucial, for issues are known to arise when eigentriple grouping comprises either an insufficient or an excessive number of eigenvalues. More specifically, if l is too small, the SSA is unable to capture the entire signal whereas if it is too large noise components are unwittingly captured. Since the contribution of a particular series component (associated with the corresponding eigentriple) to the entire series is proportional to the respective eigenvalue, it is common practice to select l by identifying the leading eigenvalues through visual inspection of the eigenvalue spectra or by setting a predefined eigenvalue share (see, eg, [35,36,38] for a more exhaustive discussion).

In addition to the above-referred monographs, interested readers are also referred to some fairly recent contributions by Hassani et al [41] and Khan and Poskitt [42,43], which approach the

XSL•FO RenderX

issue through the concept of separability and information theory, respectively.

In the light of the pragmatic suboptimal approach pursued here, a detailed discussion of the SSA parameter selection is, however, beyond the scope of this study and therefore omitted.

## Methods

## The Proposed Outlier Detection and Correction Framework

The proposed framework consisted of 2 separate stages, namely the detection and the correction of outlier corrupted segments of the tachogram.

## Outlier Detection Using Lightweight Singular Spectrum Analysis Change-Point Detection and Adaptive Control Limit Sequential Ranks Control Charts

Let *M*, *N*, *l*, *p*, *q* be fixed integers such that l < M < N / 2 and  $0 \le p < q$ . Then 1-SSA-CPD proceeds as follows:

1. Initialization at n = 0

Akin to MZ, the first 3 steps of the basic SSA are applied on the interval [n + 1, n + N] to obtain a low-dimensional nominal subspace  $_I = _I^{(n=0)}$  which captures the main structure of the series. This involves embedding as in Equation (1) to obtain a trajectory matrix, which, hereafter, we refer to as the base matrix  $X_B = X_B^{(0)} = X_B^{(n=0)}$ , taking the SVD of  $X_B$  and obtaining  $_I$ through an appropriate choice of  $I = \{i_1, ..., i_l\}, l < d \le M$  with d= max (*i*, such that  $\lambda_i > 0$ ).

- 2. Then, for each n = 0, 1, ... l-SSA-CPD proceeds as follows:
- Construction of a test matrix  $X_T^{(n)}$  on the interval [n + p + 1, n + q + M 1] as

×	
_	

• Computation of the detection statistic  $D_{n,I,p,q}$  as

with

RenderX

×
×

and with the angle  $\angle (X_T^{(n)}, l)$  taking values in  $[0, \pi / 2]$  and accordingly  $\boxtimes X_j^{(n)} = [x_{n+j}, ..., x_{n+j+M-1}]^T$  are the column vectors of  $X_T^{(n)}$  whereas  $U_I = [U_{i_1}, ..., U_{i_l}]$  denotes the  $M \times l$ matrix of eigenvectors spanning l and ° denotes the Hadamard (or element-wise) product. Note that throughout this study, p =N, q = N + 1 is used, that is, the width  $Q = q \times p$  of the test matrices  $X_T^{(n)}$  used always equals 1. In other words, each test matrix is actually a single column vector containing M new observations. Q = 1 is primarily chosen to allow for an agile response time and to minimize the computational burden [32].

• Monitoring of  $D_{n,I,p,q}$  using the AC-SRC Control Chart

To reduce detection delays, instead of the sequential ranks CUSUM (SRC) by McDonald [44], as used in the conventional 1-SSA-CPD [32], a sequential ranks-based CUSUM with adaptive control limits referred to as AC-SRC [33] is used. AC-SRC is inspired by a distribution-free CUSUM proposed by Chatterjee and Qiu [45] where instead of a fixed threshold a sequence of control limits, determined by the bootstrap estimate of the conditional distribution of the CUSUM test statistic given the last time it was zero, is used. AC-SRC carries the approach of Chatterjee and Qiu over to McDonald's SRC; the main advantage of the SRC (which is that it does not require training data and control limits can thus easily be determined in advance, eg, through Monte Carlo simulations) is retained while detection delays are significantly reduced because of the use of an adaptive sequence of control limits. Furthermore, owing to a trade-off favoring the lower computational burden and simplicity over the optimal performance, AC-SRC lacks some of the refined fine-tuning routines used in the Chatterjee and Qiu method. The author refrains from a detailed discussion of AC-SRC and refers the interested reader to previous studies [33,45].

Let the sequential rank of  $D_{n,I,p,q}$  be denoted as

×

The AC-SRC then starts with the same recursive equation as the SRC, ie,

- 64	_	_	

with  $C_0 = 0$  and k a reference constant. Let  $T_n$  denote the so-called "sprint length" expressing the time elapsed since  $C_n$  was last 0, ie,

1		
	1 X I	
	1.55	

Furthermore, let  $Y_i$  be a random variable with distribution



Chatterjee and Qiu showed that the conditional distributions of  $C_n |T_n|$  in Equation (11) are easier to handle than the unconditional distribution of  $C_n$  and under some regularity conditions (see [45] and references therein for details), depend only on *j* and the underlying process generating distribution, but not on *n*. Then, for any positive integer  $j_{\text{max}} \leq n$ , the distribution of  $C_n$  can be approximated by means of the conditional distributions in Equation (11) as

with  $Y^* \sim C_n |T_n > j_{\text{max}}$  and *I* being the indicator function.

×

It can be shown that [44], given the observed process is in-control, the quantities  $R_n / (n + 1)$  in Equation (10) are independent and discrete uniform on  $\boxed{\times}$ . Herein lies the key advantage of AC-SRC, in that for some fixed  $j_{\text{max}}$  and k one can

determine a sequence of control limits  $\square$  from

г			1
L	>	c	L
L			L

with  $\bowtie$  representing a simulation of Equation (10) for up to some  $N_{\text{AC-SRC}}$  wherein the quantities  $R_n / (n + 1)$  are substituted by the set of random variables  $\bowtie$  as discrete uniform on  $\bowtie$ . The sequence of control limits  $\bowtie$  can then easily and without the need for training data samples be determined by means of Monte Carlo simulations as outlined elsewhere [33].

The AC-SRC signals a change to have occurred if

	• 0
or	1Ť

×

To limit the computational burden, it is recommended to calculate control limits only up to a reasonably small  $j_{max}$  after which the control limit is kept fixed at  $h_{AC-SRC_{j_{max}}}$ . In addition, following recommendations by Chatterjee and Qiu, the reference constant k is set proportionate to the expected average sprint length  $E \{T_n\}$ . Throughout this work, k was empirically calibrated such that  $\square$ , whereas the average run length (ARL) was set to a nominal ARL<sub>0</sub>=500. A detailed discussion as to the empirical calibration of control charts would, however, be beyond the scope of this work [33]. Note that as k increases, accordingly  $j_{max}$  decreases  $E\{T_n\}$ , that is, the likelihood of  $C_n$  bouncing back to 0 increases [33,45]. For the particular use case examined here, the use of a small  $j_{max}$  to allow for agile change

detection is recommended (see Tables 1-4 and the respective discussion in the next section).

Finally, as with the SRC in the conventional 1-SSA-CPD algorithm, the control chart is reinitialized after a change has been detected (by setting  $C_n=0$  and  $T_n=0$ ) to allow for the detection of multiple and potentially nearby change-points [32].

Monitoring of the 1-SSA-CPD test statistic  $D_{n,I,p,q}$  with N=20, M=10 by means of AC-SRC with  $j_{max}=8$ ,  $E\{T_n\}=6$  is showcased on a 5-minute tachogram excerpt of record 16,273 MIT-BIH NSRDB artificially contaminated with 2 and 8 ectopics in Figures 1 and 2, respectively. Note the remarkably low detection delay due to the use of AC-SRC.

## Outlier Correction Using Recurrent Singular Spectrum Analysis Forecasting

Once an outlier has been detected at say  $n=\tau$ , accounting for the inherent detection delay and accordingly an uncertainty as to the exact outlier location, the interval  $[\tau - \Delta_1, \tau]$ , is designated as corrupted tachogram segment. Note that  $\Delta_1$  depends on the (average) detection delay and should be chosen carefully. However, it need not be exact or otherwise optimal. Then, a second interval of length  $\Delta_2$  immediately preceding the corrupted one is used to obtain an anomaly-free forecast to substitute the corrupted segment with.

The rationale of the proposed framework is depicted in Figure 3, with green and yellow rectangles representing the designated uncorrupted and corrupted segments and the detected change highlighted in red.

As the proposed method operates sequentially as new observations arrive, an appropriate uncontaminated data segment (either uncorrupted to begin with or previously cleaned) to serve as a basis for forecasting is always available. While it may be beneficial to use large values for  $\Delta_2$  (assuming sufficient past observations were available), keeping  $\Delta_1$ ,  $\Delta_2$  as small as possible is recommended; as doing so allows for near real-time operation and significantly reduces the computational burden. For the purpose of this study, simplicity was prioritized over (more often than not unnecessary) optimality.



**Table 1.** Detection performance of adaptive control limit sequential ranks with  $j_{max}=6$  and lightweight singular spectrum analysis change-point detection with N=20, M=10, Q=1, 75% of leading eigentriples.

Record	Sensitivity	Specificity	Accuracy
16,265	0.9712	0.9827	0.9825
16,272	0.9415	0.9802	0.9794
16,273	0.9905	0.9910	0.9909
16,420	0.9771	0.9778	0.9777
16,483	0.9953	0.9846	0.9846
16,539	0.9326	0.9878	0.9870
16,773	0.9692	0.9832	0.9829
16,786	0.9722	0.9758	0.9755
16,795	0.8800	0.9922	0.9905
17,052	0.9521	0.9830	0.9825
17,453	0.9768	0.9904	0.9902
18,177	0.9549	0.9757	0.9754
18,184	0.9719	0.9805	0.9803
19,088	0.9711	0.9917	0.9914
19,090	0.9900	0.9745	0.9745
19,093	0.9744	0.9837	0.9834
19,140	0.9689	0.9920	0.9917
19,830	0.9948	0.9909	0.9909

**Table 2.** Detection performance of adaptive control limit sequential ranks with  $j_{max}$ =8 and lightweight singular spectrum analysis change-point detection with N=20, M=10, Q=1, 75% of leading eigentriples.

~~~~			
Record	Sensitivity	Specificity	Accuracy
16,265	0.9335	0.9860	0.9854
16,272	0.8595	0.9850	0.9828
16,273	0.9199	0.9922	0.9913
16,420	0.9141	0.9810	0.9803
16,483	0.9569	0.9893	0.9888
16,539	0.7494	0.9889	0.9863
16,773	0.8781	0.9858	0.9844
16,786	0.9038	0.9779	0.9767
16,795	0.7210	0.9936	0.9897
17,052	0.8259	0.9851	0.9829
17,453	0.9013	0.9933	0.9921
18,177	0.8101	0.9785	0.9771
18,184	0.8508	0.9833	0.9819
19,088	0.8667	0.9924	0.9910
19,090	0.9403	0.9793	0.9789
19,093	0.8920	0.9869	0.9854
19,140	0.8796	0.9946	0.9933
19,830	0.9510	0.9945	0.9941

XSL•FO RenderX

**Table 3.** Detection performance of adaptive control limit sequential ranks with  $j_{max}=12$  and lightweight singular spectrum analysis change-point detection with N=20, M=10, Q=1, 75% of leading eigentriples.

Record	Sensitivity	Specificity	Accuracy
16,265	0.8816	0.9875	0.9864
16,272	0.8240	0.9871	0.9844
16,273	0.8710	0.9940	0.9925
16,420	0.8741	0.9850	0.9839
16,483	0.8990	0.9900	0.9889
16,539	0.7218	0.9908	0.9879
16,773	0.8202	0.9871	0.9850
16,786	0.8421	0.9814	0.9794
16,795	0.6619	0.9943	0.9898
17,052	0.7753	0.9893	0.9865
17,453	0.8450	0.9939	0.9921
18,177	0.7539	0.9824	0.9805
18,184	0.7952	0.9853	0.9832
19,088	0.8030	0.9930	0.9909
19,090	0.8869	0.9824	0.9814
19,093	0.8379	0.9892	0.9869
19,140	0.8004	0.9951	0.9931
19,830	0.9063	0.9948	0.9939

Table 4.	Detection p	erformance	of adaptive	control li	mit sequential	ranks wi	th <i>j<sub>max</sub>=</i> 16	and light	weight	singular	spectrum	analysis	change	-point
detection	with N=20, 1	M=10, Q=1,	75% of lead	ling eigen	triples.									

Record	Sensitivity	Specificity	Accuracy
16,265	0.8623	0.9878	0.9866
16,272	0.7947	0.9885	0.9854
16,273	0.8774	0.9942	0.9929
16,420	0.8585	0.9851	0.9838
16,483	0.8950	0.9904	0.9893
16,539	0.7260	0.9920	0.9890
16,773	0.7951	0.9880	0.9857
16,786	0.8022	0.9814	0.9790
16,795	0.6913	0.9941	0.9900
17,052	0.7866	0.9905	0.9881
17,453	0.8176	0.9951	0.9932
18,177	0.7644	0.9841	0.9823
18,184	0.7846	0.9866	0.9847
19,088	0.8119	0.9936	0.9917
19,090	0.8733	0.9837	0.9827
19,093	0.8299	0.9898	0.9875
19,140	0.7949	0.9953	0.9934
19,830	0.8979	0.9952	0.9944



XSL•FO RenderX

**Figure 1.** Adaptive control limits sequential ranks cumulative sum (AC-SRC) monitoring with  $j_{max}=8$ ,  $E\{T_n\}=6$ , ARL<sub>0</sub>=500 of  $D_{n,I,p,q}$  with N=20, M=10, Q=1, 75% of leading eigentriples (top) for a 5-minute tachogram excerpt of record 16273 MIT-BIH Normal Sinus Rhythm Database (NSRDB) with 2 artificially inserted ectopics (bottom).



**Figure 2.** Adaptive control limits sequential ranks cumulative sum (AC-SRC) monitoring with  $j_{max}$ =8, E { $T_n$ }=6, ARL<sub>0</sub>=500 of  $D_{n,I,p,q}$  with N=20, M=10, Q=1, 75% of leading eigentriples (top) for a 5-minute tachogram excerpt of record 16273 MIT-BIH Normal Sinus Rhythm Database (NSRDB) with 8 artificially inserted ectopics (bottom).





Figure 3. Schematic depiction of the proposed R-R series outlier detection and correction framework. Adaptive control limits sequential ranks cumulative sum with low detection delay is used to monitor lightweight singular spectrum analysis (SSA) change-point detection's test statistic; when it signals (red vertical bar), a segment of length  $\Delta 1$  immediately preceding the detection is labeled as being corrupted (yellow rectangle) and a larger, yet still reasonably small segment of length  $\Delta 2$  (green rectangle) is used to construct a trajectory matrix for the recurrent SSA forecasting which eventually yields a short-term SSA forecast of length  $\Delta 1$  which the corrupted segment is then substituted with.



Time series forecasting plays a crucial role in many scientific fields and arguably also represents one of the most popular (real-world) application areas of the SSA. Note that there exist different approaches for SSA forecasting [46], most notably recurrent and vector forecasting. Refraining from any detailed discussion (see [35-38] for excellent monographs on the subject matter), the recurrent SSA forecasting approach used in this study will briefly be outlined. As with other more advanced capabilities that go beyond the realm of basic SSA, forecasting and missing value imputation (note that the 2 are closely related with the latter being the more general problem incorporating forecasting as a special case) in a way sacrifice some of the model-free beauty and appeal of SSA by invoking certain model assumptions. On the other hand, this appears to be outweighed by the successful application of SSA forecasting in numerous areas [47-52]. Furthermore, Golyandina and Zhigljavsky [36] point out that for short-term forecasts, there is actually only very little use of the imposed model, that is, the series approximately satisfy some linear recurrent formulas.

Consider again a univariate time series  $|\mathbf{x}| = (x_1, ..., x_N)$  of length N, a fixed embedding dimension M (1 < M < < N) and the respective trajectory matrix  $\mathbf{X} = [\mathbf{X}_1, ..., \mathbf{X}_K$  with K = N - M + 1 as in Equation (1). Let  $_r \subset ^M$  be a linear space of dimension r < M and  $U_1, ..., U_r$  (ie, the eigenvectors obtained through the SVD of X) be an orthonormal basis in  $_r$ . Furthermore, let  $|\mathbf{x}|$ , that is,  $|\mathbf{x}|$  is the orthogonal projection of the column vector  $\mathbf{X}_i$  of X onto  $_r$ , and its Hankelized counterpart  $|\mathbf{x}|$  be the trajectory matrix corresponding to the time series  $|\mathbf{x}|$ . In addition, given a vector  $Y = (y_1, ..., y_M)^T \in ^M$ , let  $Y^{\nabla} \in ^{M-1}$  denote the vector consisting of the first M - 1 components of Y and similarly  $Y \Delta \in ^{M-1}$  the vector consisting of the last M - 1 components of

*Y*. Set  $v^2 = \pi_1^2 + \dots + \pi_r^2$  where  $\pi_i|_i=1, \dots, r$  denotes the last component of the eigenvector  $U_i$ . Assuming  $_M = (0, 0, \dots, 0, 1)^T \notin _r$  (ie,  $_r$  not to be a vertical space),  $v^2$  represents the squared cosine of the angle between  $_M$  and  $_r$  and  $v^2 < 1$  holds. The last component  $y_M$  of any vector  $Y = (y_1, \dots, y_M)^T \in _r$  can then be shown to be a linear combination of its first M - 1 components  $y_1, \dots, y_{M-1}$  (ie, of  $Y^{\nabla}$ )

with vector  $A = (a_1, ..., \alpha_{M-1})^T$  being

×

Note that the representation in Equation (15) does not depend on the choice of the basis  $U_1, ..., U_r$  in r.

With the required notation now having been introduced, the time series  $\square$  can be defined as

1	
	X

with  $\bowtie$  being the reconstructed series as in basic SSA and  $y_N$ <sub>+1</sub>, ...,  $y_{N+N_F}$  the recurrent SSA forecast of length  $N_F$ .

Two examples of the automatic detection and correction of outliers using the method proposed in this study are shown in Figures 4 and 5 and compared with the benchmark approach of replacing the corrupted segment with an immediately preceding block of R-R data, referred to as block replacement [28]. Note how in both cases, while all outliers have been detected and corrected, there are ectopic-free segments of tachogram which have also been corrected because of false alarms.

https://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e10740/

**Figure 4.** Ectopic beats detected on a 5-minute tachogram excerpt of record 19093 MIT-BIH Normal Sinus Rhythm Database (NSRDB) with 6 artificially inserted ectopics using lightweight SSA change-point detection with N=20, M=10, Q=1, 75% of leading eigentriples and adaptive control limits sequential ranks cumulative sum with  $j_{max}=6$ ,  $E\{T_n\}=4$ , ARL<sub>0</sub>=500 are corrected by means of the proposed method with  $\Delta_1=M$ ,  $\Delta_2=N$  (top) or by replacing the corrupted segment of length  $\Delta_1$  with the immediately preceding block of equal length (bottom).



**Figure 5.** Ectopic beats detected on a 5-minute tachogram excerpt of record 16265 MIT-BIH Normal Sinus Rhythm Database (NSRDB) with 5 artificially inserted ectopics using lightweight SSA change-point detection with N=20, M=10, Q=1, 75% of leading eigentriples and adaptive control limits sequential ranks cumulative sum with jmax=6, E{Tn}=4, ARL0=500 are corrected by means of the proposed method with  $\Delta 1$ =M,  $\Delta 2$ =N (top) or by replacing the corrupted segment of length  $\Delta 1$  with the immediately preceding block of equal length (bottom).



#### **Performance Evaluation**

The performance and utility of the proposed method are evaluated using records that are publicly available through Physiobank [34]. More specifically, excerpts of all 18 records in the MIT-BIH NSRDB are used. The European Society of Cardiology/North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology Task Force guideline [4] recommends to perform the HRV analysis on ECG recordings of at least 5 minutes, and the said length can be considered as the accepted standard for the short-term HRV analysis. Accordingly, for each of the 18 records in MIT-BIH NSRDB excerpts corresponding to the first 5-minute period of NSR are collected. Note that the records in MIT-BIH NSRDB are cardiologist-annotated, that is, they have manually been checked for errors in beat detection and labeling. Thus, one can circumvent the step of QRS complex-detection and use the R-R intervals as provided (and validated by experts) by Physiobank directly. For all 18 records the first 5 minutes were free of ectopic beats and therefore selected. However, it will be pointed out that 4 records contained a couple of extreme outliers (most likely measurement errors), which were removed manually.



Textbox 1. Artificial premature ventricular complex obtained by modifying two consecutive tachogram values.

- 1. RR(tau)=RR(tau)-RR(tau)/3;
- 2. RR(tau+1)=RR(tau+1)+RR(tau+1)/3;

Specifically, the 4 affected records were records number 16,272, 18,177, 19,088, and 19,140, for which 2, 1, 2, and 1 data points were removed, respectively. Besides being readily discernible because they deviate by some order of magnitude from surrounding interbeat intervals, these outliers are also marked as artifacts in the respective annotation files.

Next, the effect of a PVC on the R-R interval was simulated by decreasing the respective entry to 2/3 of its actual value and by increasing the following entry to 4/3 of its value (Textbox 1). That is, for a PVC at say  $n = \tau$ , one sets

which is consistent with the actual signature of a single PVC (see, eg, [53]) in an R-R series characterized by a premature beat (and accordingly a significantly smaller R-R interval) followed by a compensatory pause (longer R-R interval) followed by a return to baseline (NSR).

Extensive Monte Carlo simulations were then used to determine the performance characteristics of the proposed method, wherein a large number of artificial R-R series based on the 18 5-minute MIT-BIH NSRDB records were created by first randomly drawing an integer between 1 and 6 and then randomly selecting the position(s) within the series where the respective PVCs would be placed (with the constraint that PVCs be at least 5 samples apart).

# Results

With the proposed method consisting of 2 stages (detection and correction), a separate analysis of each stage appears appropriate.

#### **Detection Step**

and

In reporting results pertaining to the detection performance of the first stage, established metrics commonly used in the literature are relied upon the sensitivity (*Se*), specificity (*Sp*), and accuracy (*Acc*), which are defined as

×	
×	
×	

with TP, FP, TN, and FN representing the number of true positives, false positives, true negatives, and false negatives, respectively. Intuitively, sensitivity quantifies the ability to correctly detect (actual) anomalies, specificity quantifies the proportion of nonabnormal segments that are correctly identified

as such, and accuracy combines both of the aforementioned aspects. More formally, *Se* expresses the empirical statistical power, 1 - Sp the type I (false positive), and 1 - Se the type II (missed detection/false negative) error rate.

As reported previously [32], for an event occurring at a time instance  $n = \tau$ , one allows for a certain detection delay  $\Delta_d$  and considers a signal from the AC-SRC control chart as true positive if it falls in the interval  $[\tau, \tau + \Delta_d]$ . All results presented in this study were obtained using  $\Delta_d = \Delta_1 = M$ .

Note that the design and calibration of a detection algorithm involves an inherent trade-off between false alarms and missed detections and that furthermore reducing the false alarm rate usually entails an increase in the detection delay. For this specific use case, high sensitivity and short detection delays are arguably of the highest priority; for one wants a high likelihood of detecting all actual outliers (to reliably "clean" the R-R series, thereby transforming it into the respective N-N series) with a manageable (ie, small) detection delay to be able to narrow down the corrupted segments in the series as much as possible. The latter is particularly relevant because the proposed method substitutes the (allegedly) corrupted segment by an approximation of the outlier-free segment obtained using recurrent SSA forecasting; one aims to keep the forecasting horizon small to obtain acceptable results without having to tweak the SSA parameters extensively. This comes at the expense of higher false alarm rates, as is evidenced by the results presented in Tables 1-4.

As in the considered design,  $j_{\text{max}}$  is linked to the average sprint length  $E \{T_n\}$ , better agility is generally achieved with rather small  $j_{\text{max}}$  in a use case, as the one considered here, were AC-SRC monitors for large deviations [33,45].

While AC-SRC achieved satisfactory performance over a wide range of values  $j_{max}$  (results not reported here), upon examination of the results reported in Tables 1-4, which are based on 18,000 R-R series,  $j_{max}$ =6 was chosen to proceed to the second stage of the proposed method (ie, the correction of corrupted segments of the R-R series).

## **Correction Step**

As mentioned earlier this design choice entails higher false alarm rates, as discernible in the 2 examples shown in Figures 4 and 5, which both exhibit actually uncorrupted segments that have been "corrected" by the proposed algorithm because of false alarms, thereby introducing some distortions. More importantly though, both examples also clearly show that all artificially inserted outliers because of PVCs were detected and appropriately corrected.

Table 5. Average root mean square errors of artificially contaminated R-R series.

Record	RMSE <sub>SSA</sub> <sup>a,b</sup>	RMSE <sub>block</sub>	RRMSE <sup>c</sup>	Percent increase or decrease
16,265	0.0225	0.0251	0.8964	10.36
16,272	0.0239	0.0354	0.6751	32,49
16,273	0.0136	0.0221	0.6154	38.46
16,420	0.0246	0.0326	0.7546	24.54
16,483	0.0162	0.0196	0.8265	17.35
16,539	0.0282	0.0342	0.8246	17.54
16,773	0.0299	0.0509	0.5874	41.26
16,786	0.0249	0.0366	0.6803	31.97
16,795	0.0323	0.0450	0.7178	28.22
17,052	0.0213	0.0414	0.5145	48.55
17,453	0.0256	0.0344	0.7442	25.58
18,177	0.0296	0.0357	0.8291	17.09
18,184	0.0298	0.0450	0.6622	33.78
19,088	0.0151	0.0198	0.7626	23.74
19,090	0.0187	0.0245	0.7633	23.67
19,093	0.0350	0.0439	0.7973	20.27
19,140	0.0123	0.0156	0.7885	21.15
19,830	0.0110	0.0125	0.8800	12.00
Average	0.0230	0.0319	0.7210	27.9

<sup>a</sup>RMSE: root mean square error.

<sup>b</sup>SSA: singular spectrum analysis.

<sup>c</sup>RRMSE: relative root mean square error.

Results pertaining to the second stage of the proposed method are reported in Table 5, wherein the root mean square error (RMSE) is used to quantify the discrepancy between the outlier-cleaned series and the actual (uncontaminated) series.

Let *be the uncontaminated N-N series (ie, the ground truth)* 

and denote our allegedly cleaned R-R series.

Calculation of the RMSE is straightforward,

×

Furthermore, to better compare the RMSE of the proposed method to its competitor (the commonly used block replacement method is used here for benchmarking purposes), consider also the relative RMSE (RRMSE) given by

×

Note that if the RRMSE, as given in Equation (18) is <1, it implies that the novel approach presented in this paper outperforms the competing benchmark approach by  $100 \cdot (1 - RRMSE)$ . It shall be emphasized, however, that the block replacement method as it its applied here (to correct for outliers in the R-R series) uses the first stage of the proposed method as well, its performance should thus be seen in the context of being applied to pretty tight segments of the series that ought

RenderX

to be substituted, which is all because of the AC-SRC I-SSA-CPD algorithm of the first stage of the framework presented in this study.

That being said, the results reported in Table 5, which are based on 180,000 R-R series, show that the proposed method, which substitutes corrupted tachogram segments by an approximation of the respective outlier-free segment obtained by

means of recurrent SSA forecasting, clearly outperforms the competing block replacement method. In fact, it outperforms its competitor for all 18 records (on which the extensive simulations built upon), on average by almost 30%.

# Discussion

## **Background and Relevance**

The HRV has long been known to allow for valuable insights into the intricate control mechanisms of the ANS and has a long track record of exponentially growing research interest and output. A crucial prerequisite for any HRV analysis is the exclusion of all artifacts and abnormalities, that is, a clean N-N series is required. Such a clean N-N series is virtually never available, mostly because of various interferences, beats not detected by the QRS complex-detector, and various highly prevalent heart rhythm disturbances.

Compared with the overall research effort directed toward the HRV, the issue of automatic R-R series (pre)processing has received rather little attention. In fact, manual editing still represents the gold standard. It should be noted that every automatic approach comes with risks and benefits; the former lie in the inherently nonzero type I and type II error rates, whereas the latter include, but are not limited to, considerable savings in both cost and time. Considering that error rates for manual approaches are nonzero as well and that they are most likely an increasing function of time (whereas in automatic approaches they are usually not), the choice of which one or which particular combination to use should always be made on an individual basis, considering all requirements and circumstances of the particular case. Accordingly, while the proposed method could be construed as a potential alternative to manual editing, in the light of the above considerations, this author would rather recommend it as a complementary method and or a preprocessing tool.

The main contribution of this work is the introduction of a general framework of low computational complexity that allows for an automatic near real-time detection and correction of outliers in R-R series based on the SSA. While related work pertaining to the use of the SSA in ECG and R-R data processing exists [54], to the best of the author's knowledge, this study is the first to propose a general SSA-based framework that handles both detection and correction of (unwanted) anomalies in the R-R series.

## **Principal Findings**

An extensive simulation study comprising 198,000 5-minute R-R series, obtained by randomly inserting varying amounts of simulated ectopic beats in records taken from the MIT-BIH NSRDB was conducted to assess the artifact detection and correction performance of the proposed algorithm.

It was shown that the proposed algorithm reliably detects outliers in the R-R series and achieved an overall sensitivity of 96.6%, specificity of 98.4%, and accuracy of 98.4%. Furthermore, it compares favorably in terms of discrepancies of the cleaned R-R series compared with the actual N-N series, outperforming a block replacement approach on average by almost 30%. It should also be emphasized that a suboptimal pragmatic approach was pursued, deliberately refraining from an optimization of the various (SSA and AC-SRC) tuning parameters, which would most likely have resulted in further performance improvements

Other important characteristics of the proposed method include the ability to operate in near real-time, the almost entirely model-free nature of the framework, and the low computational complexity. Moreover, it should be pointed out that the proposed method is not limited to the R-R series but can be applied broadly, as all of its components are deliberately kept as general as possible. This entails the additional benefit of not being limited to the removal of PVCs (although only this has extensively been investigated and tested so far) but rather being able to deal with all kinds of anomalies that may contaminate the observed series of interest.

at the expense of simplicity and computational complexity.

## **Limitations and Future Research**

This work has several limitations, some of which open (new) avenues for future research.

A major limitation is because of the lack of established and generally recognized and validated procedures other than manual editing, which transforms the performance comparison among competing methods in a nontrivial task. Second, to increase the readability and decrease the length, the paper fails to provide general recommendations and guidelines as to how various tuning parameters should be chosen. Finally, the SSA represents a very active research field, as in the last couple of years, and several promising advances and new developments have been reported, but thus far have not been considered in the research reported in this work. This, however, does not infringe on the relevance of this work, as the objective was to introduce a simple, general framework of low computational complexity and to investigate the use of SSA in both the detection and correction step.

Several of the abovementioned recent developments, however, appear to open promising avenues for future research. In particular, the author intends to expand and improve the work presented here by focusing on the issue of the SSA parameter selection and by considering latest developments, especially pertaining to SSA forecasting. For the latter, the interested reader is referred to recent publications by Hassani and Kalantari [55-58].

#### Acknowledgments

ML was supported by the "Excellence Initiative" of the German Federal and State Governments and the Graduate School of Excellence Computational Engineering at Technische Universität Darmstadt. The views expressed in this article are solely those of the author in his private capacity and do not necessarily reflect the views of Technische Universität Darmstadt or any other organization.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

Billman GE. Heart rate variability - a historical perspective. Front Physiol 2011;2:86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphys.2011.00086] [Medline: 22144961]

- 2. Billman GE, Huikuri HV, Sacha J, Trimmel K. An introduction to heart rate variability: methodological considerations and clinical applications. Front Physiol 2015;6:55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00055] [Medline: 25762937]
- 3. Rajendra AU, Paul JK, Kannathal N, Lim CM, Suri JS. Heart rate variability: a review. Med Biol Eng Comput 2006 Dec;44(12):1031-1051. [doi: 10.1007/s11517-006-0119-0] [Medline: 17111118]
- 4. ESC/NASPE. Heart rate variability: standards of measurement, physiological interpretation and clinical use. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. Circulation 1996 Mar 01;93(5):1043-1065 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>8598068</u>]
- 5. Huikuri HV, Mäkikallio T, Airaksinen KE, Mitrani R, Castellanos A, Myerburg RJ. Measurement of heart rate variability: a clinical tool or a research toy? J Am Coll Cardiol 1999 Dec;34(7):1878-1883 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10588197]
- Sassi R, Cerutti S, Lombardi F, Malik M, Huikuri HV, Peng C, et al. Advances in heart rate variability signal analysis: joint position statement by the e-Cardiology ESC Working Group and the European Heart Rhythm Association co-endorsed by the Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society. Europace 2015 Sep;17(9):1341-1353. [doi: <u>10.1093/europace/euv015</u>] [Medline: <u>26177817</u>]
- 7. Laske TG, Shrivastav M, Iaizzo PA. The cardiac conduction system. In: Iaizzo PA, editor. Handbook of cardiac anatomy, physiology, and devices, 3rd ed. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2015:215-234.
- 8. Iaizzo PA, Fitzgerald K. Autonomic nervous system. In: Iaizzo PA, editor. Handbook of cardiac anatomy, physiology, and devices, 3rd ed. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2015:235-250.
- Karemaker JM. An introduction into autonomic nervous function. Physiol Meas 2017 May;38(5):R89-R118. [doi: 10.1088/1361-6579/aa6782] [Medline: 28304283]
- 10. Berntson GG, Bigger JT, Eckberg DL, Grossman P, Kaufmann PG, Malik M, et al. Heart rate variability: origins, methods, and interpretive caveats. Psychophysiology 1997 Nov;34(6):623-648. [Medline: 9401419]
- 11. Peltola MA. Role of editing of R-R intervals in the analysis of heart rate variability. Front Physiol 2012;3:148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphys.2012.00148] [Medline: 22654764]
- 12. Nabil D, Bereksi Reguig F. Ectopic beats detection and correction methods: A review. Biomedical Signal Processing and Control 2015 Apr;18:228-244. [doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2015.01.008]
- 13. Salo MA, Huikuri HV, Seppänen T. Ectopic beats in heart rate variability analysis: effects of editing on time and frequency domain measures. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol 2001 Jan;6(1):5-17. [Medline: <u>11174857</u>]
- 14. Kim KK, Lim YG, Kim JS, Park KS. Effect of missing RR-interval data on heart rate variability analysis in the time domain. Physiol Meas 2007 Dec;28(12):1485-1494. [doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/28/12/003] [Medline: 18057513]
- Kim KK, Kim JS, Lim YG, Park KS. The effect of missing RR-interval data on heart rate variability analysis in the frequency domain. Physiol Meas 2009 Oct;30(10):1039-1050. [doi: <u>10.1088/0967-3334/30/10/005</u>] [Medline: <u>19713596</u>]
- Kim KK, Baek HJ, Lim YG, Park KS. Effect of missing RR-interval data on nonlinear heart rate variability analysis. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2012 Jun;106(3):210-218. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cmpb.2010.11.011</u>] [Medline: <u>21194782</u>]
- 17. Lippman N, Stein KM, Lerman BB. Comparison of methods for removal of ectopy in measurement of heart rate variability. Am J Physiol 1994 Jul;267(1 Pt 2):H411-H418. [doi: <u>10.1152/ajpheart.1994.267.1.H411</u>] [Medline: <u>7519408</u>]
- Stapelberg NJC, Neumann DL, Shum DHK, McConnell H, Hamilton-Craig I. The sensitivity of 38 heart rate variability measures to the addition of artifact in human and artificial 24-hr cardiac recordings. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol 2018 Jan;23(1). [doi: <u>10.1111/anec.12483</u>] [Medline: <u>28670841</u>]
- Hingorani P, Karnad DR, Rohekar P, Kerkar V, Lokhandwala YY, Kothari S. Arrhythmias Seen in Baseline 24-Hour Holter ECG Recordings in Healthy Normal Volunteers During Phase 1 Clinical Trials. J Clin Pharmacol 2016 Dec;56(7):885-893. [doi: <u>10.1002/jcph.679</u>] [Medline: <u>26626443</u>]
- 20. Manolio TA, Furberg CD, Rautaharju PM, Siscovick D, Newman AB, Borhani NO, et al. Cardiac arrhythmias on 24-h ambulatory electrocardiography in older women and men: the Cardiovascular Health Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994 Mar 15;23(4):916-925. [Medline: <u>8106697</u>]
- Simpson RJ, Cascio WE, Schreiner PJ, Crow RS, Rautaharju PM, Heiss G. Prevalence of premature ventricular contractions in a population of African American and white men and women: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Am Heart J 2002 Mar;143(3):535-540. [Medline: <u>11868062</u>]
- 22. Messineo FC. Ventricular ectopic activity: prevalence and risk. Am J Cardiol 1989 Dec 05;64(20):53J-56J. [Medline: 2480710]
- 23. Kostis JB, McCrone K, Moreyra AE, Gotzoyannis S, Aglitz NM, Natarajan N, et al. Premature ventricular complexes in the absence of identifiable heart disease. Circulation 1981 Jun;63(6):1351-1356. [Medline: 7226480]
- 24. Laborde S, Mosley E, Thayer JF. Heart Rate Variability and Cardiac Vagal Tone in Psychophysiological Research -Recommendations for Experiment Planning, Data Analysis, and Data Reporting. Front Psychol 2017;8:213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00213] [Medline: 28265249]
- 25. Kubios HRV. URL: http://www.kubios.com/ [accessed 2018-05-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6zO6WmKPu]
- 26. Tarvainen MP, Niskanen J, Lipponen JA, Ranta-Aho PO, Karjalainen PA. Kubios HRV--heart rate variability analysis software. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2014;113(1):210-220. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cmpb.2013.07.024</u>] [Medline: <u>24054542</u>]
- 27. nevrokard HRV. URL: http://www.nevrokard.eu/hrv.htm [accessed 2018-05-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6zO68ONOY]

RenderX

- 28. Pichot V, Roche F, Celle S, Barthélémy J, Chouchou F. HRVanalysis: A Free Software for Analyzing Cardiac Autonomic Activity. Front Physiol 2016 Nov;7:557 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00557] [Medline: 27920726]
- 29. Perakakis P, Joffily M, Taylor M, Guerra P, Vila J. KARDIA: a Matlab software for the analysis of cardiac interbeat intervals. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2010 Apr;98(1):83-89. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cmpb.2009.10.002</u>] [Medline: <u>19896748</u>]
- 30. Kaufmann T, Sütterlin S, Schulz SM, Vögele C. ARTiiFACT: a tool for heart rate artifact processing and heart rate variability analysis. Behav Res Methods 2011 Dec;43(4):1161-1170. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-011-0107-7] [Medline: 21573720]
- 31. Clifford G, McSharry P, Tarassenko L. Characterizing artefact in the normal human 24-hour RR time series to aid identification and artificial replication of circadian variations in human beat to beat heart rate using a simple threshold. Computers in Cardiology 2002;29:129-132. [doi: 10.1109/CIC.2002.1166724]
- 32. Lang M. A Low-Complexity Model-Free Approach for Real-Time Cardiac Anomaly Detection Based on Singular Spectrum Analysis and Nonparametric Control Charts. Technologies 2018 Feb 15;6(1):26. [doi: <u>10.3390/technologies6010026</u>]
- 33. Lang M, Zoubir AM. A nonparametric cumulative sum scheme based on sequential ranks and adaptive control limits. In: Proceedings of the 23rd European Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO). 2015 Presented at: 23rd European Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO); 2015 Aug 31; Nice, France p. 1984-1988. [doi: 10.1109/EUSIPCO.2015.7362731]
- Goldberger AL, Amaral LA, Glass L, Hausdorff JM, Ivanov PC, Mark RG, et al. PhysioBank, PhysioToolkit, and PhysioNet: components of a new research resource for complex physiologic signals. Circulation 2000 Jun 13;101(23):E215-E220 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10851218]
- 35. Golyandina N, Nekrutkin V, Zhigljavsky A. Analysis of Time Series Structure: SSA and Related Techniques. Boca Raton, FL, USA: Chapman and Hall/CRC; 2001.
- 36. Golyandina N, Zhigljavsky A. Singular Spectrum Analysis for Time Series (SpringerBriefs in Statistics). Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany: Springer; 2013.
- 37. Elsner JB, Tsonis AA. Singular Spectrum Analysis: A New Tool in Time Series Analysis. New York, NY, USA: Springer; 1996:a.
- 38. Sanei S, Hassani H. Singular Spectrum Analysis of Biomedical Signals. Boca Raton, FL, USA: CRC Press; 2015.
- 39. Moskvina V. Application of the singular spectrum analysis for change-point detection in time series. Ph.D. Thesis, Cardiff University: Cardiff, UK 2001.
- 40. Moskvina V, Zhigljavsky A. An Algorithm Based on Singular Spectrum Analysis for Change-Point Detection. Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation 2003 Jan 06;32(2):319-352. [doi: <u>10.1081/SAC-120017494</u>]
- 41. Hassani H, Mahmoudvand R, Zokaei M. Separability and window length in singular spectrum analysis. Comptes Rendus Mathematique 2011 Sep;349(17-18):987-990. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.crma.2011.07.012</u>]
- 42. Atikur Rahman Khan M, Poskitt DS. A Note on Window Length Selection in Singular Spectrum Analysis. Aust. N. Z. J. Stat 2013 Jun 19;55(2):87-108. [doi: 10.1111/anzs.12027]
- Khan AR, Poskitt DS. Signal Identification in Singular Spectrum Analysis. Aust. N. Z. J. Stat 2016 Mar 23;58(1):71-98. [doi: <u>10.1111/anzs.12143</u>]
- 44. McDonald D. A cusum procedure based on sequential ranks. Naval Research Logistics 1990:37-646. [doi: 10.1002/1520-6750(199010)37:5<627::AID-NAV3220370504>3.0.CO;2-F]
- 45. Chatterjee S, Qiu P. Distribution-free cumulative sum control charts using bootstrap-based control limits. Ann. Appl. Stat 2009 Mar;3(1):349-369. [doi: 10.1214/08-AOAS197]
- 46. Ghodsi M, Hassani H, Rahmani D, Silva ES. Vector and recurrent singular spectrum analysis: which is better at forecasting? Journal of Applied Statistics 2017 Nov 15;45(10):1872-1899. [doi: 10.1080/02664763.2017.1401050]
- 47. Hassani H, Ghodsi Z, Gupta R, Segnon M. Forecasting Home Sales in the Four Census Regions and the Aggregate US Economy Using Singular Spectrum Analysis. Comput Econ 2015 Dec 17;49(1):83-97. [doi: 10.1007/s10614-015-9548-x]
- 48. Silva ES, Hassani H. On the use of singular spectrum analysis for forecasting U.S. trade before, during and after the 2008 recession. International Economics 2015 May;141:34-49. [doi: 10.1016/j.inteco.2014.11.003]
- 49. Hassani H, Heravi S, Brown G, Ayoubkhani D. Forecasting before, during, and after recession with singular spectrum analysis. Journal of Applied Statistics 2013 Oct;40(10):2290-2302. [doi: <u>10.1080/02664763.2013.810193</u>]
- Hassani H, Heravi S, Zhigljavsky A. Forecasting UK Industrial Production with Multivariate Singular Spectrum Analysis. J. Forecast 2012 Apr 10;32(5):395-408. [doi: <u>10.1002/for.2244</u>]
- 51. Miranian A, Abdollahzade M, Hassani H. Day-ahead electricity price analysis and forecasting by singular spectrum analysis. IET Generation Transmission & Distribution 2013;7(4):346.
- 52. Hassani H, Thomakos D. A review on singular spectrum analysis for economic and financial time series. Statistics and Its Interface 2010;3(3):377-397. [doi: 10.4310/SII.2010.v3.n3.a11]
- Clifford GD, Tarassenko L. Quantifying errors in spectral estimates of HRV due to beat replacement and resampling. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2005 Apr;52(4):630-638. [doi: <u>10.1109/TBME.2005.844028</u>] [Medline: <u>15825865</u>]
- 54. Thuraisingham RA. Use of SSA and MCSSA in the Analysis of Cardiac RR Time Series. Journal of Computational Medicine 2013;2013:1-7. [doi: 10.1155/2013/231459]
- Kalantari M, Yarmohammadi M, Hassani H. Singular Spectrum Analysis Based on L1-Norm. Fluct. Noise Lett 2016 Mar;15(01):1650009. [doi: 10.1142/S0219477516500097]

RenderX

- 56. Kalantari M, Yarmohammadi M, Hassani H, Silva ES. Time Series Imputation via L1 Norm-Based Singular Spectrum Analysis. Fluct. Noise Lett 2018 Jun;17(02):1850017. [doi: 10.1142/S0219477518500177]
- Hassani H, Kalantari M, Yarmohammadi M. An improved SSA forecasting result based on a filtered recurrent forecasting algorithm. Comptes Rendus Mathematique 2017 Sep;355(9):1026-1036. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.crma.2017.09.004</u>] [Medline: 25904163]
- 58. Hassani H, Kalantari M. A novel signal extraction approach for filtering and forecasting noisy exponential series. Comptes Rendus Mathematique 2018 May;356(5):563-570. [doi: 10.1016/j.crma.2018.03.006] [Medline: 25904163]

## Abbreviations

AC-SRC: adaptive control limits sequential ranks cumulative sum ANS: autonomic nervous system **ARL:** average run length CUSUM: cumulative sum ECG: electrocardiography HR: heart rate HRV: heart rate variability I-SSA-CPD: lightweight SSA change-point detection NSR: normal sinus rhythm NSRB: Normal Sinus Rhythm Database **PVC:** premature ventricular complex **RMSE:** root mean square error **RRMSE:** relative root mean square error SA: sinoatrial SRC: sequential ranks cumulative sum SSA: singular spectrum analysis SVD: singular value decomposition

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 09.04.18; peer-reviewed by H Hassani, IN Gomez, L Becker; comments to author 02.05.18; revised version received 15.05.18; accepted 09.06.18; published 30.01.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Lang M Automatic Near Real-Time Outlier Detection and Correction in Cardiac Interbeat Interval Series for Heart Rate Variability Analysis: Singular Spectrum Analysis-Based Approach JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e10740 URL: https://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e10740/ doi:10.2196/10740 PMID:

©Michael Lang. Originally published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering (http://biomedeng.jmir.org), 30.01.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://biomedeng.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Modular Catheter Systems in Minimally Invasive Interventional Medical Procedures: Case Study

Bradley Beach<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Brian A Scansen<sup>2</sup>, DVM, MSc

<sup>1</sup>Covellus LLC, Belmar, NJ, United States
 <sup>2</sup>Department of Clinical Sciences, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO, United States

Corresponding Author: Bradley Beach, MSc Covellus LLC 822 13th Ave Belmar, NJ, 07719 United States Phone: 1 7328597270 Email: bbeach@covellus.com

# Abstract

**Background:** Medical device catheters that are used in minimally invasive interventional medical procedures all follow the same integrated design and use paradigm. The features and elements of any catheter device are combined in a single unitary construction. A modular approach to the design, construction, and use of these types of interventional catheters may provide significant advantages and benefits not available with an integrated design paradigm.

**Objective:** This paper aimed to present the design of a modular catheter system and the findings from an initial veterinary use as a case study for the potential of modular catheter systems in general.

**Methods:** A modular catheter system was designed using commercially available angioplasty balloon dilatation catheters as one module in the system and a custom designed scoring adapter as the other module. The scoring adapter incorporates wires to add scoring features to the angioplasty balloon catheter to improve the dilatation performance during a pulmonary valvuloplasty procedure. The scoring adapter also includes a novel attachment mechanism to couple the scoring adapter to any 0.035-inch guidewire–compatible angioplasty balloon catheter.

**Results:** The modular catheter system was successfully designed, manufactured, and used in an initial minimally invasive veterinary cardiovascular intervention to treat a case of canine subvalvular pulmonary stenosis. The scoring adapter and angioplasty balloon catheter were successfully combined *tableside* in the operating room at the time of the procedure and used to successfully dilate the subvalvular obstruction.

**Conclusions:** The successful design and use of the presented modular catheter system demonstrates the feasibility and potential advantages of this type of paradigm to enable physicians to create interventional catheter devices at the time of a procedure guided by the procedural needs.

(JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e14443) doi:10.2196/14443

#### **KEYWORDS**

catheters; angioplasty; balloon valvuloplasty; medical device design; minimally invasive surgical procedures; endovascular procedures

# Introduction

## **Interventional Catheters**

Minimally invasive surgical procedures are a relatively new development in medicine. These procedures began with the development of cardiac catheterization, percutaneous angioplasty, and endoscopic procedures as an alternative to open surgery. During its short history, the use of medical device

http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e14443/

RenderX

catheters in minimally invasive procedures has grown dramatically, expanding to include treatments for conditions throughout the body. Today, millions of these procedures are performed each year. Even though the number and type of catheters has grown to create new and improved diagnostic and therapeutic procedures, their basic construction paradigm has remained the same, exclusively that of an integrated design approach. With integrated catheter designs, each variant of a

catheter device type is a unique design and stock keeping unit (SKU).

Expanding the product family within an integrated design paradigm to include new configurations of an existing type or to add a new feature requires a unique design and SKU. Given the development and regulatory burden, as well as the carrying cost of inventory for both a manufacturer and hospital, expanding integrated catheter product families and creating new ones can be prohibitive. It is theorized that a modular approach to designing and using medical device catheters for certain interventions could improve access to appropriate devices and lower the overall cost.

The fundamental concept of a modular system is that complex products can be built from subsystems (modules) that are designed independently yet function together as a whole. Design changes made in one module do not affect other modules in the overall product. The interface shared among modules is standardized to allow for greater reusability among product types and adaptability of design [1]. The proposed modular catheter system enables physicians to combine 2 modules (a parent module with an adapter module), via a universal interface (attachment mechanism), to create interventional device catheters at the time of the procedure to meet specific procedural needs.

A modular catheter system of this nature represents a new way to approach the design and use of minimally invasive medical catheters for interventional procedures. A modular system would enable a physician to combine diagnostic, therapeutic, and structural elements to *build* a device catheter to meet a specific need. Examples include the relatively simple combination of a balloon dilatation catheter and scoring elements, as described in this case study. However, the idea could be extended to combine variants of other structural elements or incorporate more sophisticated elements such as advanced imaging sensors, drug delivery elements, ablation electrodes, pressure transducers, and many others. A new modular system paradigm can be used to develop new interventional techniques and therapies by giving physicians the tools to create devices tableside to meet evolving procedural needs.

## **Scoring and Cutting Balloon Dilatation**

Scoring and cutting balloon catheters use scoring elements integrated with an angioplasty balloon to preferentially create dissections along the length of a lesion. There is evidence that adding the scoring element can improve the dilatation efficiency of the balloon, allowing effective dilatation to occur at lower balloon inflation pressures, or improve the dilatation result of resistant lesions [2-4].

A technique has been developed in veterinary medicine that utilizes commercially available cutting balloons to improve the dilatation of subvalvular aortic stenosis in dogs. The technique consists of scoring the fibrotic subvalvular tissue with a cutting balloon and then dilating the scored lesion with a larger, high-pressure balloon to complete the procedure. The idea is that the smaller cutting balloon will score the lesion to make the subsequent high-pressure ballooning more efficient. The scoring step of the procedure creates preferential dissections

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e14443/
```

but does not completely dilate the stenosis. The second inflation with a larger-diameter balloon is intended to complete the dilatation for the final result [5].

This technique appears to be effective; however, the commercially available sizes of the cutting balloons are sometimes too small for these procedures or analogous pulmonary stenosis interventions. The lack of available balloon variants is an opportunity to demonstrate the above-mentioned modular catheter system to create scoring balloon variants using any size of commercially available angioplasty balloon catheters and a single scoring adapter module. The use of a scoring balloon modular system during a cardiovascular intervention of a canine subvalvular pulmonary stenosis has been described.

## Goal of the Case Study

The aim of this case study was to demonstrate the potential of a new modular system paradigm in minimally invasive interventional catheters. This paper presents the design of a 2-module catheter system utilizing commercially available angioplasty balloons as one of the 2 modules. The paper further presents the results of using the system in treating a single case of canine subvalvular pulmonary stenosis. The initial use in a veterinary cardiovascular intervention is meant to demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed modular catheter system and not the efficacy of pulmonary valvuloplasty; therefore, only the acute results of the intervention are presented.

The study of medical devices and interventional techniques has long been done in animal models to approximate clinical conditions and demonstrate safety. There is also a historical precedent for treating veterinary patients, dogs, using new interventional surgical techniques before use in humans [6]. The case study presented here follows in that tradition.

# Methods

### **Design Overview**

To demonstrate the potential of such a system, a scoring adapter module (scoring adapter), which includes a universal interface (attachment mechanism), was designed to be combined with any commercially available over-the-wire percutaneous transluminal angioplasty (PTA) balloon dilatation catheter that has a maximum guidewire compatibility of 0.035 inches, considered the parent module. The scoring adapter includes nitinol wires, which when combined with the parent module balloon catheter creates a device that combines balloon dilatation with the wire scoring elements to improve dilatation performance, analogous to integrated scoring and cutting angioplasty balloon dilatation catheters.

#### Modular System Design Strategy

The use of existing stock catheter devices as the parent module was explored as an efficient means to test the concept of modular systems in catheter design and to streamline the development process.

It is recognized that many devices and catheters used in interventional procedures include a lumen for the purpose of employing a guidewire during the procedure. This catheter lumen, which has been designed to be compatible with a

XSL•FO RenderX

standard guidewire size, can be leveraged to develop a standard interface for a modular catheter system. Commercially available 0.035-inch guidewire PTA balloon catheters come in a variety of balloon sizes and performance characteristics that make such devices an ideal parent module candidate for this case study.

Many challenges exist in designing a modular catheter system, including a robust, secure interface, or attachment mechanism, between the parent module and the adapter module (adapter). This design challenge becomes more difficult with the decision to use commercially available 0.035-inch PTA balloon catheters as the parent module. Although the standardization around a maximum guidewire compatibility of 0.035 inches provides some uniformity in the catheter lumen, there is still variation among brands and models. To accommodate this variation in lumen geometry, a nitinol coil element was designed as the interfacing element on the attachment mechanism integral with the scoring adapter module to interface with the 0.035-inch PTA balloon parent module.

The attachment mechanism consists of a central tube as the main body with the aforementioned nitinol coil elements bonded

Figure 1. Adapter module elements.

to the outer surface of the central tube. To couple the 2 modules together, the central tube of the adapter module is inserted into the distal end of the catheter guidewire lumen of the parent module. As this insertion occurs, the nitinol coil elements, which have been designed to be slightly larger than the guidewire lumen of the 0.035-inch catheters, compress to interface with the 0.035-inch catheter guidewire lumen and anchor the adapter module to the parent module. The adapter module includes a distal tip that remains distal to the end of the 0.035-inch catheter parent module once the attachment mechanism has been fully inserted into the parent module guidewire lumen. Once the adapter module is attached to the parent module, the 2 modules cannot be separated and function as an integrated catheter.

Figure 1 shows an adapter module variant (not the scoring adapter) before attaching to a balloon catheter illustrating the elements of the universal 0.035-inch attachment mechanism. Figure 2 shows sequential images of the interfacing nitinol coil element as it is inserted into the distal end of the 0.035-inch PTA balloon catheter guidewire lumen. It should be noted that the nitinol coil compresses as it is inserted into the parent module. Figure 3 shows the adapter and attachment mechanism of Figure 1 after it is inserted into a PTA balloon catheter.



Figure 2. Nitinol coil element during adapter insertion.





## **Development for Veterinary Use**

The veterinary scoring adapter was developed cooperatively by Covellus LLC, a privately held medical device company developing the modular catheter system, and BAS, associate professor of cardiology at Colorado State University. BAS is a diplomate of the American College of Veterinary Internal Medicine, specialty of cardiology, and has completed a fellowship in interventional radiology and endoscopy at the University of Pennsylvania and the Animal Medical Center (New York). The development of the scoring adapter was targeted as a tool to allow the use of the described cutting or scoring followed by high-pressure ballooning technique in congenital pulmonary or aortic stenosis where the stenosis is larger than can be effectively treated with commercially available cutting or scoring balloons. Currently, commercially available scoring and cutting balloons have a maximum diameter of 8 mm.

The scoring adapter design chosen for initial trial veterinary use included 4 nitinol wires 0.006 inches in diameter that are

Figure 4. Schematic representation of the scoring adapter.

embedded into the scoring adapter tip as the scoring elements. The scoring wires extended proximally about 100 cm, such that the wires would extend proximally out of the access site for the procedure and remain under the control of the operator throughout the procedure. The 4 scoring wires were positioned approximately uniformly around the circumference of the scoring adapter tip. The scoring adapter tip that remains distal to the parent module balloon catheter is composed of a thermoplastic elastomer and has a tapered shape similar to a distal tip of a PTA balloon catheter, with a maximum diameter of 0.063 inches and a length of 0.23 inches. The scoring adapter tip also includes 2 embedded 3-mm-long sections of 0.25-mm tungsten wire, to add extra radiopacity for tip visualization during the procedure. Figure 4 is a partial schematic representation of the scoring adapter module illustrating the tip and position of the scoring wires. Figure 5 shows an image of the scoring adapter module attached to a 0.035-inch balloon catheter, with the adapter elements labeled to further illustrate the described design elements.



RenderX

on

obstruction

#### Manufacturing Veterinary Use Scoring Adapter

Covellus LLC manufactured a small lot of scoring adapters for use in this initial veterinary application. Along with the small lot of scoring adapters, Covellus manufactured adapter test samples and attachment mechanism test samples to verify if the manufactured batch of scoring adapters will function as intended, provide adequate securement between the parent module balloon and scoring adapter, and give assurance of sterility of the manufactured scoring adapters. The scoring adapter was packaged in a conventional Tyvek pouch system and radiation sterilized using electronic beam methods.

# Results

## **Preoperative Evaluation**

A 7-month-old female Vizsla dog was referred to BAS for balloon pulmonary valvuloplasty. The patient was previously

Figure 6. Preoperative echocardiogram showing the subvalvular obstruction.



diagnosed

Figure 8.

with

а

subpulmonary

echocardiography following detection of an asymptomatic

murmur by the primary care veterinarian. Before the

valvuloplasty intervention, the patient underwent a preoperative

echocardiogram, where the peak transpulmonary pressure

gradient across the obstruction was measured to be 74 mmHg.

Figures 6 and 7 show images from the preoperative

echocardiogram representing the subvalvular obstruction and

the peak transpulmonary pressure gradient measurement. In

addition, right ventriculograms during diastole and systole were

performed to visualize the subvalvular obstruction as shown in





Figure 8. Right ventriculogram showing the subvalvular obstruction in systole (a) and diastole (b).



XSL•FO RenderX

## **Procedural Details**

To meet the needs of this particular case, BAS chose a 12-mm diameter by 40-mm long Armada 35 model (Abbott Labs) PTA balloon catheter to pair with the scoring adapter for the scoring step of the procedure. The scoring adapter was successfully attached to the Armada balloon in the operating room at the time of the procedure. Figure 9 shows the scoring adapter attached to the Armada 35 balloon (Abbott Labs); it should be noted that this picture was taken following the procedure, so

the balloon has been previously inflated but otherwise illustrates the attached adapter.

The scoring adapter and balloon combination was tracked through a 40-cm, 8-Fr Flexor Balkin Sheath (Cook Medical) and over a 200-cm long V-18 control wire (Boston Scientific) to the target site and positioned across the obstruction. The balloon with scoring adapter combination was inflated to the rated burst pressure by BAS. Figure 10 shows the preinflation, midinflation, and peak inflation angiographic images.

Figure 9. Scoring adapter attached to percutaneous transluminal angioplasty balloon.



Figure 10. Angiographic inflation images.





Figure 11. Postoperative echocardiogram.



## **Procedural Results**

The scoring adapter and balloon combination was successfully removed with the 2 modules still completely attached, with no visible damage to the balloon or adapter elements. An 18-mm diameter by 40-mm long ATLAS GOLD PTA balloon catheter (BARD) was used for postscoring high-pressure balloon dilatation. The peak transpulmonary pressure gradient dropped to 41 mmHg, as measured during the postoperative echocardiogram (see Figure 11).

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

The transpulmonary pressure gradient was reduced from 74 mmHg preoperative to 41 mmHg postoperative. A transpulmonary pressure gradient of 41 mmHg is considered mild and should lead to an improved prognosis and long-term outcome. In addition, this is a better result than typically achieved with conventional ballooning for subvalvular pulmonary obstruction. The result indicates the modular catheter system design utilizing commercially available PTA balloon catheters as the parent module functioned like an integrated

scoring balloon catheter in this procedure. This case illustrates how a modular catheter system can be used to create interventional catheters that are not otherwise available and, therefore, improve access to appropriate devices.

The objective of this case study was to demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed modular catheter system and not the efficacy of pulmonary valvuloplasty; therefore, only the acute results of the intervention are presented. Furthermore, the dog traveled to Colorado State University from another state, limiting our ability to obtain postoperative echocardiograms beyond the initial day 1 postoperative study.

#### Conclusions

The attachment mechanism and modular catheter system was successful. The attachment mechanism provided a means to combine the parent balloon module with the scoring adapter module at the time of the procedure, such that the procedural need guided the creation of a *new* scoring balloon of a diameter that would not have been available otherwise. This case study is proof of concept of a modular system that represents a new paradigm of device catheter construction and use for minimally invasive interventional procedures.



## Acknowledgments

This work was funded by Covellus LLC, a privately held medical device company.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

BB is the CEO of and a shareholder in Covellus LLC.

## References

- 1. Gu P, Xue D, Nee AY. Adaptable design: concepts, methods, and applications. Proc Inst Mech Eng B J Eng Manuf 2016 Aug 9;223(11):1367-1387 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1243/09544054JEM1387]
- 2. Singh HS, Kirtane AJ, Moses JW. AngioSculpt scoring balloon catheter: an atherotomy device for coronary and peripheral interventions. Interventional Cardiology 2010 Aug;2(4):469-478. [doi: 10.2217/ica.10.51]
- Kawase Y, Saito N, Watanabe S, Bao B, Yamamoto E, Watanabe H, et al. Utility of a scoring balloon for a severely calcified lesion: bench test and finite element analysis. Cardiovasc Interv Ther 2014 Apr;29(2):134-139. [doi: 10.1007/s12928-013-0232-6] [Medline: 24318791]
- 4. Bergersen L, Gauvreau K, Justino H, Nugent A, Rome J, Kreutzer J, et al. Randomized trial of cutting balloon compared with high-pressure angioplasty for the treatment of resistant pulmonary artery stenosis. Circulation 2011 Nov 29;124(22):2388-2396. [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.018200] [Medline: 22042887]
- Kleman ME, Estrada AH, Maisenbacher HW, Prošek R, Pogue B, Shih A, et al. How to perform combined cutting balloon and high pressure balloon valvuloplasty for dogs with subaortic stenosis. J Vet Cardiol 2012;14(2):351-361. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvc.2011.11.008] [Medline: 22578699]
- Buchanan JW, Anderson JH, White RI. The 1st balloon valvuloplasty: an historical note. J Vet Intern Med 2002;16(1):116-117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1892/0891-6640(2002)016<0116:tbvahn>2.3.co;2] [Medline: 11822800]

## Abbreviations

**PTA:** percutaneous transluminal angioplasty **SKU:** stock keeping unit

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.04.19; peer-reviewed by A Peña-Oscuvilca, NM Trofenciuc; comments to author 28.05.19; revised version received 03.07.19; accepted 08.07.19; published 29.07.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Beach B, Scansen BA Modular Catheter Systems in Minimally Invasive Interventional Medical Procedures: Case Study JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e14443 URL: <u>http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e14443/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/14443</u> PMID:

©Bradley Beach, Brian A Scansen. Originally published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering (http://biomedeng.jmir.org), 29.07.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://biomedeng.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Original Paper**

# An Analytics Framework for Physician Adherence to Clinical Practice Guidelines: Knowledge-Based Approach

Jaehoon Lee<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Nathan C Hulse<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Intermountain Healthcare, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Biomedical Informatics, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

**Corresponding Author:** Nathan C Hulse, PhD Intermountain Healthcare 36 State Street Salt Lake City, UT, 84111 United States Phone: 1 3852976482 Email: <u>nathan.hulse@imail.org</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** One of the problems in evaluating clinical practice guidelines (CPGs) is the occurrence of knowledge gaps. These gaps may occur when evaluation logics and definitions in analytics pipelines are translated differently.

**Objective:** The objective of this paper is to develop a systematic method that will fill in the cognitive and computational gaps of CPG knowledge components in analytics pipelines.

**Methods:** We used locally developed CPGs that resulted in care process models (CPMs). We derived adherence definitions from the CPMs, transformed them into computationally executable queries, and deployed them into an enterprise knowledge base that specializes in managing clinical knowledge content. We developed a visual analytics framework, whose data pipelines are connected to queries in the knowledge base, to automate the extraction of data from clinical databases and calculation of evaluation metrics.

**Results:** In this pilot study, we implemented 21 CPMs within the proposed framework, which is connected to an enterprise data warehouse (EDW) as a data source. We built a Web–based dashboard for monitoring and evaluating adherence to the CPMs. The dashboard ran for 18 months during which CPM adherence definitions were updated a number of times.

**Conclusions:** The proposed framework was demonstrated to accommodate complicated knowledge management for CPM adherence evaluation in analytics pipelines using a knowledge base. At the same time, knowledge consistency and computational efficiency were maintained.

## (JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e11659) doi:10.2196/11659

## KEYWORDS

clinical practice guidelines; care process model; visual analytics; clinical decision support

# Introduction

Clinical practice guidelines (CPGs) are systematically developed statements that assist clinicians in making decisions about appropriate patient care for specific clinical circumstances [1]. Since the nature of CPGs includes complicated clinical knowledge, it is known to be challenging not only to formulate clinicians' logics into the form of guidelines, but also to translate and implement these guidelines properly into clinical tasks and processes. Therefore, a number of studies have tried to develop systematic ways to implement CPGs [2,3], including computer-aided clinical decision support (CDS)-based

RenderX

approaches that enable personalized and timely implementation of CPGs [4-6] and knowledge-based approaches to systematically transform complicated knowledge of CPGs into clinical decision and practices [7-9].

Since clinical knowledge within CPGs originated from evidence of best practices, realization of CPGs in practice has had a positive impact on clinical workflow and patient outcome [10-14]. Therefore, it is important to measure and evaluate physicians' adherence to CPGs in order to understand how providers are following guidelines in the postimplementation phase [15,16]. This evaluation may be an interdisciplinary project involving domain experts, knowledge engineers, and

data analysts, among others. Domain experts should derive evaluation logics and metrics from CPGs and document them by collaborating with knowledge engineers. To perform this evaluation, database engineers should create queries based on the definitions and run them against the clinical database. As a result of data extraction, evaluation outcomes would be delivered to consumers (ie, clinical champions or management leaders), often in the form of Web-based reports.

The problem is that knowledge gaps always exist while transforming logics of CPGs into evaluation-definition documents, developing queries, and generating reports. For example, translating definitions into computationally executable queries may vary by individual knowledge engineers and data developers [17]. Once analytics are delivered, consumers can only see the resulting data, but would lack an understanding of what logics were used to extract the numbers. If analytics are being delivered in a regular manner and evaluation logics are modified, it becomes confusing to know whether a report was made based on an old or new definition. In particular, analytics have become more integrated and automated by integrating data pipelines, report generation, and delivery workflow; this may involve more knowledge translation into the framework and may require a systematic method of management [18,19].

Knowledge gaps are caused by the difficulty of handling too many data points, miscommunication between domain experts and developers, misinterpretation of guidelines, loss of authorship of documents, and revision and update of knowledge sources [20]. This may result in data inconsistency across the analytics pipeline, causing consumers to experience a lack of trust regarding the analytics results. Consumers may be confused and may feel that "these numbers don't make sense," but it is difficult to understand the problem with the current analytics process and where it lies in the pipeline.

To address this limitation, we propose an analytics framework whereby data and visualization pipelines are integrated with a knowledge base. A knowledge base is a tool designed to store clinical knowledge content in a systematic way by managing attributes of content authorship, version, and relationship between resources [21,22]. We used a knowledge base as a key component to store CPGs, their adherence definitions, and their executable queries, so that the related documents in their different forms could be managed with metadata and easily shared by domain experts, query developers, and analysts. In addition, we connected data pipelines to executable queries in the knowledge base so that a change of query can be immediately incorporated into the analytics pipelines.

In a pilot study, we adopted locally developed CPGs used in our health care system, resulting in a care process model (CPM). We developed an integrated analytics framework that consists of a knowledge base that employs CPMs in different forms: a commercial data pipelining tool, Alteryx, connected to our clinical database and a commercial visualization tool, Tableau, to generate reports. We built a dashboard that provides views for adherence by physicians to 21 CPMs. Over an 18-month-long proof-of-concept project, we ran a working group to analyze CPM adherence and to manage definition revisions. We investigated how the use of the knowledge base contributed to the filling of knowledge gaps and automating of analytics pipelines with computational efficiency.

## Methods

#### **Subject: Care Process Models**

In this study, we used CPMs that were created using locally developed CPGs in our health care organization and that were designed to reduce clinical variation, improve quality, and support local preferences [23]. The CPMs were published and managed by clinical programs, which are made up of clinical expert groups consisting of clinical champions, medical directors, nursing administrators, data managers, and data analysts. Over the last 20 years, clinical programs have developed over 120 CPMs that cover a variety of clinical conditions and procedures, such as hypertension, heart failure, breast cancer, appendicitis, and acute myocardial infarction, among others.

CPMs were originally developed as paper or electronic documents containing descriptions of target problems or procedures, logics of decision-making, and recommended actions. Traditionally, CPM implementation was conducted through the involvement and education of care teams and providers. Over the last four years, we have installed a new enterprise-wide electronic health record (EHR) system in our hospitals and clinics in Utah, USA. We have also started developing computationally executable CPMs inside the EHR system using a variety of decision-support components, including order sets, decision-support rules, and care pathways (ie, decision flow and state-based order recommendation tools), among others.

In addition to CPM implementation, there was a strong need from the clinical leadership to monitor and evaluate how providers are complying with CPMs. Analyzing such data may allow us to understand how well-embedded CPMs are within clinical practices and may allow us to gain insights into how to improve best practices within them. However, it has been challenging to quantitatively measure whether CPMs were used as intended after implementation, since key data points for the evaluation are complicated to define and capture. In addition, time-consuming manual data processing to calculate evaluation metrics was required. To address these problems, clinical programs and informatics specialists initiated an effort to build a framework that creates a systematic approach for data extraction and visual analysis within the evolution cycle of CPM development, implementation, and improvement.

To correctly evaluate adherence to CPMs, three types of information should be defined. First, since CPMs are developed to treat patients with certain conditions, a target population (ie, patient cohort) should be identified. Specifically, a combination of inclusion and exclusion criteria should be defined, including patient demographics, diagnosis, lab results, and medications. Second, metrics to quantitatively measure CPM utilization for the defined target population should be defined. A timeline of when to develop the metrics, typically key concepts extracted from logics and actions in CPMs, should be included since it is unrealistic to capture all of the concepts within the CPMs.

XSL•FO RenderX

Examples of key concepts include the following: *diagnosed* with pneumonia, image ordered for d-dimer, or 1-90 days old with  $a fever(\geq 38^{\circ}C)$ . Third, an adherence formulation is needed that would be used to count credits given to providers or care units who utilized CPMs as intended for target patients.

Although CPMs are well-described guidelines, it is often challenging to derive the key information above, as the nature of the CPMs are composed of complicated, domain-specific knowledge and often contain ambiguity. In addition, it is difficult to connect the derived key concepts to data points—often tables or columns in clinical databases—in real-world data sources. Thus, a multidisciplinary collaboration effort may be required in order to transfer knowledge between the various experts below:

- 1. Domain knowledge expert: an expert, author, or publisher of CPMs. This individual would be responsible for interpreting and defining the highest levels of evaluation criteria.
- Domain data expert: an individual with both clinical domain and database expertise. This individual would be responsible for translating CPM knowledge and linking concepts to data points in databases.
- 3. Informatics expert: an expert in clinical knowledge management. This individual would be responsible for communication between domains.
- 4. Database engineer: a database expert. This individual would be responsible for developing and maintaining database tables for CPM relationship information.
- 5. Data analyst: a database expert. This individual would be responsible for developing data pipelines for analysis.
- 6. Business intelligence developer: an expert in report development.

#### **Problem Statement**

The problem we are addressing is that knowledge gaps often exist while translating logics CPMs from domain experts into analytics pipelines. For example, domain experts may define the diagnosis of pneumonia at a high level in the original CPMs. However, the disease should be clearly defined to extract real data from the clinical database, including diagnosis codes in standard terminologies, types of patient visits, clinical context, problem status, and exceptions. Gaps may exist while clarifying such information by mapping incorrect data points, miscommunication, misinterpretation, changes in CPM contents, and changes in data sources. Such inconsistency could result in confusion and distrust of data quality for analytics consumers. In the current analytics environment there is no tool to track and investigate what the gaps are and where they exist.

To address inconsistencies in knowledge translation and improve analytics productivity, we aim to adopt a knowledge base that will help us manage the content across the whole CPM evaluation process. A knowledge base is a component in our EHR system that manages the authoring, review, publication, delivery, and versioning processes that surround clinical knowledge assets for consumption within these frameworks. Typically, clinical knowledge sources may be order sets, decision support rules, nursing protocols, clinical guidelines, and patient education resources. Any knowledge-based content can be a source for a knowledge base, such as concept definitions, formulations, executable queries, and design concepts of visualizations. These assets can be consumed by a human (ie, in the case of narrative clinical care guidelines) or by a computer (ie, rule bases for consumption by inference engines), or they can be aligned for consumption on both ends of the spectrum [21].

There are practical benefits to using a knowledge base for CPM analytics: (1) storing and sharing all the knowledge resources in a centralized place, instead of local storage or exchanging content by emails, to reduce miscommunication and redundancy; (2) being able to manage knowledge resources with unique numeric identifiers and metadata, including author, version, and history of revisions; and (3) making knowledge resources consumable with data analytics tools. In addition, a knowledge base may be useful for end-user data consumers by giving them more contextual information about the data with answers to questions such as "Who defined the definitions of the measures?", "How were the measures calculated?", and "What changes have been made?"

# Selection of Care Process Models and Deriving Key Measures

As part of a pilot study to evaluate adherence based on the proposed framework, we selected 21 CPMs. Our selection criteria were as follows: (1) clinical utility and popularity of the CPM, (2) whether the CPM was already implemented within our EHR system, (3) the ease with which the CPM allowed the definition of evaluation metrics, and (4) whether data points related to the CPM were fully or partially collected in our clinical information systems. For the selected CPMs, we worked with CPM publishers in clinical programs to derive the three types of information for adherence evaluation defined in a previous section. The adherence rate (%), defined in the equation below, represents physician utilization of designated CPM components for a group of patients who are intended to be treated by the CPM:

Adherence (%) = (number of cases treated using the CPM) / (number of cases intended to be treated by the CPM)

Since the definition above is highly abstracted, there were diverse details regarding how to practically calculate the adherence. For example, to calculate the numerators, we determined what types of decision-support components were used to implement the CPMs (eg, order set) and which were used to connect key concepts to real data points (eg, order set ordering history). We found that 10 of the 21 CPMs (48%) were implemented as physician order sets, or small groups of order sets, whereas the rest were implemented through combinations of care pathways and decision-support rules.



RenderX

Lee & Hulse

Table 1. Summary of care process model (CPM) adherence definitions.

Clinical program (adherence definitions, n; queries, n)	CPM name	Cohort-defining condition	Decision-support component
Oncology, 1, 3	Lung, breast, or colon cancer	Diagnosis and chemotherapy	Order set
Pediatrics, 1, 1	Febrile infant	Vital sign or a report	Care pathway
Neuroscience, 1, 1	Acute stroke	Problem and admission time	Order set
Primary care, 4, 4	Diabetes	Age and diagnosis	Care pathway
	Hypertension	Diagnosis	Care pathway
	Acute sinusitis	Diagnosis and medication	Care pathway
	High blood pressure	Diagnosis	Care pathway
Cardiovascular, 1, 3	Heart failure	Age, admission, and diagnosis	Order set
	Acute myocardial infarction	Age, admission, and diagnosis	Order set
	Coronary artery bypass graft	Age, admission, and diagnosis	Order set
Musculoskeletal, 1, 1	Total hip or knee surgery	Procedure	Order set
Surgical service, 1, 2	Appendicitis	Procedure	Order set
	Cholecystectomy	Procedure	Order set
Behavioral health, 3, 3	Depression	CDS <sup>a</sup> rule and diagnosis	Care pathway
	Suicide prevention	CDS rule	Care pathway
	Mental health integration	Clinical document and clinic visit	Care pathway
Women and newborn, 1, 2	Jaundice	Newborn	Care pathway
	Neonatal hypoglycemia	Observation, rules, and age	Care pathway
Intensive medicine, 4, 4	Pneumonia	CDS rule	Care pathway
	Pulmonary embolism	Order, imaging, diagnosis, and care pathway use	Care pathway
	Pediatric sepsis in emergency	CDS rule	Care pathway
	Pediatric minor head trauma	CDS rule	Care pathway

<sup>a</sup>CDS: clinical decision support.

The denominators were used to identify CPM-specific patient cohorts. For example, the denominator for the adherence rate of the hypoglycemia CPM was defined as a combination of (1) whether certain decision-support rules related to hypoglycemia were fired, (2) whether a patient has a history of hypoglycemia according to the 10th revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-10), and (3) whether specific nursing documents were recorded.

Below are examples of detailed key concepts to be included in the definitions:

- Cohort (denominator): clinical inclusion and exclusion criteria, patient master index, encounter, facility, care unit, decision-support rule firing criteria, clinical form used, etc.
- 2. Utilization (numerator): Order set usage, order set title, version, content, orderable items, customized order sets, care pathway title, components in care pathway used, etc.
- 3. Adherence: adherence definition, aggregation level by patient, encounter, provider, unit and facility, etc.

A group of experts with different backgrounds reviewed these concepts, documented the definitions, and built queries. Table 1 shows a summary of the derived CPM adherence definitions.

RenderX

## Results

#### **Development of Framework**

We developed the analytics framework by integrating several homegrown and commercial tools. For the knowledge base, we used Intermountain's knowledge repository that our organization has used over the last 10 years. We adopted Alteryx as a tool for data analytics pipelines and Tableau as a tool for visual transformation and Web-based dashboard development. We used our enterprise data warehouse (EDW) as the data source, which is an integrated clinical data repository for research and quality improvement that stores over 100 billion records tied to encounters, lab observations, diagnoses, procedures, medications, and billing over 20 years. We also used CPM-centered database tables in our EDW that were developed by clinical programs, which store condition-specific patient cohorts, quality metrics, and outcomes for clinical research and quality improvement.

Figure 1 depicts the architecture and flow of knowledge in the framework. Domain experts in clinical programs translate paper-based CPMs to adherence definition documents. Structured Query Language (SQL) developers create queries based on the documents and deploy them into the knowledge

base on the Web (see Figure 2). Alteryx imports the SQL information from the knowledge base to run against the EDW; Alteryx then exports the cohort and metrics as a Tableau-specific data file to a Tableau server so they can be visually transformed by Tableau to automatically generate charts on the Web. In the dashboard, links are embedded in the charts, enabling users to view the original CPM documents and queries used in the knowledge base.

Figure 3 shows a CPM in various forms during knowledge transformation: human-readable PDF document (top left); logics of the CPM are implemented as an order set in a computerized physician order entry (CPOE; bottom left); adherence definition document (top right); and computerized adherence logic as a SQL (bottom right). Since these knowledge content components in different forms originated from one source, they are semantically linked to each other with authorship, translation record, and version history.

Figure 1. Architecture diagram of the knowledge-based analytics framework for care process model (CPM) adherence. EDW: enterprise data warehouse; SQL: Structured Query Language.



Figure 2. Screenshot of the care process model (CPM) knowledge content components uploaded into the online knowledge repository.

My Documents	search	Advanced Search			
earch Filter 🛛 ≪	Show 10 🗸	entries			
Type to Search.		Title	IT NCID	1 Category	1 Publish Date
Search by Keyword (min. 3 characters required)	•	Cardiovascular CPM definition (iCentra)	529550721:1	Care Process Model (Target Population Definitions)	10/14/2017 09:49
Search by Title or noid		Women and Newborn CPM definition (iCentra)	529550741:0	Care Process Model (Target Population Definitions)	10/13/2017 09:43
☑ Active ☑ Under Review		Surgical Service CPM definition (iCentra)	529550740:0	Care Process Model (Target Population Definitions)	10/13/2017 09:42
✓ Under Development		Pediatrics CPM definition (iCentra)	529550739:1	Care Process Model (Target Population Definitions)	10/13/2017 09:41
ilter Category	•	Primary Care CPM definition (iCentra)	529550738:0	Care Process Model (Target Population Definitions)	10/13/2017 09:40
Publish Date Range		Oncology CPM definition (iCentra)	529550737:0	Care Process Model (Target Population Definitions)	10/13/2017 09:38
set Filters	• •	Neuroscience CPM definition (iCentra)	529550736:0	Care Process Model (Target Population Definitions)	10/13/2017 09:36
ggle Batch Mode		Musculoskeletal CPM definition (iCentra)	529550735:0	Care Process Model (Target Population Definitions)	10/13/2017 09:35
	•	Intensive Medicine CPM definition (iCentra)	529550734:0	Care Process Model (Target Population Definitions)	10/13/2017 09:34
		Behavioral Health CPM definition (iCentra)	529550720:1	Care Process Model (Target	10/13/2017 09:28

RenderX

**Figure 3.** Evolution of care process model (CPM) knowledge. Top left: an original PDF document; bottom left: a surgical order set inside a computerized physician order entry (CPOE) that implemented logics of the CPM; top right: a narrative text of evaluation criteria; bottom right: Structured Query Language (SQL) to extract adherence metrics. The red boxes and arrows represent the transformation of concepts and logics from one form to another. Source: Cerner PowerChart. Used with permission by Cerner Corporation.



## **Development of Dashboard**

We developed a Tableau-based dashboard in a production environment that is accessible to clinicians and researchers in our organization through secured user access. It employs five detailed views for each representative CPM adherence in different contexts and scales.

1. Main view: this view provides an overview of adherence trends at the highest level. It consists of a bar chart representing the average cumulative rates of CPM utilization and a line chart showing the monthly average over time (see Figure 4). Each CPM is marked with different color.

http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e11659/

XSL•FO

A filter to the right of the bar graph narrows down the data by *facility*. Average adherence rates range from 0% to 100%, with 0% indicating that no physician used any CPM for the specific condition-based cohort and 100% indicating that all physicians used CPMs for all associated relevant cases.

- 2. Facility view: this view is used to monitor the monthly average adherence rate by hospitals. This view consists of a dual chart that represents the percent adherence rate by month and the number of encounters where CPM was used or not used.
- 3. Provider view: this view shows the summary of CPM utilization by individual providers. Users can select a

provider in the filter on the right, then the view narrows down by patients treated by the selected provider (see Figure 5).

- 4. Encounter view: this view provides detailed actions in CPM utilization at the encounter level. A table view includes patient identifier, provider, length of stay, CPM used, and enrolled date and time.
- 5. Patient view: this view provides a summary of CPM-based treatments for a patient.

#### **Data Extraction and Early Usage Pattern**

Data pipelines were scheduled to run regularly, with different refresh frequencies depending on CPMs and data sources. As of July 1, 2018, the number of patients eligible for 21 CPMs was 230,669 and the number of encounters was 377,507. For those target patients, 7895 providers utilized CPMs at least once. Total adherence rate across all the CPMs during the period was 8.8%.

Figure 4. Main view of the Tableau-based care process model (CPM) utilization dashboard (screenshot).

Main Facility Provider Encounter Patient Outcome





Main Facility Provider Encounter Patient Outcome

Healthcare						Pro	vider	rviev	v					
Provider	Position 2	0%	10	6 209	6 30%	40%	Avg. Utiliza 50%	ation (%) 60%	70%	80%	90%	100%	CPM <ul> <li>Acute Stroke</li> <li>Cholecystectomy</li> </ul>	
	Physician - Surgeon												Coronary Artery Bypass Graft     Pediatric Minor Head Trauma	
	Physician - Surgeon Physician - Gastroenterolo	gi									•		Pediatric winor Head Irauma     Pulmonary Embolism     Suiside excusation	
	Physician - Surgeon Physician - Surgeon											•	Total Hip Surgery     Total Kees Surgery	
		0	20	40 €	60 80	100 1	120 140 #Encor	160 unter	180 200	220	240 2	260 280	Measure Na	Avg. Utilization

#### Provider detail: ALLEN, DO, BRENT J. (Physician - Surgeon)

Summary	Encounter						
#Patient: 83	First obs dt	Cohort	Organization	LOS (Hr)	CPM Used name	Enroll date	Enrolled CPM?
#Encounter: 83	2017/1/4	lapcholeaduop	SV_Sevier Valley Hospital	8	ANES Anesthesia Adult Peri	1/4/17 09:51	
#Enrolled encounter: 82					SURG Generic Extended Rec	1/4/17 09:39	
Avg. Enrollment (%): 99.0%					SURG Generic Surgery Perio	12/27/16 15:26	Y
	2017/1/16	lapcholeaduop	SV_Sevier Valley Hospital	4	SURG Generic Extended Rec	1/16/17 09:28	
					SURG Generic Surgery Perio	1/12/17 13:59	Y
	2017/1/23	lapcholeaduop	SV_Sevier Valley Hospital	13	ANES Anesthesia Adult Peri	1/23/17 10:31	
					Post-Surgical IPOC	1/23/17 11:05	
					SURG Generic Extended Rec	1/23/17 09:32	
					SURG Generic Surgery Perio	1/10/17 14:40	Y
	2017/1/25	lapcholeaduop	SV_Sevier Valley Hospital	13	ANES Anesthesia Adult Peri	1/25/17 10:26	
					Pain Management IPOC	1/25/17 10:56	
					SURG Generic Extended Rec	1/25/17 09:53	

RenderX

Figure 6. Dashboard usage pattern showing number of daily sessions and number of distinct users. The blue bar represents the number of users that accessed the dashboard and the orange line represents the number of distinct users.





Clinical program	Number of revisions	Type of revision
Oncology	2	Amendment of adherence definition; new data source
Pediatrics	3	Amendment of adherence definition; new data source
Neuroscience	2	Amendment of adherence definition
Primary care	2	Amendment of adherence definition
Cardiovascular	2	Amendment of adherence definition
Musculoskeletal	1	Amendment of adherence definition
Surgical service	1	Amendment of adherence definition
Behavioral health	4	Amendment of adherence definition; new data source; new facility
Women and newborn	2	Amendment of adherence definition; data-quality improvement
Intensive medicine	4	Amendment of adherence definition; new CPM component

We analyzed user sessions of the dashboard using a Tableau system monitoring report, as represented in Figure 6. Test and administration users were excluded from the analysis. Overall, the usage pattern was stable with minor seasonal effects and spikes.

## **Data Provenance: Tracking Revisions of Care Process** Model Adherence Definitions

Since implementation, we set up monthly meetings involving clinical programs, CPM implementation leadership, data analysts, and knowledge engineers. These meetings were meant to (1) monitor CPM adherence data, (2) review current adherence definitions and discuss room for improvement, and (3) discuss ways to encourage providers to use CPMs. During the pilot study period, a number of revisions to the definitions were made (see Table 2). Many of the revisions included amendments to the definitions, while some included the addition of new data sources to the EDW or resolving data-quality issues. Definitions were updated with revisions in the knowledge base and the links to the Alteryx pipelines were automatically renewed.

As seen in the bottom portion of Figure 4, the adherence rate steadily increased since implementation. We believe there are two practical reasons for this increase. One is that clinical

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e11659/
```

RenderX

programs have encouraged their clinicians to utilize CPMs, through CPOE training, physician education, etc. The other reason is that some clinical programs revised their adherence definitions. For example, the *oncology program* expanded CPM-designed order sets, which resulted in an increase of the numerator. The *intensive medicine program* revised the definitions of their target patients by narrowing them down to specific facilities, which resulted in a decrease of the denominator.

## Discussion

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

Several studies have used knowledge engineering tools for translation of CPG logics to implement them into practice for the purpose of knowledge standardization and computational automation [4-9]. Unlike in those studies, we used knowledge engineering tools for managing knowledge transformation within analytics processes. Compared with prior work, our original results included (1) validating the usefulness of knowledge management tools within analytics processes, (2) validating the feasibility of integrating knowledge management tools and an analytics framework, and (3) demonstrating the proposed approach using empirical clinical data from local EHR systems.

### Limitations

Although the main contribution of this study is the use of knowledge management, we did not quantitatively analyze the improvement in the consistency of knowledge in transformation or the productivity of analytics pipelines. Rather, we demonstrated it qualitatively, including determining which functionalities of the knowledge base were able to support the consistency of CPM-related knowledge in the development and maintenance phases. We will conduct further analyses in the future as we collect additional data. This will include adding more CPMs with complex clinical settings and practices, including chronic conditions and comorbidities that span multiple encounters, locations, and providers.

In this study, we simplified the adherence definitions to include whether a designated CPM component is used or not used for a target patient, although there may be many variations. We will continue to add more detailed definitions of adherence, including how specific order items or content within CPM components are used. By doing so, we can investigate the mechanism of CPM utilization (ie, use of standard clinical guidelines) and how this can change patient care or clinical workflow.

#### Conclusions

This case study demonstrated that the proposed analytics framework could accommodate complicated knowledge management and data pipelining for CPM evaluation using a knowledge base, while maintaining computational efficiency. It is expected that the benefits of using a knowledge base will be more significant as we add complicated clinical guidelines into the analytics framework.

## **Authors' Contributions**

JL developed the framework, built the dashboard, performed data analysis, and designed the study. NCH helped design the study, provided knowledge base consultation, collaborated with clinicians, and validated the feasibility of the architecture and the results of data analysis. The authors do not have any funding or financial support associated with this project.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Woolf SH, Grol R, Hutchinson A, Eccles M, Grimshaw J. Clinical guidelines: Potential benefits, limitations, and harms of clinical guidelines. BMJ 1999 Feb 20;318(7182):527-530 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10024268]
- 2. Institute of Medicine. In: Graham R, Mancher M, Miller Wolman D, Greenfield S, Steinberg E, editors. Clinical Practice Guidelines We Can Trust. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2011.
- 3. de Clercq PA, Hasman A, Blom JA, Korsten HH. Design and implementation of a framework to support the development of clinical guidelines. Int J Med Inform 2001 Dec;64(2-3):285-318. [Medline: <u>11734393</u>]
- Rosenfeld RM, Shiffman RN. Clinical practice guideline development manual: A quality-driven approach for translating evidence into action. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2009 Jun;140(6 Suppl 1):S1-S43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.otohns.2009.04.015] [Medline: 19464525]
- Ennis J, Gillen D, Rubenstein A, Worcester E, Brecher ME, Asplin J, et al. Clinical decision support improves physician guideline adherence for laboratory monitoring of chronic kidney disease: A matched cohort study. BMC Nephrol 2015 Oct 15;16:163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12882-015-0159-5] [Medline: 26471846]
- Goldstein MK, Hoffman BB, Coleman RW, Musen MA, Tu SW, Advani A, et al. Implementing clinical practice guidelines while taking account of changing evidence: ATHENA DSS, an easily modifiable decision-support system for managing hypertension in primary care. Proc AMIA Symp 2000:300-304 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11079893</u>]
- Tso GJ, Tu SW, Oshiro C, Martins S, Ashcraft M, Yuen KW, et al. Automating guidelines for clinical decision support: Knowledge engineering and implementation. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2016;2016:1189-1198 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 28269916]
- Abidi S. A knowledge-modeling approach to integrate multiple clinical practice guidelines to provide evidence-based clinical decision support for managing comorbid conditions. J Med Syst 2017 Oct 26;41(12):193. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-017-0841-1] [Medline: 29076113]
- Abidi SR, Abidi SSR, Hussain S, Shepherd M. Ontology-based modeling of clinical practice guidelines: A clinical decision support system for breast cancer follow-up interventions at primary care settings. Stud Health Technol Inform 2007;129(Pt 2):845-849. [Medline: <u>17911835</u>]
- 10. Worrall G, Chaulk P, Freake D. The effects of clinical practice guidelines on patient outcomes in primary care: A systematic review. CMAJ 1997 Jun 15;156(12):1705-1712 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 9220922]
- Marshall DA, Simpson KN, Norton EC, Biddle AK, Youle M. Measuring the effect of clinical guidelines on patient outcomes. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 2000;16(4):1013-1023. [Medline: <u>11155825</u>]
- 12. Halm E, Atlas S, Borowsky L, Benzer T, Metlay J, Chang Y, et al. Understanding physician adherence with a pneumonia practice guideline: Effects of patient, system, and physician factors. Arch Intern Med 2000 Jan 10;160(1):98-104. [Medline: 10632310]

RenderX

- Midboe AM, Lewis ET, Paik MC, Gallagher RM, Rosenberg JM, Goodman F, et al. Measurement of adherence to clinical practice guidelines for opioid therapy for chronic pain. Transl Behav Med 2012 Mar;2(1):57-64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-011-0104-5] [Medline: 24073098]
- Boyd CM, Darer J, Boult C, Fried LP, Boult L, Wu AW. Clinical practice guidelines and quality of care for older patients with multiple comorbid diseases: Implications for pay for performance. JAMA 2005 Aug 10;294(6):716-724. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.294.6.716</u>] [Medline: <u>16091574</u>]
- 15. Frankel HL, FitzPatrick MK, Gaskell S, Hoff WS, Rotondo MF, Schwab CW. Strategies to improve compliance with evidence-based clinical management guidelines. J Am Coll Surg 1999 Dec;189(6):533-538. [Medline: 10589588]
- 16. James PA, Cowan TM, Graham RP, Majeroni BA, Fox CH, Jaén CR. Using a clinical practice guideline to measure physician practice: Translating a guideline for the management of heart failure. J Am Board Fam Pract 1997;10(3):206-212. [Medline: 9159659]
- 17. Dykes PC. Practice guidelines and measurement: State-of-the-science. Nurs Outlook 2003;51(2):65-69 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12712141]
- Bodesinsky P, Federico P, Miksch S. Visual analysis of compliance with clinical guidelines. In: Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Knowledge Management and Knowledge Technologies. New York, NY: ACM; 2013 Presented at: The 13th International Conference on Knowledge Management and Knowledge Technologies; September 4-6, 2013; Graz, Austria. [doi: 10.1145/2494188.2494202]
- Anderson D, Zlateva I, Khatri K, Ciaburri N. Using health information technology to improve adherence to opioid prescribing guidelines in primary care. Clin J Pain 2015 Jun;31(6):573-579 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1097/AJP.000000000000177</u>] [Medline: <u>25411860</u>]
- 20. Trafton JA, Martins SB, Michel MC, Wang D, Tu SW, Clark DJ, et al. Designing an automated clinical decision support system to match clinical practice guidelines for opioid therapy for chronic pain. Implement Sci 2010 Apr 12;5:26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-5-26] [Medline: 20385018]
- 21. Hulse NC, Galland J, Borsato EP. Evolution in clinical knowledge management strategy at Intermountain Healthcare. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2012;2012:390-399 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23304309]
- 22. Sittig DF, Wright A, Meltzer S, Simonaitis L, Evans RS, Nichol WP, et al. Comparison of clinical knowledge management capabilities of commercially available and leading internally developed electronic health records. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2011 Feb 17;11:13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-11-13] [Medline: 21329520]
- 23. James BC, Savitz LA. How Intermountain trimmed health care costs through robust quality improvement efforts. Health Aff (Millwood) 2011 Jun;30(6):1185-1191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0358] [Medline: 21596758]

## Abbreviations

CDS: clinical decision support CPG: clinical practice guideline CPM: care process model CPOE: computerized physician order entry EDW: enterprise data warehouse EHR: electronic health record ICD-10: 10th revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems SQL: Structured Query Language

Edited by H Wu; submitted 22.07.18; peer-reviewed by S Sun, L Huang; comments to author 27.09.18; revised version received 20.11.18; accepted 11.12.18; published 27.02.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Lee J, Hulse NC An Analytics Framework for Physician Adherence to Clinical Practice Guidelines: Knowledge-Based Approach JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e11659 URL: <u>http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e11659/</u> doi:10.2196/11659 PMID:

©Jaehoon Lee, Nathan C Hulse. Originally published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering (http://biomedeng.jmir.org), 27.02.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic

information, a link to the original publication on http://biomedeng.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Perspectives of Orthopedic Surgeons on the Clinical Use of Bioprinted Cartilage: Qualitative Study

Àngels Salvador Verges<sup>1</sup>, MD; Luis Fernández-Luque<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Meltem Yildirim<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Bertran Salvador-Mata<sup>4</sup>, BTech; Francesc Garcia Cuyàs<sup>5</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Digital Care Research Group, Universitat de Vic – Universitat Central de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain

<sup>2</sup>Qatar Computing Research Institute, Hamad Bin Khalifa University, Doha, Qatar

<sup>3</sup>Research Group on Methodology, Methods, Models and Outcomes of Health and Social Sciences, Centre for Health and Social Care Research, Faculty of Health Science and Welfare, Universitat de Vic – Universitat Central de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain

<sup>4</sup>Scientific Communication, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain

<sup>5</sup>ICT and Health, Catalan Society of Digital Health, Universitat de Vic – Universitat Central de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain

## **Corresponding Author:**

Àngels Salvador Verges, MD Digital Care Research Group Universitat de Vic – Universitat Central de Catalunya 11, Magi Casanovas Barcelona, 08870 Spain Phone: 34 630887995 Email: <u>angels.salvador@uvic.cat</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Over the past 60 years, no technique used for treating cartilage disorders has been completely successful. Bioprinting provides a highly anticipated, novel alternative solution to this problem. However, identifying barriers to this new technology is crucial in order to overcome them when bioprinting reaches the implementation stage. This kind of research has been declared essential because clinical efficacy and safety studies alone do not always lead to successful implementation.

**Objective:** This qualitative study aimed to explore the stance of orthopedic surgeons on the use of bioprinted cartilage grafts for cartilaginous lesions. The study sought to summarize and classify the barriers and facilitators of this technique and to identify the key factors for successful implementation of bioprinted cartilage in routine clinical practice.

**Methods:** A qualitative thematic analysis method was used to evaluate data obtained from semistructured interviews and from focus groups. Data were collected between June 2017 and February 2018. Interviews focused on the collection of expert opinions on bioprinted cartilage.

**Results:** The perceived barriers to the adoption of this technology were (1) awareness of a lack of information on the status and possibilities of this technology, (2) uncertainty regarding compliance with current health care regulations and policies, and (3) demands for clinical evidence. The facilitators were (1) lack of surgical alternatives, (2) the perception that research is the basis of the current health system, and (3) the hope of offering a better quality of life to patients.

**Conclusions:** The results of this study are preliminary in nature and cannot be generalized without a broader group of participants. However, the key factors identified provide a frame of reference to help understand the challenges of bioprinted cartilage and help facilitate the transition toward its clinical use. These findings will also provide information for use at multidisciplinary meetings in scientific societies; create bridges between researchers, orthopedic surgeons, and regulators; and open a debate on the funding of this technique and the business model that needs to be developed.

## (JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e12148) doi:10.2196/12148

# KEYWORDS

RenderX

bioprinting; orthopedic surgeons; qualitative research; cartilage; expert testimony

# Introduction

## Background

Traumatic cartilage lesions and arthritis are two of the most prevalent chronic diseases worldwide. According to data from the Global Burden of Disease Study [1], the number of people suffering from disorders caused by such diseases has increased from 140 million in 1990 to 242 million in 2013. Cartilage is a highly hydrated and specialized tissue providing a low-friction surface and resistance to erosion and diarthrodial joint load, allowing for effective articular movements. Unfortunately, the function and structure of cartilage are often damaged by trauma or ageing, adding to the fact that cartilage has a low capacity to self-heal.

Treatment of these diseases is still a challenge, and an effective solution remains to be found. These defects or lesions can last for years and can lead to arthritis [2]. Current repair techniques for cartilage lesions can be divided into two main groups: bone marrow stimulation and transplantation techniques [3,4].

The potential of regenerative medicine and tissue engineering is now recognized worldwide. These new techniques are responsible for "shifting the paradigm in health care from symptomatic treatment in the 20th century to curative treatment in the 21st century" [5-7]. Currently, three-dimensional (3D) printing is used for several applications in the medical field, for example, in the printing of patient-specific osteotomy guides. Other surgical specialties use 3D printing to study the disease pathology in a patient and practice with a 3D-printed model before surgery [8].

Bioprinting refers to the use of 3D printing to combine cells, growth factors, and biomaterials to create tissues and organs mimicking the features of their natural counterparts [9]. Bioprinting generally uses the extrusion-based method, which consists of the layer-by-layer deposition of cells through bio-ink, creating a structure similar to the natural tissue that can be used in tissue engineering and medicine. Bioprinting, which emerged in 2004 with the use of additive manufacturing, combines cells, gels, and several biocompatible elements in a single scaffold, which can replace injured issue with a complex structure that contains several components, including structural and cellular constituents. The external shape and internal architecture can be modeled based on clinical images. Ideally, cartilage creations aimed to fill cartilage defects should be similar to the extracellular matrix to keep cells in their place and preserve a space for the tissue that will grow there [10]. Levato et al published that although the most suitable types of cells for bioprinting are well known, more research needs to be conducted regarding zonal organization of cartilage [11]. There is also the need to study the complex mechanical behavior of cartilage under compression, as a result of sliding and shear [12].

However, barriers and challenges for implementing a new technology must not be underestimated, and it is essential that they are addressed in advance to guarantee the widespread application of bioprinting once it has reached its maturity. Research focused on this has been highlighted as crucial, since clinical efficiency and safety do not always lead to successful implementation. A recent editorial [13] encouraged implementation research at the beginning of development.

## Objectives

This qualitative study aimed to explore the stance of orthopedic surgeons on the use of bioprinted cartilage grafts for cartilaginous lesions. We sought to classify the barriers and facilitators of this new technology and identify key factors that need to be considered for successfully implementation of bioprinted cartilage in routine clinical practice.

# Methods

## **Study Design**

The applied design consisted of a hybrid inductive and deductive thematic analysis, which allowed for interpreting gross data extracted from in-depth, semistructured interviews with orthopedic surgeons. This methodology was chosen to best reflect the perspective of interviewees.

## **Inclusion Criteria**

For inclusion, orthopedic surgeons had to (1) have more than 5 years of experience in the field, (2) be currently working in a hospital, and (3) be actively performing surgery. No contacted participants were excluded.

## **Ethical Compliance**

All participants were volunteers and agreed to participate in the interview or focus group. All were provided with the Ethics Research Committee document and signed the informed consent form. Authorization by the University Research Committee of University of Vic – Central of Catalonia (Spain) was granted (record number 28/2017).

All participants were informed in advance about the nature of the project, risks, advantages, and alternatives and their rights as research subjects. Measures were taken to ensure the data collected remained confidential; participants' safety and privacy were protected during and after the study.

## **Participant Selection**

All participants were contacted via email, signed the informed consent form, and authorized the recording of the interview. Participants consisted of 18 orthopedic surgeons, ages 35-67. The group included 15 men and 3 women. Six were heads of units and 12 were specialists.

## **Interview Structure for Data Generation**

In 2001, Patton [14] created a list of 6 question types that could be formulated based on behavior or experience, opinion or values, feelings, knowledge, and perception; those questions aimed to obtain demographic or background data. Our guideline included the following themes: 3D printing, bioprinted cartilage, cell origin, current needs, rejection, expectations, and suggestions.


Figure 1. Flowchart of the interview process. IC: informed consent.



The interviews began by exploring the participants' knowledge regarding the medical applications of 3D printing and bioprinted cartilage. Questions on the use of stem cells were an important element of the interview, as much research is currently being conducted on mesenchymal cells obtained from umbilical cord tissue, adipose tissue, and bone marrow. The use of induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells was also explored.

Questions related to current needs were aimed to corroborate the lack of efficiency in existing surgical techniques and the importance of research to find new practices. Questions on the expectations and reluctance of surgeons regarding the use of bioprinted cartilage sought to understand reasons for and against usage if the opportunity arose. The final section of the interview allowed for them to analyze the current situation and talk about future possibilities.

The interviews were always done with the same system (see the flowchart in Figure 1).

# **Recording the Interviews**

The interviews and focus group discussions were conducted between June 2017 and February 2018. To protect the identity of all participants, each participant was codified to a randomly generated number that was then used in all study documentation. Their information was kept in a password-protected virtual folder of the university. Interviews were recorded digitally and transferred to the computer, where they were saved with the interviewee number and date of the recording. Informed consent forms were also stored at the university.

A single interview was conducted for each of the 18 participants, with the introduction providing context for the interview. The shortest and longest interviews were 25 minutes, 7 seconds and 43 minutes, 11 seconds, respectively. In total, we recorded 10 hours and 18 minutes of interviews.

Most interviews were conducted in the workplace of the interviewee, except for 4 participants who chose to have the interview in a coffee shop.

# **Recording the Focus Groups**

Two focus groups were put together, and participant privacy was guaranteed in the same way as for the interviews. The first group consisted of 8 people, and the recording lasted 45 minutes,

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e12148/
```

23 seconds. The second group consisted of 5 people, and the recording lasted 74 minutes, 49 seconds.

# **Global Data Analysis**

To ensure thematic integrity, this study used only data obtained from orthopedic surgeons. This analysis aimed to generate a list of relevant concepts that could be extrapolated and categorized. This leads to an inductive approach where topics have been identified by contextual information.

The integrity of the analysis was ensured by the directives established by Shenton [15], which included iterative questioning in data collection dialogues and the construction of an "audit trial," among others. The iterative process of grouping and subgrouping questions and answers led to a series of abstract constructions that were used to create a model to understand the context.

#### Inductive and Deductive Analysis of the Data

The analysis used mixed elements of inductive and deductive methods to interpret the gross data [16] and explore the attitude and experiences of the orthopedic surgeons interviewed. The flexibility of the approach helped analyze qualitative data from the interviews. The approach was useful in this study due to its large quantity of data.

Codification was reached through discussion and consent. Three researchers continued their discussion until consensus was reached regarding categorization and subcategorization of topics.

Braun and Clarke's [17] methodology, which identifies, analyzes, and describes reporting patterns, was used as a basis for thematic analysis. Due to the exploratory approach, this practical method was thought to fit the needs of the study perfectly. The process of thematic analysis is developed through 6 phases [18]. Phase 1 is becoming familiar with the data; Phase 2 is generating initial codes; Phase 3 is searching for themes and depuration of codes; Phase 4 is reviewing themes and finding those that are important either for reiteration or relevance to the research question; Phase 5 is defining and naming themes; and Phase 6 is producing the report.

Issues regarding trustworthiness were approached as described by Shenton [15], who provides a description of research, collection, and analysis design. The strategies used to ensure

honesty in the interviews include encouragement to be candid and the assurance of the voluntary nature of the interview and the right to withdraw at any chosen moment. Transferability was accomplished by providing contextual in-depth information on the study and the role of the researcher. The researcher guaranteed confidentiality [19]. For data analysis and figure generation, ATLAS.ti version 8.2.34 was used.

# Results

The analysis of the interviews and focus groups is presented in Table 1 with the aim of describing the current stance of orthopedic surgeons on cartilage grafting. The Table 1 list is what ATLAS.ti denominates as a "frequency count." It represents the number of times these concepts were identified in the texts. Each point was given a code denoting different levels of classification and abstraction, which were later linked to the established categories.

Within the discursive pattern of clinicians, two argumentative groups were identified, which were classified as facilitators and barriers. From these two groups of codes, the most relevant were selected to establish the key factors that will provide a general perspective on the stance of orthopedic surgeons.

# **Barriers**

The barriers consist of the arguments and opinions put forward by the orthopedic surgeons that reflect the perceived challenges or the lack of information with regards to adopting the technology. Figure 2 shows the links between several components generated by ATLAS.ti. It shows the groupings and connections between the codes.

# Lack of Information

The first barrier to be identified, which was coded as "lack of information," had an impact on the following aspects.

# **Cell Therapy**

Orthopedic surgeons admitted their lack of knowledge regarding the acquisition and cell origin of chondrocytes. The participants showed great reluctance regarding the origin of the cells. Furthermore, if cell therapy implied the manipulation of unknown-origin cells, their stance was of total rejection. However, the level of acceptance was considerably higher if they knew the cells originated from the patient, even if they knew that they had to be manipulated (numbers in parentheses after quotes correspond to interviewee identity).

#### These constructors imply cell manipulation. [#D 13]

We don't know if bone marrow or adipocyte is better, it seems like bone marrow could be useful, but it's not so clear. [#23]

Concepts	n
Need for clinical trials	34
Implantation techniques	28
Viability and traceability of the graft	27
Characteristics of the cartilaginous tissue	25
Small lesions (focal defects and osteochondritis)	24
Durability	14
Safety	14
It's the future	13
Costs	13
Cell therapies	12
Need to wait for clinical results	12
Cell types	12
Current techniques	11
Uncertainty regarding the future	10
Regulation	10
Stem cells	8
Technical difficulties in some articulations	8
Cell viability	8
Teratogenesis	7
Biocompatibility	7

Figure 2. Diagram of the links between several study components.



The better-known stem cell origins were mesenchymal, adipose, umbilical cord, and bone marrow as they are currently being used in other types of therapies.

I think mesenchymal cells are the way to go. [#23] There is a huge quantity of umbilical cord stored at the blood and tissue bank... Of umbilical cord cells, of adipose cells, cells of peripheral blood, from the skin; we can obtain cells from many places. [#5181]

However, when trying to get the participants to discuss the topic in more detail, they appeared confused, especially when discussing iPS cells, which they were not aware of or did not fully understand.

The safety of iPS is not clear; there is an infinite number of complications—you can ask Yamanaka or Arnold Caplan. [#23]

# **Patient Safety**

All interviewees raised concerns regarding issues related to patient security, the graft, and associated diseases. With regards to the patient and the graft, the concerns focused on teratogenesis and the genetic predisposition of the cells in the graft, as well as the long-term behavior of the graft. Participants also showed a concern regarding graft implantation in patients with severe associated diseases, even though this fear does not have scientific merit.

Two types of safety: Safety for the patients' lives, of course, and safety in knowing that the graft will grow into cartilage, that you know for certain that this thing will create cartilage. [#2341]

Three certainties: One, that these cells behave as we expect them to behave, like cartilaginous cells with

http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e12148/

RenderX

no marginalization at all; two, that these cells are viable in the long term; and third, durability. If I am to implant cartilage, I'll want it to last. [#204]

#### Difficulties With the Surgical Technique

Participants anticipated difficulties with regards to the shape of the graft, as they were unsure if the printing process could comply with the exact measurements provided by doctors. They also cited the place of injury as a possible difficulty.

*Again, there's the problem of the three-dimensional structure of the cartilage.* [#2341]

Not all places are the same. For example, the knee: I think it's viable to insert it on the articular surface of the tibial plateau...Another thing is how it would anchor to the bone, right? But technically I don't see a difficulty here. Now then, it's another thing to insert it on the hip bone, between the cotyloid cavity and the femoral head. [#6]

The lack of knowledge regarding the shape and manipulation of the graft, together with its characteristics led to a third kind of uncertainty, which we see as a barrier related to the surgical difficulties. Similarly, not being able to visualize the graft as part of cartilage that would adapt to the host left participants doubtful as to whether the graft would be able to anchor itself and stay in place.

Ideally, this graft would reproduce the defect exactly. [#D 13]

I would use it now, for young people with osteochondritis of the talus or the knee, where you have a two- or three-millimeter. [#5690]

The size is a factor with the cartilage will it stay in place? [#2901]

How will you fix it there? How? How does it stay there? [#2341]

Another thing I worry about is that this tissue that we insert stays anchored. [#6]

# **Graft Characteristics**

Regarding graft characteristics, the main factors mentioned were viability, durability, integration with the host, and mechanical characteristics of cartilage. For example, participants doubted that the graft would become functional cartilage or develop chondrogenic hypertrophy, which is what happens with current techniques such as the matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation (MACI) procedure.

*Needs to have all the characteristics of the original cartilage.* [#6]

We need proof that long term there will still be cartilage and not fibrous tissue. [#2901]

*Needs to behave biologically like the host's cartilage. We're talking about live cells, right?* [#204]

Orthopedic surgeons also questioned the viability and durability of the graft. They were unaware that the aim of the graft is to become integrated to the native cartilage and that the graft's behavior would mimic the patient's native cartilage.

How long will it last? [#6099]

And the viability of these cells, and their possible side effects. [#1753]

Then, what I understand that these cells are viable themselves, it's not that they need to be invaded by the periphery, but that they are viable and live by themselves. [#5181]



#### Figure 3. Diagram of the codes obtained as facilitators.

# Health Policies and Regulation

Bioprinting, like any other product of tissue engineering will have to comply with the current Good Manufacturing Practice regulations enforced by the Food and Drug Administration and/or the European Medicines Agency.

The clinicians stated that they felt there would be a timeframe in which health policies will not be able to provide an effective answer to their questions, which would be problematic for all practitioners using them.

Who will guarantee the manufacturing process until its arrival in the operating room? [#2083]

It's a legal aspect within the framework of drugs, implants, of techniques. We need to see this technique, legally the European guidelines on the use of tissues and cells. [#4821]

#### Need for Clinical Evidence

As with any scientific innovation, orthopedic surgeons demanded hard clinical evidence be available before they would use bioprinted cartilage. In most cases, this demand materializes as clinical trials and independent clinical research. However, this may be a barrier since clinical trials are not scheduled to take place in the imminent future.

I want more evidence, that is to say, scientific studies that support their efficacy; independent scientific studies. [#2901]

Basically, that there are appropriate clinical trials. [#204]

# Facilitators

Facilitators include all entities that encouraged orthopedic surgeons to be more open to new surgical possibilities to improve the lives of patients. In this group, three themes were identified that were essential to the clinicians to catalyze implementation of cartilage grafts (Figure 3).

# **Clinical Need**

Given that current surgical techniques are not able to provide a definitive solution, orthopedic surgeons are open to innovative techniques that can fill a surgical need. However, as they were not aware of the possibilities bioprinting would bring to field, most of the interviewees stated that research into finding new solutions was critical. Several arguments emphasize this need:

Especially as we don't have anything that works for these patients right now...if it lasts, say, 40 years, I'd say it's marvelous. [#2901]

Nowadays this is something that doesn't have any solution, so of all the things I've heard about maybe this very innovative technique works since no other offer is effective. [#2083]

If this works, it's very promising. [#23]

In this way, the main facilitator identified was the lack of current alternatives, as was to be expected.

Taking this into consideration, orthopedic surgeons, despite the barriers mentioned, are open to this new technology.

We also identified the type of patients that surgeons would be willing to consider treating with bioprinted cartilage implementations. Younger patients were perceived to be better candidates, as they are susceptible to high-risk sports injuries, which often become chronic and difficult to solve in the long term.

That is, with young people with partial cartilage lesions, I see it very clearly; with bigger lesions, I am less optimistic [#23]

I see it as a solution to young people's pathologies, athletes, that have damage due to chondral lesions and which can happen at any age, but they hinder young people's activity. [#6]

Additionally, we identified the specific characteristic within this population that significantly improved the acceptance of bioprinting technology, namely the size of the lesion. Orthopedic surgeons were distinctly in favor of using grafts in small lesions (1 or 2 cm at most), in order to accelerate integration with the host. However, they did not show the same certainty with larger lesions.

*I can see it being used with partial cartilage lesions.* [#2901]

*If the lesions are small, and the joints are not loaded.* [#6356]

# Perception of Bioprinting as a Future Treatment

Clinicians agreed that medicine depends on constant research to find solutions to unresolved problems. In other words, they perceived scientific research as a positive entity. Another argument identified the perception of bioprinting as a future solution, with participants being optimistic about graft bioprinting.

It is a future solution to important problems for orthopedic surgeons. [#6346]

When we talk about the medicine of the future, which is not so far away now, to be able to reproduce the tissue of the patient. [#204]

#### **Expectations**

Faced with an unresolved clinical need and the perception that bioprinting could be a solution in the future, orthopedic surgeons expect to hear about the benefits of this technique. Biocompatibility is not only a favorable factor but is essential to surgical practice. Many current techniques already have these characteristics, and therefore clinicians demand that future solutions meet or exceed these standards.

To find a three-dimensional structure that holds the cells, that holds what they must have, and that this three-dimensional structure is biocompatible, degradable, and easy to manipulate. [#2341]

At the same time, participants emphasized that this technique had the ability to improve patients' quality of life significantly, either by alleviating their pain, improving their mobility, or by preventing lesions from developing into arthritis in younger patients. If these were to be accomplished with the new technology, surgeons expect the need for total prosthesis to diminish significantly.

# **Key Factors**

Where barriers and facilitators meet, key factors emerge. Key factors function as the theoretical framework for the perspectives of orthopedic surgeons on bioprinted cartilage. In general, their belief is grounded on clinical need and expectations for effective solutions. Despite this, a reluctance to adopt the technology was detected among the interviewees, with reasons ranging from (conscious and unconscious) lack of information to clinical demands. Figure 4 offers a complex concept map, which is the first attempt to represent the stance of clinicians with an aim to help direct future research.

Apart from the elements present in both barriers and facilitators, two more factors were considered key factors and coded as such. They included costs and the identity of companies that would manage the product. It is impossible to address these uncertainties now; hence, they could not be labeled as either facilitators or barriers, only as relevant factors that need to be addressed.



Figure 4. Where barriers and facilitators meet, key factors emerge.



# Discussion

# **Principal Considerations**

As has been proven in a previous bibliographical review [20,21], the research and acquisition of bioprinted cartilage is still in a premature state. Other researchers have already highlighted that despite the growing number of solutions coming from tissue engineering that are being transitioned to clinical use, the success of considerably sized scaffoldings with personalized geometries is still a significant challenge. Therapies based on mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), despite having been successful in renovating the cartilage and alleviating pain, have not provided enough evidence on original hyaline cartilage restoration that would improve osteoarthritis in the long term.

The goal of this research is to understand how trauma surgeons perceive this situation and define main barriers and facilitators to develop strategies favoring the future implementation of bioprinted cartilage. The data collected and organized into either barriers or facilitators as detailed in our results will help future discussions focus on the most fundamental aspects of this technology.

One of the main needs identified is improving communication with orthopedic surgeons, particularly regarding 3D printing. The lack of knowledge was evident in two ways: conscious and unconscious. Of the two, the latter will be more difficult to address, as it requires further research to better identify the knowledge gaps. When conscious of their lack of knowledge, clinicians have no problem asking questions. However, the lack of knowledge was unconsciously displayed when assumptions were made regarding terms, techniques, or solutions leading to

http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e12148/

RenderX

misinterpretation and confusion. To lead and conduct successful translational research, it is necessary to study and solve problems transversally. An unconscious deficit of knowledge was driven by reading publications or listening to conversations that dealt with cell therapy in a generic and unscientific manner. Thus, the lack of background knowledge was significant, resulting in misperceptions and unfounded reluctance in adopting the technology.

Furthermore, we discovered a lack of knowledge on current applications of 3D printing in medicine, with many of the interviewees having no knowledge of this facet. To address this issue, organization of specific multidisciplinary seminars to discuss the current applications of 3D printing in medicine should be undertaken. This could contribute to orthopedic surgeons becoming more proactive in the implementation of bioprinted cartilage grafts.

In parallel, efforts should be made to help promote an understanding of the fundamentals of cell therapy. This issue was identified as an unconscious knowledge gap. This was also observed in the case of gene therapy for cancer treatment [22]; participants were aware of the treatment but had no deep understanding of it. This was evident from the fact that they used cartilaginous cells provided by laboratories [23] but were reluctant to consider using bioprinted cartilage made of unknown-origin cells, or other cell therapies.

These findings highlight the evident need to develop formative strategies. These strategies would need to be based initially on the fundamentals of cell therapy, escalating toward the future possibilities this technology could offer. Thus, new channels of communication could be created in the medical community.

While it is important for surgeons to have basic knowledge regarding the future applications of cartilage grafting, it is equally important for researchers to recognize and acknowledge the practical needs of clinicians and strive to meet their expectations. Some of the factors that caused the orthopedic surgeons concern included issues such as viability, traceability, and durability. Tissue and skin banks for allografts have established their reliability by ensuring traceability and establishing manipulation standards. Orthopedic surgeons now demand the same degree of reliability from bioprinted cartilage [24].

In addition to the characteristics of the graft, this study has identified important factors that would help direct research in the initial stages. First, by focusing research on specific lesions, such as 1 or 2 cm lesions found in the knee or the ankle, clinicians would have access to a site that is easier to access and operate on. Second, younger patients should be established as the primary recipients of the graft, with the aim of avoiding long-term joint deterioration.

Another issue detected during this study was concern regarding the business model for producing bioprinted grafts. Orthopedic surgeons feared it may not align with current production models. This situation, coded as a key factor, is one of the main issues identified as a barrier in the implementation of this technique.

By analyzing the stance of orthopedic surgeons, at least two possible lines of action can be suggested. If production was handled by private companies, the main demands from surgeons would be for the pieces to be individually customized, with a short production-delivery timeframe. In this instance, the biosafety and tissue traceability could be controlled. Another issue that would need addressing is the cost of the graft. This model would also need to address the patent issue and comply with the ethical requirements and, more importantly, with the current regulations and legislation. The Spanish company Regemat is an example of this. They use Hoffa's fat pad and chondrocytes as described by Lopez Ruiz [25] and induced differentiation of autologous MSC to develop and commercialize cartilage.

Another possibility would be to establish public centers, possibly in a public-private collaboration model, that would have the human and technical resources necessary to produce their own 3D bioprinted pieces. The foundations for such a model already exist in hospitals where 3D printers are already in use. As mentioned above, these hospitals have trained staff who are already competent in the use of 3D printers for a wide variety of uses ranging from the printing of fractures, surgical planning, and creating customized guides for the patient. This system, which would be integrated into hospitals, would allow for constant communication between the medical and technical teams. The hospital as a meeting point ensures that as the technology becomes widely used, more potential applications will be detected, thereby improving the learning curve for both sides—the medical team exploring new and better applications for the technique and the engineering team designing context-specific solutions. This solution would mean bioprinting is the next logical step, born from the growing needs of all medical specialties.

Cell therapy has stirred a debate within the scientific community. Cell therapy can be individually customized, is expensive and innovative, and might help bring a change in health regulation and health care policies. Our research has shown that the demands for scientific evidence for bioprinting will be more stringent than what was required for previous techniques. This is the case of platelet-rich plasma, which has been used by doctors for more than 20 years despite the lack of evidence for its effectiveness [26], with information on clinical trial outcomes having only recently been published [27].

Communication, not only among medical professionals, but among policy makers and health care authorities, is essential to start a debate to define the level and form of evidence required. In this manner, one of the main barriers highlighted by orthopedic surgeons, namely the need for clinical trials, could be surmounted.

# Limitations

This study needs to be interpreted in the context of its limitations. There are inherent limitations to the number of participants and the number of focus groups. Only the data extracted from the orthopedic surgeons' interactions is legitimate; however, it is their opinion that focuses the research in this context.

# Conclusions

These study results are preliminary in nature and therefore they cannot be generalized without a broader demographic. However, the preliminary literature review confirms the lack of research on clinical applications of bioprinted cartilage. Orthopedic surgeons are willing to accept that this new technology has the potential to solve a clinical need and to recognize bioprinting as the technology of the future. However, clear scientific evidence is required before bioprinted cartilage can be used and a debate regarding the optimal business model will be necessary.

We also believe it is necessary to develop a communication strategy and a forum for multidisciplinary discussion to discuss the need for regulation and define the necessary scientific evidence that is required to promote the acceptance of grafts as a viable therapeutic option. From our perspective, this study serves as a first step in the clinical translation of bioprinting cartilage research.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all participants in the interviews and focus group; Professor Juan Muñoz from the Social Psychology Department of the University Autonomy of Barcelona for his help with the methodology and the analysis; and Marina Mustieles for her help in the translation of this text.



# **Authors' Contributions**

The first author completed the field work and the analysis of the data obtained. The other authors contributed to the content, writing, and editing of the manuscript. All the authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Global Burden of Disease Study 2013 Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2015 Aug 22;386(9995):743-800 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60692-4] [Medline: 26063472]
- O'Driscoll SW. The healing and regeneration of articular cartilage. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1998 Dec;80(12):1795-1812. [Medline: <u>9875939</u>]
- 3. Maurer J, Grotejohann B, Jenkner C, Schneider C, Flury T, Tassoni A, et al. A Registry for Evaluation of Efficiency and Safety of Surgical Treatment of Cartilage Defects: The German Cartilage Registry (KnorpelRegister DGOU). JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Jun 29;5(2):e122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5895] [Medline: 27357998]
- 4. Gomoll AH, Farr J, Gillogly SD, Kercher JS, Minas T. Surgical management of articular cartilage defects of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2010 Oct 20;92(14):2470-2490. [Medline: <u>20962200</u>]
- 5. Jessop ZM, Al-Sabah A, Francis WR, Whitaker IS. Transforming healthcare through regenerative medicine. BMC Med 2016 Dec 10;14(1):115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-016-0669-4] [Medline: 27510095]
- Jessop ZM, Javed M, Otto IA, Combellack EJ, Morgan S, Breugem CC, et al. Combining regenerative medicine strategies to provide durable reconstructive options: auricular cartilage tissue engineering. Stem Cell Res Ther 2016 Jan 28;7:19
   [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13287-015-0273-0] [Medline: 26822227]
- O'Dowd A. Peers call for UK to harness "enormous" potential of regenerative medicine. BMJ 2013 Jul 01;347:f4248. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.f4248] [Medline: 23818565]
- Bizzotto N, Tami I, Santucci A, Adani R, Poggi P, Romani D, et al. 3D Printed replica of articular fractures for surgical planning and patient consent: a two years multi-centric experience. 3D Print Med 2015;2(1):2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s41205-016-0006-8] [Medline: 30050974]
- 9. Gu BK, Choi DJ, Park SJ, Kim MS, Kang CM, Kim CH. 3-dimensional bioprinting for tissue engineering applications. Biomater Res 2016;20:12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40824-016-0058-2] [Medline: 27114828]
- Chen JL, Duan L, Zhu W, Xiong J, Wang D. Extracellular matrix production in vitro in cartilage tissue engineering. J Transl Med 2014 Apr 05;12:88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-88] [Medline: 24708713]
- 11. Levato R, Visser J, Planell J, Engel E, Malda J, Mateos-Timoneda M. Biofabrication of tissue constructs by 3D bioprinting of cell-laden microcarriers. Biofabrication 2014 Sep;6(3):035020. [doi: 10.1088/1758-5082/6/3/035020] [Medline: 25048797]
- 12. Mohan Pandey P, Venkata Reddy N, Dhande S. Slicing procedures in layered manufacturing: a review. Rapid Prototyping Journal 2003 Dec;9(5):274-288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1108/13552540310502185]
- 13. Peters DH, Adam T, Alonge O, Agyepong IA, Tran N. Implementation research: what it is and how to do it. BMJ 2013 Nov 20;347:f6753. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.f6753] [Medline: 24259324]
- 14. Patton MQ. Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc; 2001.
- 15. Shenton A. Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. EFI 2004 Jul 19;22(2):63-75. [doi: 10.3233/EFI-2004-22201]
- Fereday J, Muir-Cochrane E. Demonstrating Rigor Using Thematic Analysis: A Hybrid Approach of Inductive and Deductive Coding and Theme Development. International Journal of Qualitative Methods 2016 Nov 29;5(1):80-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/160940690600500107]
- 17. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- Carroll E, Coetzer R. Identity, grief and self-awareness after traumatic brain injury. Neuropsychol Rehabil 2011 Jun;21(3):289-305. [doi: 10.1080/09602011.2011.555972] [Medline: 21391119]
- 19. Malterud K. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet 2001 Aug 11;358(9280):483-488. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05627-6] [Medline: 11513933]
- 20. Roseti L, Cavallo C, Desando G, Parisi V, Petretta M, Bartolotti I, et al. Three-Dimensional Bioprinting of Cartilage by the Use of Stem Cells: A Strategy to Improve Regeneration. Materials (Basel) 2018 Sep 17;11(9) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ma11091749] [Medline: 30227656]
- Xiongfa J, Hao Z, Liming Z, Jun X. Recent advances in 3D bioprinting for the regeneration of functional cartilage. Regen Med 2018 Dec;13(1):73-87. [doi: <u>10.2217/rme-2017-0106</u>] [Medline: <u>29350587</u>]
- 22. Wirth T, Ylä-Herttuala S. Gene Therapy Used in Cancer Treatment. Biomedicines 2014 Apr 08;2(2):149-162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/biomedicines2020149] [Medline: 28548065]

- 23. Guillén-García P, Rodríguez-Iñigo E, Aráuz S, Guillén-Vicente M, Guillén-Vicente I, Caballero-Santos R, et al. Nuestra experiencia con la técnica de implante de condrocitos autólogos para el tratamiento de lesiones condrales: resultados de 50 pacientes a 2 años de seguimiento. Revista Española de Artroscopia y Cirugía Articular 2015 Dec;22(3):120-125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.reaca.2015.10.002]
- 24. Martínez-Flores F, Sandoval-Zamora H, Machuca-Rodriguez C, Barrera-López A, García-Cavazos R, Madinaveitia-Villanueva J. [Skin and tissue bank: Operational model for the recovery and preservation of tissues and skin allografts]. Cir Cir 2016;84(1):85-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.circir.2015.06.021] [Medline: 26259741]
- López-Ruiz E, Perán M, Cobo-Molinos J, Jiménez G, Picón M, Bustamante M, et al. Chondrocytes extract from patients with osteoarthritis induces chondrogenesis in infrapatellar fat pad-derived stem cells. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2013 Jan;21(1):246-258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2012.10.007] [Medline: 23085560]
- 26. Anitua E. Plasma rich in growth factors: preliminary results of use in the preparation of future sites for implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 1999;14(4):529-535. [Medline: 10453668]
- 27. Gamal AY, Abdel Ghaffar KA, Alghezwy OA. Crevicular Fluid Growth Factors Release Profile Following the Use of Platelet-Rich Fibrin and Plasma Rich Growth Factors in Treating Periodontal Intrabony Defects: A Randomized Clinical Trial. J Periodontol 2016 Dec;87(6):654-662. [doi: 10.1902/jop.2016.150314] [Medline: 26876351]

# Abbreviations

**iPS:** induced pluripotent stem **MSC:** mesenchymal stem cells

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 08.09.18; peer-reviewed by V Giordano, P Haubruck, M Soto, C Basch; comments to author 30.01.19; revised version received 11.02.19; accepted 17.02.19; published 28.02.19.

Please cite as:

Salvador Verges À, Fernández-Luque L, Yildirim M, Salvador-Mata B, Garcia Cuyàs F Perspectives of Orthopedic Surgeons on the Clinical Use of Bioprinted Cartilage: Qualitative Study JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e12148 URL: http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e12148/ doi:10.2196/12148 PMID:

©Àngels Salvador Verges, Luis Fernández-Luque, Meltem Yildirim, Bertran Salvador-Mata, Francesc Garcia Cuyàs. Originally published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering (http://biomedeng.jmir.org), 28.02.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://biomedeng.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# The Impact of Aging and Hand Dominance on the Passive Wrist Stiffness of Squash Players: Pilot Study

Taya Hamilton<sup>1</sup>, PT, GDNR; Stan Durand<sup>1,2</sup>, MSc, MEng; Hermano Igo Krebs<sup>1,3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>The 77 Lab, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Institut de Biomécanique Humaine, Georges Charpak Arts et Métiers, ParisTech, Paris, France

<sup>3</sup>Division of Rehabilitation Medicine, Department of Neurology, School of Medicine, University of Maryland, Baltimore, MD, United States

Corresponding Author: Taya Hamilton, PT, GDNR The 77 Lab Department of Mechanical Engineering Massachusetts Institute of Technology 77 Massachusetts Avenue Cambridge, MA, 02139 United States Phone: 1 857 204 7456 Email: tayavn1@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** Passive joint stiffness can influence the risk of injury and the ability to participate in sports and activities of daily living. However, little is known about how passive joint stiffness changes over time with intensive repetitive exercise, particularly when performing unilateral activities using the dominant upper limb.

**Objective:** This study aimed to investigate the difference in passive wrist quasi-stiffness between the dominant and nondominant upper limb of competitive squash players, compare these results with a previous study on young unskilled subjects, and explore the impact of aging on wrist stiffness.

**Methods:** A total of 7 healthy, right-side dominant male competitive squash players were recruited and examined using the Massachusetts Institute of Technology Wrist-Robot. Subjects were aged between 24 and 72 years (mean 43.7, SD 16.57) and had a mean of 20.6 years of squash playing experience (range 10-53 years, SD 13.85). Torque and displacement data were processed and applied to 2 different estimation methods, the fitting ellipse and the multiple regression method, to obtain wrist stiffness magnitude and orientation.

**Results:** Young squash players (mean 30.75, SD 8.06 years) demonstrated a stiffer dominant wrist, with an average ratio of 1.51, compared with an average ratio of 1.18 in young unskilled subjects. The older squash players (mean 64.67, SD 6.35 years) revealed an average ratio of 0.86 (ie, the nondominant wrist was stiffer than the dominant wrist). There was a statistically significant difference between the magnitude of passive quasi-stiffness between the dominant and nondominant wrist of the young and older squash player groups (P=.004).

**Conclusions:** Findings from this pilot study are novel and contribute to our understanding of the likely long-term effect of highly intensive, unilateral sports on wrist quasi-stiffness and the aging process: adults who participate in repetitive sporting exercise may experience greater joint quasi-stiffness when they are younger than 45 years and more flexibility when they are older than 60 years.

(JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e11670) doi:10.2196/11670

**KEYWORDS** wrist; exercise; aging

# Introduction

# Background

Joint stiffness is a biomechanical feature of human anatomy that is both essential and potentially detrimental to participation in sports, leisure activities such as music, and activities of daily living. Reduced joint stiffness may increase the risk of injury because of poor stabilization of joints and an inability to maintain joint postures [1,2]. Increased joint stiffness has been associated with reduced joint range of motion (ROM) and inflexibility, such as during the aging process [3,4], following surgical intervention [5], or because of abnormal muscle tone secondary to neurological injury or disease [6,7].which can cause both injury and functional limitations.

The term joint stiffness has various definitions depending on the discipline and nature of the research. In physical education, sports medicine, and allied health disciplines, joint stiffness is more commonly referred to as the flexibility, or ROM, of a joint or group of joints [8,9]. In the biomechanical literature, joint stiffness is referred to as the ratio of the change in joint torque to the change in joint angle [10]. Regardless of the definition of the term, joint stiffness is understood to be multidimensional, made up of (1) the elastic properties of noncontractile tissue (tendons, ligaments, and the joint capsule), (2) the elastic properties of intrinsic muscle cross-bridges, and (3) the reflex action of a muscle following change in length [11]. The different methods of assessment aim to distinguish between these components of joint stiffness, altering both the primary tissue structure under evaluation and the magnitude of joint stiffness reported. This study focuses on the measurement of passive joint quasi-stiffness, defined as the rate of change of resistance torque during a slow angular displacement of the joint, in the absence of muscle contraction [1,12].

Extensive research has been conducted on passive joint quasi-stiffness of the lower limb and the impact on gait [6,7], with less research focusing on the upper limb and the equally important impact on activities of daily living, leisure activities, and sports. Of the joints within the upper limb, the neuromuscular control of the wrist has been identified as being dominated by joint stiffness [13,14]. It is, therefore, of paramount importance that we develop our understanding of the properties and variables of passive wrist stiffness in different populations to better comprehend how stiffness impacts the planning and coordination of wrist movements by the neuromuscular system during functional and sporting activities.

Within the literature on wrist joint stiffness, there is large variability in the magnitude and orientation of passive joint quasi-stiffness, likely because of differences in study methodology (alignment and orientation of the starting position, ROM, number of degrees of freedom assessed, and the method of data analysis) as well as subject characteristics (including sex, hand dominance, participation in sporting and leisure activities, and age). Previous studies have investigated the impact of study methodology [15-17], sex [14-17], and hand

dominance [17]. A recent study [17] demonstrated that there was increased passive wrist quasi-stiffness in the dominant upper limb compared with the nondominant upper limb of healthy young men and women. This finding suggests that there are biomechanical factors associated with increased use of the dominant upper limb that influence the passive stiffness of the wrist. To date, the impact of both participation in a highly unilateral sporting activity and aging on passive wrist quasi-stiffness has not been investigated, despite the vital function of the wrist in common sporting activities such as tennis, bowling, golf, badminton, and squash.

## Objectives

Squash players were chosen as the target population for this study because of the highly repetitive, intensive, unilateral nature of the sport and for the vital role the wrist and forearm play in generating high racquet head speeds during the forehand and backhand stroke actions [18,19]. Research has demonstrated that exercise causes adaptations in the properties of muscle tissue such as muscle fiber size, type, and muscle cross-sectional area [20,21], which have been associated with changes in passive joint quasi-stiffness [1,22]. As increased mechanical stimulation of the wrist likely leads to adaptation in muscle tissue during competitive squash play, we hypothesize that (1) squash players will have a larger difference in wrist quasi-stiffness between the dominant (playing side) and nondominant upper limb, regardless of age, and (2) the orientation of wrist stiffness would be equivalent for all study participants. The purpose of this study was to further develop our understanding of joint stiffness by determining the impact of intensive unilateral exercise, in this case playing competitive squash, and the process of aging on wrist properties.

# Methods

# Recruitment

Volunteer competitive squash players were recruited with a study flyer posted on a local Web-based squash association newsletter. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) male, (2) aged 18 years or older, (3) no prior wrist surgery or injury, (4) English-speaking, and (5) a minimum of 5 years of playing experience. Only male subjects were recruited to reduce the risk of data variability, as previous work had demonstrated a difference in the magnitude and direction of wrist quasi-stiffness between the male and female sex [14-17]. Subjects were asked not to participate in any upper limb exercise in the 24 hours preceding their evaluation session to decrease the risk of reduced wrist ROM because of muscle swelling [11] and muscle thixotropic behavior [23] associated with eccentric wrist exercise. To ensure the study participants were competitive players, their squash skill level was recorded using the United States Squash Rating Algorithm (USSRA) [24]. The USSRA calculates a measure of each player's squash skill and ability using the data collected from all matches played in the last 45 months. Further details regarding the calculation of the algorithm can be found elsewhere [24].



Table 1. Subject demographics and age group allocation.

Group allocation	Young players			Older players			
	Subject 3	Subject 5	Subject 6	Subject 7	Subject 1	Subject 2	Subject 4
Age (years) <sup>a</sup>	31	42	26	24	61	72	61
Years of playing experience	20	25	12	10	37	53	20
Squash sessions/week (n)	5	2	4	4	3	3	4
US squash rating criteria by skill level	5.5	5	4.5	5.12	4.47	3	3.5
Hours post upper limb exercise	24	>48	>24	>48	24	24	>48

<sup>a</sup>Subject demographics were collected by interview before commencing the experiment.

A total of 7 healthy male competitive squash players aged between 24 and 72 years (mean 43.7, SD 16.57) volunteered to participate (Table 1). All 7 subjects identified as right hand-dominant for squash play, with 1 subject (subject 3 in Table 1) identifying as ambidextrous (left-hand dominant for activities of daily living, but right-hand dominant during squash play). The sample subject group had a mean of 20.6 years of squash playing experience (range 10-53 years, SD 13.85), a USRSL of 4.2 (range 3-5.5, SD 0.94-possible ranking ranges from 2 to 6, with 6 being the highest ranking), and reported playing between 2 and 5 times per week (median=4, mode=4). A total of 4 subjects were enrolled in the young squash group (mean age 30.75, SD 8.06 years), and 3 subjects were enrolled in the older squash group (mean age 64.67, SD 6.35 years). The Massachusetts Institute of Technology Committee on the Use of Humans as Experimental Subjects approved the study, with all volunteers providing written informed consent before participation.

Data from 7 right-hand dominant males (mean age 28.57, SD 12.11, range 19-55 years) reported in the study by Durand et al

[17] (using the same experimental set-up) were used to compare wrist quasi-stiffness of unskilled subjects with the subjects participating in this trial who participate in regular, intensive, unilateral upper limb activity.

# **Evaluation Method: Massachusetts Institute of Technology Wrist-Robot**

Wrist quasi-stiffness was evaluated using a 3 degree of freedom Wrist Robot (Figure 1, InMotion 3.0, Interactive Motion Technologies, Watertown, MA, USA), described elsewhere [25]. The robot forearm support positions the wrist joint so it aligns with the rotation axes of the robot. The Wrist Robot generates torques and simultaneously records the angular displacement produced into wrist flexion-extension (FE) and radial-ulnar deviation (RUD) [25]. A strap was used to lock forearm pronation-supination of the robot to eliminate confounding forearm movements during the trial. A gravity compensator was included in the robotic set-up to reduce the influence of gravity on the data collected. The gravity compensator was constant for each direction and equivalent to the sum of an average hand mass and the robot handle mass.

Figure 1. Massachusetts Institute of Technology Wrist-Robot and experimental forearm, wrist, and hand position (excluding finger strap).



#### **Experimental Procedure**

Subject demographics were collected in the form of an interview (Table 1). The experiment commenced randomly with the left or right upper limb (using the MATLAB randi X function, MathWorks, Natick, 2016, MA) [26]. The reference position for the upper limb was in keeping with the set-up of Durand et al [17] and Drake and Charles [14] to allow accurate analysis and comparison of study results; the elbow was flexed to 30°, the third metacarpal was aligned with the forearm, and the wrist was positioned in  $0^{\circ}$  wrist extension and  $7^{\circ}$  of ulnar deviation (UD). Although previous studies have used an almost neutral RUD wrist position (0° along wrist UD), this study and Durand et al [17] deliberately selected 7° of wrist UD as this initial wrist position was more comfortable, allowing subjects to remain in a passive muscle state and avoid unwanted muscle activity. The wrist and forearm position was verified with goniometry [27]. Hand grip remained relaxed and the forearm in a neutral position by wrapping a strap over the fingers, securing the hand to the Wrist Robot handle. Subjects were instructed to remain relaxed throughout the experiment, which was monitored by palpating the muscle groups responsible for wrist FE-RUD and checking the data collected between trials. The robot applied a torque of up to 1.95 Nm to reach a predefined target (from 0-20° along each direction defined through the 2D FE-RUD space) at a predefined speed (between 0.1 and 0.2 rad/s to inhibit muscle reflexes). Data were collected at a rate of 200 Hz. Each trial consisted of 36 movements (inbound and outbound movements) along 12 equally spaced directions through the space defined by FE-RUD. The movements started in pure wrist extension for the right upper limb (pure flexion for the left side) and proceeded counterclockwise, with each of the 12 targets reached once. This cycle was repeated 3 times during each trial to reduce the influence of any artifacts (reflex or small muscle contraction). A trial was conducted on the left and right side before repeating the sequence a second time. Out of the 2 trials for each subject, the trial with the least data noise (unwanted muscle activity) on the left and right wrist was used in the data analysis.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Torque and displacement data were processed using a customized program in MATLAB 2016b [26]. Data collected before commencing each trial of 36 movements were removed, knowing the time to complete each movement, the number of movements, and the acquisition frequency. The processed data were then applied to 2 different estimation methods, the fitting ellipse [16] and the multiple regression (MR) method [28], to obtain wrist stiffness magnitude and orientation among the 4 parameters commonly used (listed below) to characterize a stiffness ellipse [16,28]:

- Size: stiffness magnitude (ellipse surface [Nm/ rad]<sup>2</sup>)
- Orientation: stiffness orientation (angle in degrees between radial deviation (RD) direction and ellipse major axis direction toward RD, counterclockwise angles are considered positive)
- Shape: the ratio of the major axis of the stiffness ellipse to the minor axis
- Equilibrium position: the offset of the ellipse center corresponding to the FE and RUD offset angles.

The fitting ellipse method (Figure 2) calculates the torque and angular displacement parallel and perpendicular to the direction of each of the 36 perturbations. Stiffness was then estimated (separately for outbound and inbound movements) by running a linear regression of the torque and the angle parallel to the perturbation direction. The mean stiffness values for the estimates of each of the outbound and inbound 36 perturbation directions were then used to fit a stiffness ellipse. Previous research indicates that the major weakness of the fitting ellipse approach is that it only considers the components of torque and angle parallel to the perturbation direction and does not include stiffness effects perpendicular to the perturbation direction. Of note, the fitting ellipse method allows for asymmetry of the elastic field with respect to the neutral position and is susceptible to data noise [17]. Although we fitted the stiffness values with a least square condition to keep consistent ellipse shapes, an excessive stiffness value along 1 direction will tend to stretch the ellipse and increase the size of the ellipse.

The MR method (Figure 2) determines the 4 elements of the stiffness matrix by multiple linear regression (using MATLAB's regress function [26]). Separate stiffness matrices were estimated for the inbound, outbound, and the composite of both movements. Each matrix was separated into the symmetric and asymmetric parts. Only the symmetric part of each stiffness matrix was displayed as a stiffness ellipse [28].

A 1-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to confirm the normal distribution of the data. A 1-way analysis of variance was calculated to determine the statistical difference between the wrist quasi-stiffness of the left and the right arm in the young and older squash player groups and to compare the magnitude of the wrist quasi-stiffness and orientation of the 4 young squash players with the results of the 7 young right-handed dominant, unskilled male subjects [17]. The level of statistical significance for comparisons was set to P < .05. A Pearson r calculation was performed to determine the correlation between the magnitude of passive wrist quasi-stiffness in both the young and older squash groups and (1) age, (2) years of squash play, and (3) frequency of squash play.



#### Hamilton et al

Figure 2. (a) The fitting ellipse method, where variable  $\tau$  represents torque, 'j' corresponds to 1 of the 12 directions considered through the FE-RUD plane,  $\parallel$  means parallel to the wrist movement direction, and  $\perp$  means perpendicular to this direction. R<sub>j</sub> is the rotation matrix for the jth direction,  $\theta$  represents angular displacement, and 'K' represents quasi-stiffness [16]. (b) The MR method, where variable 'K' represents quasi-stiffness, 'FE' refers to flexion-extension, 'RUD' refers to radial-ulnar deviation wrist joint movement planes,  $\tau$  represents torque,  $\theta$  means partial derivative,  $\theta$  represents angular displacement, 's' denotes the symmetric, 'a' represents the antisymmetric components of each stiffness matrix, and 'T' represents the transpose operation [28].

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tau_{j,\parallel} \\ \tau_{j,\perp} \end{bmatrix} = R_j \begin{bmatrix} \tau_{FE} \\ \tau_{RUD} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \theta_{j,\parallel} \\ \theta_{j,\perp} \end{bmatrix} = R_j \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{FE} \\ \theta_{RUD} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$R_j = regress(\tau_{j,\parallel}, \theta_{j,\parallel})$$

(b)

(a)

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} K_{FE,FE} & K_{FE,RUD} \\ K_{RUD,FE} & K_{RUD,RUD} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \tau_{FE}}{\partial \theta_{FE}} & \frac{\partial \tau_{FE}}{\partial \theta_{RUD}} \\ \frac{\partial \tau_{RUD}}{\partial \theta_{FE}} & \frac{\partial \tau_{RUD}}{\partial \theta_{RUD}} \end{bmatrix}$$

 $\begin{cases} [K_{FE,FE}, K_{FE,RUD}] = regress(\tau_{FE}, [\theta_{FE}, \theta_{RUD}]) \\ [K_{RUD,FE}, K_{RUD,RUD}] = regress(\tau_{RUD}, [\theta_{FE}, \theta_{RUD}]) \end{cases}$ 

$$K_s = \frac{K + K^T}{2}$$
 and  $K_a = \frac{K - K^T}{2}$ ,  $K = K_s + K_a$ 

# Results

# Magnitude of Wrist Stiffness in Squash Players: Hand Dominance and Age Group Analysis

For the older adult group, the mean passive wrist stiffness magnitude of the left upper limb was 11.91 Nm/rad<sup>2</sup> (SD 1.26) and 9.99 Nm/rad<sup>2</sup> (SD 2.12) for the right upper limb. The ratio between right (dominant playing upper limb) and the left arm for the older adult group was 0.86. The older adult demonstrated a higher mean stiffness in the left (nondominant, nonplaying)

upper limb (Figure 3). For the young adult group, the mean passive wrist stiffness magnitude of the left upper limb was 4.58 Nm/rad<sup>2</sup> (SD 1.39) and 6.75 Nm/rad<sup>2</sup> (SD 4.44) for the right upper limb. The ratio between right and left upper limb for the young squash group was 1.51. This playing group demonstrated a higher mean stiffness in the right (dominant playing) upper limb (Figure 4). There was a statistically significant difference between the magnitude of passive quasi-stiffness between the dominant and nondominant wrist of the young and older squash player groups (P=.004).



Figure 3. Mean passive quasi-stiffness ellipses (solid lines) and standard deviations (dotted lines) for the left and right wrist of the older adult squash player group (n=3).



Figure 4. Mean passive quasi-stiffness ellipses (solid lines) and standard deviations (dotted lines) for the left and right wrist of the young squash player group (n=4).



# **Right wrist**



# Magnitude of Wrist Stiffness in Young Adults: Unskilled and Squash Player Analysis

Results from the comparison of the 4 young squash payers (ratio right over left stiffness magnitude of 1.51) with the 7 young unskilled males (ratio right over left stiffness magnitude of 1.18) showed a stiffer dominant wrist for the squash players. There was no statistically significant difference between the young unskilled and the young squash player groups (P=.98).

# Correlations: Magnitude of Wrist Stiffness and Subject Characteristics

The correlation between the passive wrist stiffness of all 7 players and subject characteristics revealed an interesting difference between the dominant and nondominant upper limb. There was a strong positive correlation between passive stiffness of the nondominant left wrist and age ( $R^2$ =0.87), whereas there was no clear correlation between passive wrist stiffness of the dominant right wrist and age ( $R^2$ =0.09) or years of squash play ( $R^2$ =0.01). When analyzing the correlation of the subject characteristics and the age subgroups, the young squash player

http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e11670/

RenderX

group showed a strong positive correlation between passive wrist stiffness of the right wrist and the frequency of play ( $R^2$ =0.76). The older adult players demonstrated a strong negative correlation between passive wrist stiffness of the right wrist and the age of the player ( $R^2$ =0.88) and the number of years of playing experience ( $R^2$ =0.96).

# Orientation of Wrist Stiffness: Unskilled and Squash Player Analysis

For the young unskilled group, the orientation of highest quasi-stiffness followed a "dart throwing" pattern, with a mean angle of 14.42° (SD 4.45) for the left wrist and a mean angle of  $-13.96^{\circ}$  (SD 7.06) for the right [17]. For the young squash player group, the orientation of highest quasi-stiffness had a mean angle of  $16.11^{\circ}$  (SD 12.80) for the left wrist and a mean angle of  $-20.95^{\circ}$  (SD 15.20) for the right. Both groups showed symmetric values for right and left wrists; however, a statistically significant difference was found between the unskilled and squash player groups (*P*<.001).

# Discussion

# Passive Wrist Quasi-Stiffness and Exercise

The magnitude of passive wrist quasi-stiffness of the young players confirmed the study hypotheses that competitive squash players demonstrate greater quasi-stiffness in the dominant playing upper limb compared with the nondominant upper limb. Although the ratio of dominant over nondominant wrist quasi-stiffness for young squash players compared with unskilled young subjects did not reach statistical significance, there was a trend favoring the squash player group. Studies investigating other sporting activities have shown that muscle strength, orientation of joint stiffness, and pattern of ROM between the playing and nonplaying upper limb do not consistently increase or decrease on the playing side. Klinge et al [29] studied the effect of strength training on flexibility and demonstrated that a 43% increase in isometric muscle strength resulted in a 25% increase in passive joint stiffness. Borsa et al [30] studied the difference in glenohumeral joint stiffness and ROM between the pitching and nonpitching upper limb in professional baseball players. Their results showed a difference in the ROM of the pitching and nonpitching upper limb but not a significant increase in passive stiffness on the pitching side. Indeed, the correlation between the measure of joint ROM and passive joint stiffness remains unclear. Some studies claim that joint ROM and passive joint stiffness (K) can be considered 2 components of the same phenomenon. Pando et al [15] demonstrated that the pattern of wrist stiffness was inversely related to the ROM ( $K_{Radial Deviation} > K_{Ulnar Deviation} > K_{Extension}$ ~K<sub>Flexion</sub>, whereas  $ROM_{Radial Deviation} < ROM_{Ulnar Deviation} <$ ROM<sub>Extension</sub> ~ROM<sub>Flexion</sub>). However, in the study by Gleim and McHugh [31], an increase in ROM of a joint did not correspond with a decrease in passive stiffness of a joint or muscle. This study claimed that changes in ROM can be attributed to increased stretch tolerance without a change in stiffness magnitude [31].

There have been few studies, to the authors' knowledge, investigating the effect of exercise or sporting activities on passive wrist stiffness. Leger and Milner [11] investigated passive and active joint stiffness following wrist extensor muscle injury caused by a single session of intensive eccentric exercise. The study concluded that passive wrist stiffness (measured at a single neutral joint position) did not change following eccentric exercise-induced muscle injury. These findings suggest that this form of exercise does not cause mechanical changes to the noncontractile tissues in a neutral wrist position following a single session of such exercise. It is, therefore, likely that both differences in sporting activities as well as the biomechanics of joints will limit the comparison of our study results. Instead, an evaluation of the magnitude of quasi-stiffness in this study (of the young players), when compared with similar studies using unskilled subjects [15,17], reveals that passive wrist stiffness is slightly higher for competitive squash players. This trend in passive wrist stiffness is likely attributed to the greater cross-sectional area of the surrounding forearm muscles and tensile strength of the passive wrist structures (ligaments, tendons, and bone geometry), which are due to increased

mechanical loading of the wrist during frequent, repetitive, and intensive squash play [32-35]. This conjecture is supported by the strong positive correlation ( $R^2$ =0.76) between the frequency of play and passive wrist stiffness in the young player group. The increased mechanical loading of the wrist associated with squash play may also explain the significant difference in the orientation of wrist quasi-stiffness between the unskilled and young squash playing groups. Nonetheless, as there is inconsistency in the orientation of wrist quasi-stiffness reported in the literature, it is possible that both differences in study subject's physical activities and study methodology contribute to the variance seen [14-17].

# Influence of Aging and Exercise on Quasi-Stiffness

Although age-related increases in passive joint stiffness may seem clinically obvious, how exercise impacts passive joint stiffness in older adults has not been widely studied and results are inconsistent. Inconclusive results are likely because of variances in the joints evaluated, the study methodology, and the definition of flexibility and stiffness measurements. In research on flexibility, active older tennis players were shown to maintain shoulder flexibility on their playing side [36], whereas older soccer players were shown to have less flexibility in lumbar flexion and hip rotation than younger players [37]. Investigations into the effects of aging and immobility have shown that reduced physical mobility can be associated with increased passive stiffness. Lapier et al [38] and Gillette and Fell [39] found in animal studies that immobilization leads to increased intramuscular connective tissue and increased joint stiffness. In this study, the negative correlation between wrist stiffness on the dominant playing side and both the years of squash play ( $R^2$ =0.96) and age ( $R^2$ =0.88) in the older adult group strongly suggest that participating in high-intensity exercise could, in fact, slow or even prevent increases in joint stiffness during the aging process. This theory explains the higher stiffness magnitude on the nondominant (nonplaying) wrist in the older squash group and the significant difference in the magnitude of quasi-stiffness between the older and young squash players.

#### **Changes to Muscle Fiber During Aging**

The effect that squash play appears to have on the passive stiffness of the wrist with aging may partly be because of changes in the physiological properties of muscle fibers. The wrist flexor and extensor muscles are composed of approximately 50% type I and 50% type II muscle fibers in young adults aged 17 to 30 years [11,40]. Type II muscle fibers appear to be the most affected by aging, with reports of a 15 to 26% reduction in type IIa and IIb cross-sectional area and a preferential denervation of type II fibers between the age of 20 and 80 years [41]. The increasing proportion of smaller, slow-contracting type I muscle fibers with aging is thought to be an adaptive response to minimize fiber loss. The changes to type II muscle fibers and the increasing percentage of type I fibers are thought to be largely responsible for the reduced muscle mass, force generation of muscle tissue [41], and possibly the increased passive joint stiffness of older adults [42].

```
XSL•FO
```

Hamilton et al

Type I muscle fibers have been reported to have greater passive stiffness, likely because of increased collagen concentration and cross-linking of collagen compared with type II muscle fibers [8,42]. Human and animal studies have demonstrated that an increase in type I muscle fibers leads to increased passive stiffness, whereas when physical exercise induces an increase in type II muscle fibers, there is a corresponding decrease in passive stiffness [8,42]. These observations might explain the pattern of passive wrist joint stiffness seen in the older squash playing group, where the left nonplaying wrist showed a higher passive stiffness (probably owing to an increased percentage of type I muscle fibers during the aging process) and the right dominant playing wrist demonstrating less passive stiffness (likely because of an exercise-induced relative increase or sparing of type II muscle fibers.)

# Limitations

One must take this study with the appropriate caveats; several features of our study design limit the impact and generalizability of the results. Notably, the small sample size of this pilot trial significantly limits the power of the results. Other papers within this field of study have also reported small sample sizes ranging from 6 to 15 subjects [13-17]. The volunteer method of recruitment may have introduced self-selection bias, whereby the volunteer study subjects are not representative of the broader population that participate in squash or other unilateral upper limb sporting activities. Although the study recruited subjects with a wide age range, there were not enough subjects within each age group, and hence, for the most part, we only observed statistical trends favoring some of our conclusions. To reliably determine that there was a significant difference in wrist quasi-stiffness between the dominant (playing side) and nondominant upper limb of the older squash player group, a power analysis (GPower 3.1) indicates that (assuming an alpha

value of .05, power of 0.80, and an effect size (f) of 0.32, calculated from the results of this pilot study) a total of 82 subjects would be required. Additional demographic data such as the duration of squash play, as well as the frequency of play per week, would better represent the subject's playing intensity and may enable more accurate characterization of the influence of playing intensity on passive joint quasi-stiffness. In addition, collecting data such as grip strength and electromyography would have provided further insight into the subject's muscle characteristics and muscle state during the trials to validate the measure of passive joint quasi-stiffness. Nevertheless, we believe our results provide additional information on a sparse landscape of limited literature on the impact of intensive unilateral exercise on passive joint stiffness. Indeed, the absence of comparative studies indicates that our study's findings are novel and potentially influential and that further research is required in this field.

# Conclusions

This study provides a valuable initial insight into the possible effect that highly intensive, repetitive, unilateral sports may have over time on wrist quasi-stiffness and reducing the impact of the aging process. Further studies are required to investigate this relationship with a larger sample size and age group analysis. This field would also benefit from the study of passive wrist stiffness in young and older subjects who participate in intensive bilateral sporting activities such as upper limb weight or grip training to determine the magnitude and effect of changes in muscle fiber type across the lifespan. Our findings confirm that the evaluation of passive joint stiffness has relevance and far-reaching value in many fields, from sporting activities to the rehabilitation of the older adults, following surgical interventions, or those with neurological impairments.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the study volunteers for their time and participation. The authors would also like to acknowledge Joseph Davidson, Rogerio Goncalves, and the members of The 77 Lab at the Mechanical Engineering Department, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) for their technical support during the planning and data collection phases of this study.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

HIK is a co-inventor of several MIT-held patents for robotic therapy. He was the founder of Interactive Motion Technologies and Chairman of the Board (1998-2016). He successfully sold Interactive Motion Technologies to Bionik Inc. He founded 4Motion Robotics, Inc in 2017. TH is now employed by Bionik Inc, the company that purchased Interactive Motion Technologies.

# References

- 1. Leite DX, Vieira JM, Carvalhais VO, Araújo VL, Silva PL, Fonseca ST. Relationship between joint passive stiffness and hip lateral rotator concentric torque. Rev Bras Fisioter 2012;16(5):414-421 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22983213]
- Butler RJ, Crowell HP, Davis IM. Lower extremity stiffness: implications for performance and injury. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 2003 Jul;18(6):511-517. [Medline: <u>12828900</u>]
- 3. Ochi E, Nakazato K, Song H, Nakajima H. Aging effects on passive resistive torque in the rat ankle joint after lengthening contractions. J Orthop Sci 2008 May;13(3):218-224. [doi: 10.1007/s00776-008-1216-8] [Medline: 18528655]
- 4. Grimston SK, Nigg BM, Hanley DA, Engsberg JR. Differences in ankle joint complex range of motion as a function of age. Foot Ankle 1993 May;14(4):215-222. [Medline: <u>8359768</u>]
- 5. Bot AG, Ring DC. Recovery after fracture of the distal radius. Hand Clin 2012 May;28(2):235-243. [doi: 10.1016/j.hcl.2012.03.006] [Medline: 22554667]

- Lorentzen J, Grey MJ, Crone C, Mazevet D, Biering-Sørensen F, Nielsen JB. Distinguishing active from passive components of ankle plantar flexor stiffness in stroke, spinal cord injury and multiple sclerosis. Clin Neurophysiol 2010 Nov;121(11):1939-1951. [doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.02.167] [Medline: 20457538]
- 7. Roy A, Forrester LW, Macko RF, Krebs HI. Changes in passive ankle stiffness and its effects on gait function in people with chronic stroke. J Rehabil Res Dev 2013;50(4):555-572 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23934875]
- 8. Alter M. Science of flexibility. 3rd ed. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2004.
- 9. Stone W, Kroll W. Sports Conditioning and Weight Training: Programs for Athletic Competition. University of Michigan: Allyn & Bacon; 1986.
- 10. Kearney RE, Hunter IW. System identification of human joint dynamics. Crit Rev Biomed Eng 1990;18(1):55-87. [Medline: 2204515]
- 11. Leger AB, Milner TE. Passive and active wrist joint stiffness following eccentric exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 2000 Aug;82(5-6):472-479. [doi: 10.1007/s004210000227] [Medline: 10985603]
- 12. Herbert R. The passive mechanical properties of muscle and their adaptations to altered patterns of use. Aust J Physiother 1988;34(3):141-149 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0004-9514(14)60606-1] [Medline: 25026068]
- Charles SK, Hogan N. Stiffness, not inertial coupling, determines path curvature of wrist motions. J Neurophysiol 2012 Feb;107(4):1230-1240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/jn.00428.2011] [Medline: 22131378]
- 14. Drake WB, Charles SK. Passive stiffness of coupled wrist and forearm rotations. Ann Biomed Eng 2014 Sep;42(9):1853-1866. [doi: 10.1007/s10439-014-1054-0] [Medline: 24912766]
- 15. Pando AL, Lee H, Drake WB, Hogan N, Charles SK. Position-dependent characterization of passive wrist stiffness. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2014 Aug;61(8):2235-2244. [doi: 10.1109/TBME.2014.2313532] [Medline: 24686225]
- Formica D, Charles SK, Zollo L, Guglielmelli E, Hogan N, Krebs HI. The passive stiffness of the wrist and forearm. J Neurophysiol 2012 Aug;108(4):1158-1166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/jn.01014.2011] [Medline: 22649208]
- Durand S, Rohan P, Hamilton T, Skalli W, Krebs HI. Passive wrist stiffness: the influence of handedness. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2019 Mar;66(3):656-665. [doi: <u>10.1109/TBME.2018.2853591</u>] [Medline: <u>29993512</u>]
- 18. An YH, Ryu JS, Ryu HY, Soo JM, Lim YT. The kinematic analysis of the upper extremity during backhand stroke in squash. KJSB 2007 Jun 30;17(2):145-156. [doi: 10.5103/KJSB.2007.17.2.145]
- 19. Woo H, Chapman A. A 3D kinematic analysis of the squash forehand stroke. J Biomech 1992 Jul;25(7):720-148. [doi: 10.1016/0021-9290(92)90372-8]
- 20. Gollnick PD, Armstrong RB, Saubert CW, Piehl K, Saltin B. Enzyme activity and fiber composition in skeletal muscle of untrained and trained men. J Appl Physiol 1972 Sep;33(3):312-319. [doi: 10.1152/jappl.1972.33.3.312] [Medline: 4403464]
- 21. Fitts RH. Effects of regular exercise training on skeletal muscle contractile function. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2003 Apr;82(4):320-331. [doi: 10.1097/01.PHM.0000059336.40487.9C] [Medline: 12649660]
- 22. Chleboun GS, Howell JN, Conatser RR, Giesey JJ. The relationship between elbow flexor volume and angular stiffness at the elbow. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 1997 Sep;12(6):383-392. [Medline: <u>11415747</u>]
- 23. Axelson HW. Human motor compensations for thixotropy-dependent changes in muscular resting tension after moderate joint movements. Acta Physiol Scand 2004 Nov;182(3):295-304. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-201X.2004.01358.x] [Medline: 15491408]
- 24. US Squash. 2013. About the Ratings URL: <u>https://www.ussquash.com/about-the-ratings/</u> [accessed 2016-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 717Hq5qt9]
- Krebs HI, Volpe BT, Williams D, Celestino J, Charles SK, Lynch D, et al. Robot-aided neurorehabilitation: a robot for wrist rehabilitation. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2007 Sep;15(3):327-335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2007.903899] [Medline: 17894265]
- 26. MATLAB and Statistics Toolbox Release 2016a. Natick, MA, United States: The MathWorks, Inc; 2016. URL: <u>https://www.mathworks.com/products/matlab.html</u> [accessed 2018-07-24] [WebCite Cache ID 719xBW6ac]
- 27. Gajdosik RL, Bohannon RW. Clinical measurement of range of motion. Review of goniometry emphasizing reliability and validity. Phys Ther 1987 Dec;67(12):1867-1872. [Medline: <u>3685114</u>]
- Mussa-Ivaldi FA, Hogan N, Bizzi E. Neural, mechanical, and geometric factors subserving arm posture in humans. J Neurosci 1985 Oct;5(10):2732-2743 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>4045550</u>]
- Klinge K, Magnusson SP, Simonsen EB, Aagaard P, Klausen K, Kjaer M. The effect of strength and flexibility training on skeletal muscle electromyographic activity, stiffness, and viscoelastic stress relaxation response. Am J Sports Med 1997;25(5):710-716. [doi: 10.1177/036354659702500522] [Medline: 9302482]
- Borsa PA, Dover GC, Wilk KE, Reinold MM. Glenohumeral range of motion and stiffness in professional baseball pitchers. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2006 Jan;38(1):21-26. [Medline: <u>16394949</u>]
- 31. Gleim GW, McHugh MP. Flexibility and its effects on sports injury and performance. Sports Med 1997 Nov;24(5):289-299. [Medline: <u>9368275</u>]
- 32. Ducher G, Jaffré C, Arlettaz A, Benhamou C, Courteix D. Effects of long-term tennis playing on the muscle-bone relationship in the dominant and nondominant forearms. Can J Appl Physiol 2005 Feb;30(1):3-17. [Medline: <u>15855679</u>]
- 33. Jones HH, Priest JD, Hayes WC, Tichenor CC, Nagel DA. Humeral hypertrophy in response to exercise. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1977 Mar;59(2):204-208. [Medline: <u>845205</u>]

- 34. Haapasalo H, Kontulainen S, Sievänen H, Kannus P, Järvinen M, Vuori I. Exercise-induced bone gain is due to enlargement in bone size without a change in volumetric bone density: a peripheral quantitative computed tomography study of the upper arms of male tennis players. Bone 2000 Sep;27(3):351-357. [Medline: <u>10962345</u>]
- 35. Kontulainen S, Sievänen H, Kannus P, Pasanen M, Vuori I. Effect of long-term impact-loading on mass, size, and estimated strength of humerus and radius of female racquet-sports players: a peripheral quantitative computed tomography study between young and old starters and controls. J Bone Miner Res 2003 Feb;18(2):352-359 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.2.352] [Medline: 12568413]
- 36. Haywood KM, Williams K. Age, gender, and flexibility differences in tennis serving among experienced older adults. Aging Phys Act 1995 Jan;3(1):54-66. [doi: 10.1123/japa.3.1.54]
- 37. McHugh M, Gleim G, Magnusson S, Nicholas J. Cross sectional study of age-related musculoskeletal and physiological changes in soccer players. Med Exerc Nutr Heal 1993;2:261-268 [FREE Full text]
- Lapier TK, Burton HW, Almon R, Cerny F. Alterations in intramuscular connective tissue after limb casting affect contraction-induced muscle injury. J Appl Physiol (1985) 1995 Mar;78(3):1065-1069. [doi: <u>10.1152/jappl.1995.78.3.1065</u>] [Medline: <u>7775299</u>]
- Gillette PD, Fell RD. Passive tension in rat hindlimb during suspension unloading and recovery: muscle/joint contributions. J Appl Physiol (1985) 1996 Aug;81(2):724-730. [doi: <u>10.1152/jappl.1996.81.2.724</u>] [Medline: <u>8872639</u>]
- 40. Jennekens FG, Tomlinson BE, Walton JN. Data on the distribution of fibre types in five human limb muscles. An autopsy study. J Neurol Sci 1971 Nov;14(3):245-257. [Medline: <u>4109253</u>]
- 41. Kirkendall DT, Garrett WE. The effects of aging and training on skeletal muscle. Am J Sports Med 1998;26(4):598-602. [doi: 10.1177/03635465980260042401] [Medline: 9689386]
- 42. Ochala J, Valour D, Pousson M, Lambertz D, Van Hoecke J. Gender differences in human muscle and joint mechanical properties during plantar flexion in old age. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2004 May;59(5):441-448. [Medline: 15123753]

# Abbreviations

FE: flexion-extension MR: multiple regression RD: radial deviation ROM: range of motion RUD: radial-ulnar deviation UD: ulnar deviation USSRA: United States Squash Rating Algorithm

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 24.07.18; peer-reviewed by G Signorelli, K Ng; comments to author 24.01.19; revised version received 18.03.19; accepted 30.03.19; published 07.05.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Hamilton T, Durand S, Krebs HI The Impact of Aging and Hand Dominance on the Passive Wrist Stiffness of Squash Players: Pilot Study JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e11670 URL: <u>http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e11670/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/11670</u> PMID:

©Taya Hamilton, Stan Durand, Hermano Igo Krebs. Originally published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering (http://biomedeng.jmir.org), 07.05.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://biomedeng.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Determining the Accuracy of Oculus Touch Controllers for Motor Rehabilitation Applications Using Quantifiable Upper Limb Kinematics: Validation Study

Leia C Shum<sup>1</sup>, BASc; Bulmaro A Valdés<sup>1</sup>, BEng, MPE, PhD; HF Machiel Van der Loos<sup>1</sup>, PEng, PhD

RREACH (Robotics for Rehabilitation Exercise and Assessment in Collaborative Healthcare) Lab, Department of Mechanical Engineering, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Corresponding Author: Leia C Shum, BASc RREACH (Robotics for Rehabilitation Exercise and Assessment in Collaborative Healthcare) Lab Department of Mechanical Engineering The University of British Columbia ICICS X015 2335 Engineering Rd Vancouver, BC, V6T 1Z4 Canada Phone: 1 (604) 822 3147 Email: lcshum@alumni.ubc.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** As commercial motion tracking technology becomes more readily available, it is necessary to evaluate the accuracy of these systems before using them for biomechanical and motor rehabilitation applications.

**Objective:** This study aimed to evaluate the relative position accuracy of the Oculus Touch controllers in a 2.4 x 2.4 m play-space.

**Methods:** Static data samples (n=180) were acquired from the Oculus Touch controllers at step sizes ranging from 5 to 500 mm along 16 different points on the play-space floor with graph paper in the x (width), y (height), and z (depth) directions. The data were compared with reference values using measurements from digital calipers, accurate to 0.01 mm; physical blocks, for which heights were confirmed with digital calipers; and for larger step sizes (300 and 500 mm), a ruler with hatch marks to millimeter units.

**Results:** It was found that the maximum position accuracy error of the system was  $3.5 \pm 2.5$  mm at the largest step size of 500 mm along the z-axis. When normalized to step size, the largest error found was  $12.7 \pm 9.9\%$  at the smallest step size in the y-axis at 6.23 mm. When the step size was <10 mm in any direction, the relative position accuracy increased considerably to above 2% (approximately 2 mm at maximum). An average noise value of 0.036 mm was determined. A comparison of these values to cited visual, goniometric, and proprioceptive resolutions concludes that this system is viable for tracking upper-limb movements for biomechanical and rehabilitation applications. The accuracy of the system was also compared with accuracy values from previous studies using other commercially available devices and a multicamera, marker-based professional motion tracking system.

**Conclusions:** The study found that the linear position accuracy of the Oculus Touch controllers was within an agreeable range for measuring human kinematics in rehabilitative upper-limb exercise protocols. Further testing is required to ascertain acceptable repeatability in multiple sessions and rotational accuracy.

# (JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e12291) doi:10.2196/12291

# KEYWORDS

upper extremity; kinematics; physical medicine and rehabilitation; validation studies; virtual reality

# Introduction

RenderX

Current gaming and virtual reality platforms [1] that use motion-controlled interfaces offer an affordable and accessible method of tracking human kinematics. However, given that

http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e12291/

consumer-grade platforms are originally intended for playing video games and to immerse players in virtual environments, their tracking performance should be evaluated before they are employed as tools for biomechanical or clinical analysis [2]. Previously tested rehabilitation protocols using commercial

gaming technology such as Wii Motes (Nintendo Co, Ltd, Kyoto, Japan) to provide positional feedback for trunk compensation [3] or a Kinect (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, United States) to measure range and speed of motion for upper-limb exercises [4,5] have shown potential to be used as rehabilitation tools that could provide quantifiable changes in clients' kinematic motor abilities to therapists. Other studies using accelerometers to track patterns in functional upper-limb movements were able to capture differences similar to those measured by clinical scales [6] and found benefits from objective quantitative evaluations of changes in motor ability during therapy regimens, which can be collected from in-game progress reports [7]. In addition, success has been found in translating kinematic upper-limb metrics to clinical Fugl-Meyer scoring [8] and in detecting exercise repetitions via kinematic monitoring for telerehabilitation and at-home programs [9]. Current clinical assessments for upper-limb motor function, such as the Fugl-Meyer Assessment and Wolf Motor Function Test, only provide low-resolution point-scores rated qualitatively by therapists, and kinematic analysis of upper-limb motion has been reported to be a useful addition to these clinical assessments [10]. When measuring range of motion in a clinical setting, the goniometer is considered a gold-standard clinical measurement tool used by therapists [11]. However, only static joint angles can be measured, and typically with some visual estimation and multiple testers [12].

One of the latest (released December 2016) devices to be developed for interacting with virtual environments is the Oculus Touch (Oculus VR, LLC, Menlo Park, CA, United States) controller set. The controllers are peripheral accessories of the Oculus Rift virtual reality headset and are employed to track users' hand movements. Their tracking system employs a proprietary algorithm that collects data from infrared sensors via constellation tracking [13] and inertial measurement units (IMUs). Given that the controllers are wireless, lightweight, low-cost devices that can be used to track a user's hand position and orientation in 3-dimensional (3D) space, they could have the potential to be employed in rehabilitative and biomechanical motion-tracking applications. At the time of this study, there was no sufficient information about the tracking performance of the controllers provided by the manufacturer, and there is currently a lack of scientific papers employing a systematic approach to test their potential application as tools for motion-tracking data capture. As a result, in this study, we evaluated the tracking accuracy of the Oculus Touch controllers to present a preliminary evaluation that could be informative to the biomechanical and rehabilitation research community. The specific aim of the experiment was to quantify the relative positional accuracy of the Oculus Touch controllers in 3 spatial dimensions. As the controllers are intended for hand-held motion control, the evaluation setup was centered around the movement size for standing/sitting upper-limb reaching tasks.

# Methods

### **Technical Setup**

An Oculus Touch controller (Figure 1), 2 Oculus Sensors, an Oculus Rift headset, and a computer running Windows 10 (Microsoft Corporation) were employed in this study.

A custom computer application was developed in Unity 2017 (Unity Technologies, San Francisco, United States) to capture and log the controller's position during the experiment. The data capture was performed at the headset's native frequency of approximately 90 Hz, using the Unity OVR Plugin package to access controller data. The virtual environment was set up over a 2.4 m x 2.4 m play-space in the x-z plane to be within the recommended manufacturer play area. This space consists of 16 commercial 600 mm square force/torque plates professionally installed on a subfloor of auto-levelling epoxy and flat to within 0.5 mm (Figure 2). The y-axis was only bounded by the camera sensors' field of view limitations.

To ensure consistency, the Oculus Sensors were placed on the floor at 0.3 m along the front edge of the space and 1.2 m apart, equidistant from the centre line, for the entire experiment. The sensor heads were manually leveled and visually aligned to have parallel, front-facing fields of views. Both the sensors and controllers maintained an initial y-position of 0 at the floor—this would be equivalent to placing the sensors at table height and the controllers at hand height.

All measurements were taken by securing the right-hand Oculus Touch controller to a flat L-shaped jig (Figure 2) and resting it on the floor for 5 seconds. Initial calibration of floor height and play-space size and orientation was done through the official commercial Oculus setup client.

Figure 1. The right-side Oculus Touch controller. Left: front view. Right: top-down view.



Figure 2. The experimental setup and coordinate frame. The play-space was divided into 16 squares.



# **Experimental Procedure**

Measurements were taken along each of the 3 spatial axes (x: width, y: height, z: depth) in a single session. The x and z axes were measured in increments of 5, 10, 50, 150, 300, and 500 mm steps relative to a recorded 0 value. The estimate for a 500 mm largest step was attributed to an approximate lower arm and hand length from human anthropometric data in Huston [14].

This length should replicate the size of a simple outward reach from the elbow. Each set of steps was taken from the zero line of each axis in both the positive and negative direction and then taken in the positive direction at +600 mm and in the negative direction at -600 mm along the same axis (Figure 3; left). Graph paper with millimeter unit markings was used to define the step sizes to the relative 0 point of each set. The graph paper step sizes were verified using a Mitutoyo 500-196 digital calipers,

accurate to 0.01 mm, visually aligned to the edge of the unit markings within the third significant digit. A ruler with half-millimeter unit markings was used for steps larger than 150 mm. The bottom left corner of the jig was used as an origin for the 3 axes with respect to the controller. The x and z axes edges were aligned with the graph paper visually. The L-shaped jig was checked for orthogonality using a calibrated 90-degree ruler in all 3 directions before its use. To test the repeatability of the L-shaped jig alignment on graph paper, the controller was moved at least 300 mm away from and then toward a single point near the centre of the play-space on each axis 3 times.

In the x-axis, 4 sets of steps were taken at 4 different depths for a total of 16 sets of steps to measure the accuracy of the controllers over the play-space area (Figure 3). The same configuration was used for the z-axis but using 4 sets of steps along 4 different x-axis values, 600 mm apart.

Figure 3. Left: A top-down visual representation of the expected spacing of the data points in the x-axis. Right: The x-z points at which the y step sets were taken.



Figure 4. Close-up of the Oculus Touch controller in the L-shape jig over an aluminium block used to measure y-axis steps. Both controller (system) and graph paper (physical world) axes are represented and were aligned visually during the experiment.



The 16 y-axis step sets were taken 600 mm apart from each other in the x-z plane starting 300 mm from the 0 line in each perpendicular axis in the x-z plane. This was the approximate centre of each of the 16 tiles seen in Figure 3 (right). The y steps were measured by placing the controller and jig on level aluminum blocks of specific heights, which were measured using zeroed, calibrated digital calipers accurate to 0.01 mm. The L-shaped jig was used as a physical origin point and axes and was aligned with the top left corners of the aluminum blocks (Figure 4).

The aluminum blocks were chosen to allow the y-axis step sizes to approximately match the same x and z step sizes, and had heights of 6.23, 12.56, 50.82, and 152.5 mm. The x and z positions were monitored and recorded but not analyzed for alignment accuracy.

# **Data Analysis**

To remove motion artifacts from pressing the buttons on the controller to start and stop the data recording, the first 1.5 seconds (135 samples) were removed and the next 2 seconds (180 samples) were used as the sample data for each measured point. After those 2 seconds, the rest of the data recording (approximately 1.5 seconds or 135 samples) was also discarded, regardless of length. The data were averaged to calculate the measured value at each point.

For each sample point, the 3D position of the controller was measured. The variation was calculated for each data point and used to determine the static precision of the system. The position error for each point was calculated by subtracting the measured displacement (Euclidean distance) by the expected step size. The Euclidean distance was used to account for any misalignment of the Oculus tracking coordinate system with respect to the physical grid. The error values were then averaged to generate values for expected displacement error in a specific area of the play-space as well as for a specific step size over the entire play-space. The percent error was calculated to normalize the error to the step size.

# Results

# **Positional Accuracy**

The average and percent errors for all step sizes in the x, y, and z directions are presented in Tables 1 and 2.

The largest absolute error was found to be 3.5 mm in the z-axis for a step size of 500 mm, which normalizes to a 0.7% error. The largest normalized error was found to be 12.7% for the smallest step of 6.23 mm in the y-direction. The largest percent errors for the x and z axes were 4.7% and 3.5%, respectively, also at the smallest step size (5 mm).



#### Shum et al

Table 1. Position error for different step sizes at all areas of the defined play-space measured with 0.01 mm accuracy using digital calipers. The percent error was calculated using nonrounded values of error in millimeter.

Directional axis and step size (mm)	Error	Error			
	Average (SD), mm	Average percent error (SD %)			
x	·				
5.00	0.23 (0.19)	4.7 (3.9)			
10.00	0.25 (0.18)	2.5 (1.8)			
50.00	0.39 (0.29)	0.8 (0.6)			
150.0	0.76 (0.50)	0.5 (0.3)			
Z					
5.00	0.17 (0.15)	3.5 (3.1)			
10.00	0.25 (0.22)	2.5 (2.2)			
50.00	0.28 (0.22)	0.6 (0.4)			
150.0	0.72 (0.46)	0.5 (0.3)			
у					
6.23	0.79 (0.62)	12.7 (9.9)			
12.56	0.48 (0.82)	3.8 (6.5)			
50.82	0.41 (0.62)	0.8 (1.2)			
152.5	0.93 (1.10)	0.6 (0.7)			

Table 2. Additional position error for larger step sizes at all areas of the defined play-space measured with ruler and graph paper markings. The percent error was calculated using nonrounded values of error in millimeter.

Di	rectional axis and step size (mm)	Error	
		Average (SD), mm	Average percent error (SD %)
x			
	300.5	1.5 (1.0)	0.5 (0.3)
	500.5	2.5 (1.0)	0.5 (0.3)
z			
	300.5	2.0 (1.0)	0.7 (0.3)
	500.5	3.5 (2.0)	0.7 (0.4)

When the average percent error was calculated for each step size across the entire play-space, it was found that the error decreased nonlinearly with increasing step size (Figure 5).

Step sizes with values of  $\leq 10$  mm had an accuracy error greater than 2%. Normalized error averages in step sizes larger than >10 mm were fairly uniform.

The variation was calculated for static data points at the 16 different locations in the play-space and averaged across all points to find an average noise value of  $\pm 0.036$  mm (x:  $\pm 0.025$  mm, y:  $\pm 0.024$  mm, z:  $\pm 0.055$  mm). The single-point repeatability test found that the controller was able to return to the same x-y-z point with an output measurement variation

slightly above the average noise value (x: 0.080  $\pm$  0.546 mm, y: 0.088  $\pm$  0.063 mm, z: 0.044  $\pm$  0.326 mm).

To investigate how accuracy varied over the entire play-space, the displacement and percent error were averaged over each area set. These average errors over the play-space area for x, y, and z are presented in Multimedia Appendix 1 as exploratory analysis to see if there were any patterns in accuracy based on distance away from the Oculus sensors. A large error (14.0%) occurred in 1 area of the y-axis measurements. This was a result of a 2 mm error at a 6.23 mm step, resulting in a large normalized value of approximately 40% despite being a small error in absolute distance (millimeters). No distinct pattern of position accuracy based on x-z location in the play-space was observed.

Figure 5. Percent error for different step sizes. No values were calculated for 300 mm and 500 mm in the y-axis as the largest aluminum block used matched the 150 mm step size.



# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

The study team found a maximum positional accuracy across measured step sizes less than 150 mm for the Oculus Touch controller of  $0.76 \pm 0.50$  mm in the lateral x-axis,  $0.72 \pm 0.46$  mm in the anteroposterior z-axis, and  $0.93 \pm 1.10$  mm in the vertical y-axis direction. Larger step sizes found lower positional accuracies of  $2.5 \pm 1.0$  mm in the x-axis and  $3.5 \pm 2.5$  mm in the z-axis. The largest error in percent when normalized to step size ( $12.7 \pm 9.9\%$ ) was found in the smallest step size in the y-axis set at 6.23 mm.

The error values found are considered within an acceptable range of error for the measurement of biomechanical movement as the human perception of the just noticeable difference (JND) even for fine motor function (finger distance/position) is larger than this value (13.0% for young subjects and 16.1% for older persons [15]). In addition, in a different study [16], it was reported that the JND of the fully extended human shoulder when moved passively was found to be 0.8°. Using a 50th percentile female arm length of 702 mm [14], a 0.8° change in joint angle would cause an arc length of 9.8 mm, which is larger than both the average noise and accuracy error of the system. Therefore, the error in relative distance should not be noticeable to the user.

In studies on the accuracy of visual assessments of angular joint positions done by physical therapists and other health professionals, it was determined that joint positions could only be determined with an error of approximately 5° within the referenced radiometry measurement [17] of wrist angle and 7.4° in shoulder abduction compared with goniometry of nonmoving

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e12291/
```

RenderX

subjects [18]. Measurement of glenohumeral range of motion using a goniometer was reported to have an SE between 4.4 to 9.9° [19]. Moreover, the Oculus Rift headset has a visual field of view of 100° and a resolution of 2160x1200 pixels [20]. This results in a 0.046° change in the object edge to show up as a single pixel change. With a noise level of 0.069 mm as an arclength, it is expected that visual jitter would not occur until the controller is less than 8.59 mm away from the user in the headset's point of view.

It was found that although normalized percent error decreased as step size increased, the absolute error (millimeter) was found to be largest when the largest step was measured. This could be the effect of an inherent scaling phenomenon found in the Oculus sensor tracking, which uses infrared image processing as 1 of its main sources of position tracking for the Oculus Touch controllers.

We expected that the outer edges of the defined play-space would provide areas with the largest error; however, no discernable pattern was found to occur over the x-z plane. This provides evidence to support a consistent accuracy of the controllers within the documented [21] x-z field of view of the Oculus Sensors. That is, regardless of where in the play-space a user might stand, a reach of 500 mm outwards from the body would be measured sufficiently accurately.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

On the basis of the results from this study, the Oculus Touch controllers should be an adequate motion tracking alternative for biomechanics applications, as similar low-cost, commercially available systems that have been employed to measure joint movements, such as the Kinect V1 and V2, have displacement accuracies on the order of centimeters [22,23]. A previous study

evaluating the tracking accuracy of the Oculus Rift head-mounted display found similar accuracy values for the larger step sizes [24]. On the other hand, more expensive and complex motion capture systems such as the Vicon-460 (Vicon Motion Systems Ltd, Oxford, United Kingdom) with submillimetric accuracy [25] allow researchers to measure movements with higher accuracy. In addition, wearable inertial sensors were able to quantify upper-limb positioning within 1 mm when custom sensor algorithms were applied [7]; however, wearable research-grade systems trade ease of use and commercial availability for higher accuracy. For kinematic tracking that does not require submillimetric accuracy, such as for monitoring changes in gross motor upper-limb movements over time in a rehabilitation program [26], for training neural networks to detect the number of repetitions during rehabilitative exercises [9], or in cases where there would otherwise be no quantitative measures [8], the Oculus Touch controllers could provide a cost-effective alternative. Comparison with the Oculus Touch controllers by using other tracking tools simultaneously during upper-limb exercises may provide better insight into which level of accuracy is optimal for different use cases, such as for automated repetition counting as opposed to for measuring joint angles for digital goniometry. In cases where the tracking technology is used to facilitate virtual environments for engaging upper-limb exercises, a higher position accuracy may provide better visual fidelity to movement in the real world, and therefore, better transfer of improved motor functions from game tasks to real-world tasks [27].

#### Limitations

Occlusion of some of the controllers' infrared light-emitting diodes could have occurred when placing the controllers close

#### Shum et al

to the floor, which might have increased the measured error. Moreover, as the system requires an initial calibration of the user's approximate height, this also could have acted as an additional source of error. As a result, future studies should investigate the accuracy of the system away from the floor, as well as the accuracy of the controller's 3D orientation measurement, as we only measured position error in this study. Reproducibility of the measurements made by the Oculus system should also be investigated by having multiple experimenters perform the same procedure and by comparing measurements from different tracking sessions. Standardized measurement system analysis procedures should be followed in terms of the number of repetitions used as listed in analysis of variance gage repeatability and reproducibility documentation [28]. Dynamic conditions should also be evaluated before use in clinical kinematic analysis to assess the interaction between IMU sensor drift and camera sensor correction while in motion. A limitation of the Oculus Touch controllers is that it is only capable of measuring the position and orientation of a single point as a proxy for hand position. Future studies should directly compare the Oculus Touch absolute point-position with a professional marker-based motion-tracking system to ensure the elimination of error because of the use of visual and physical measuring tools. These absolute point-position studies should also evaluate larger step size accuracies to encompass bigger movements. Additional studies could include the evaluation of inverse kinematic algorithms that employ the hand and head positions (from headset) to generate a model of the user's arms [29,30]. This would allow direct comparison against other devices that digitally measure goniometric angles.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the support of the University of British Columbia's Collaborative Advanced Robotics and Intelligent Systems and Robotics for Rehabilitation Exercise and Assessment in Collaborative Healthcare Lab members. Research reported in this publication was financially supported by the Kids Brain Health Network (TotTech).

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Exploratory results of accuracy based on x-z location: displacement in millimeters (left) and in percent (right) accuracy error for the Oculus Touch controller in the x (top), y (centre), and z (below) directions. Error is represented by the width of the circle for each step set area, however the circle size scale was magnified for visualization purposes and it is not to scale with the rest of the chart. Standard deviation is shown in parentheses.

[PNG File, 232KB - biomedeng\_v4i1e12291\_app1.png]

# References

- Valdés BA, Shirzad N, Hung CT, Glegg S, Reeds E, Van der Loos HFM. Visualisation of two-dimensional kinematic data from bimanual control of a commercial gaming system used in post-stroke rehabilitation. 2015 Presented at: International Conference on Virtual Rehabilitation; June 9-12, 2015; Valencia, Spain p. 243-250.
- 2. Bonnechère B, Jansen B, van Sint Jan S. Cost-effective (gaming) motion and balance devices for functional assessment: need or hype? J Biomech 2016 Dec 6;49(13):2561-2565. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.07.011] [Medline: 27497500]

- 3. Alankus G, Kelleher C. Reducing Compensatory Motions in Video Games for Stroke Rehabilitation. 2012 Presented at: ACM SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 5-10, 2012; Austin, Texas p. 2049-2058.
- 4. Glegg SM, Hung CT, Valdés BA, Kim BD, van der Loos HF. Kinecting the moves: the kinematic potential of rehabilitation-specific gaming to inform treatment for hemiplegia. 2014 Presented at: International Conference on Disability, Virtual Reality and Associated Technologies; September 2-4, 2014; Gothenburg, Sweden.
- 5. Sookhanaphibarn K, Phukongchai W, Santad T, Choensawat W. Towards Bilateral Upper-Limb Rehabilitation after Stroke using Kinect Game. 2018 Presented at: IEEE 7th Global Conference on Consumer Electronics (GCCE); October 15-18, 2018; Osaka, Japan p. 818-819. [doi: 10.1109/GCCE.2018.8574861]
- Knorr B, Hughes R, Sherrill D, Stein J, Akay M, Bonato P. Quantitative Measures of Functional Upper Limb Movement in Persons after Stroke. 2005 Presented at: 2nd International IEEE EMBS Conference on Neural Engineering; March 16-19, 2005; Arlington, Virginia p. 252-255 URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/CNE.2005.1419604</u> [doi: <u>10.1109/CNE.2005.1419604</u>]
- Bai L, Pepper MG, Yan Y, Spurgeon SK, Sakel M, Phillips M. Quantitative assessment of upper limb motion in neurorehabilitation utilizing inertial sensors. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2015 Mar;23(2):232-243. [doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2014.2369740]
- Kim WS, Cho S, Baek D, Bang H, Paik NJ. Upper extremity functional evaluation by Fugl-Meyer assessment scoring using depth-sensing camera in hemiplegic stroke patients. PLoS One 2016;11(7):e0158640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158640] [Medline: 27367518]
- Lee MH, Siewiorek D, Smailagic A, Bernadino A, Badia SBI. A Kinect-based Monitoring System for Stroke Rehabilitation. 2017 Presented at: 5th International Congress on Sport Sciences Research and Technology Support (icSPORTS 2017); October 30-31, 2017; Funchal, Madeira, Portugal p. 8-10.
- Bigoni M, Baudo S, Cimolin V, Cau N, Galli M, Pianta L, et al. Does kinematics add meaningful information to clinical assessment in post-stroke upper limb rehabilitation? A case report. J Phys Ther Sci 2016;28(8):2408-2413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1589/jpts.28.2408] [Medline: 27630445]
- 11. Shultz SJ, Houglum PA, Perrin DH. Examination of musculoskeletal injuries. In: Examination of Physiologic Range of Motion, Fourth Edition. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics; 2016.
- 12. Wilk KE, Reinold MM, Macrina LC, Porterfield R, Devine KM, Suarez K, et al. Glenohumeral internal rotation measurements differ depending on stabilization techniques. Sports Health 2009 Mar;1(2):131-136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1941738108331201] [Medline: 23015864]
- 13. Oculus VR, LLC. 2017. PC SDK Developer Guide: Oculus Touch Controllers Controller Data URL: <u>https://developer.</u> <u>oculus.com/documentation/pcsdk/latest/concepts/dg-input-touch/</u> [accessed 2018-09-19] [WebCite Cache ID 72YfjUJN9]
- 14. Huston RL. Principles of Biomechanics. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press; 2009.
- Brewer BR, Fagan M, Klatzky RL, Matsuoka Y. Perceptual limits for a robotic rehabilitation environment using visual feedback distortion. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2005 Mar;13(1):1-11. [doi: <u>10.1109/TNSRE.2005.843443</u>] [Medline: <u>15813400</u>]
- 16. Tan HZ, Eberman B, Srinivasan MA, Cheng B. Human factors for the design of force-reflecting haptic interfaces. In: Dynamic Systems and Control. New York City, NY: ASME; 1994.
- 17. McVeigh KH, Murray PM, Heckman MG, Rawal B, Peterson JJ. Accuracy and validity of goniometer and visual assessments of angular joint positions of the hand and wrist. J Hand Surg Am 2016 Apr;41(4):e21-e35. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jhsa.2015.12.014</u>] [Medline: <u>26810826</u>]
- 18. Banskota B, Lewis J, Hossain M, Irving A, Jones MW. Estimation of the accuracy of joint mobility assessment in a group of health professionals. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2008 Apr 9;18(4):287-289. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00590-008-0308-7</u>]
- Fieseler G, Laudner KG, Irlenbusch L, Meyer H, Schulze S, Delank K, et al. Inter- and intrarater reliability of goniometry and hand held dynamometry for patients with subacromial impingement syndrome. J Exerc Rehabil 2017 Dec;13(6):704-710 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12965/jer.1735110.555] [Medline: 29326903]
- 20. Orland K. Ars Technica. 2016. iFixit digs into Oculus Rift's 461 PPI OLED display, custom lenses URL: <u>https://arstechnica.com/gaming/2016/03/ifixit-digs-into-oculus-rifts-461ppi-oled-display-custom-lenses/</u> [accessed 2018-09-19] [WebCite Cache ID 72Ygyk344]
- 21. Oculus Blog. 2017. Oculus Roomscale Tips for Setting Up a Killer VR Room URL: <u>https://www.oculus.com/blog/oculus-roomscale-tips-for-setting-up-a-killer-vr-room/</u> [accessed 2018-09-20] [WebCite Cache ID 72YuKhTm6]
- Otte K, Kayser B, Mansow-Model S, Verrel J, Paul F, Brandt AU, et al. Accuracy and reliability of the Kinect Version 2 for clinical measurement of motor function. PLoS One 2016;11(11):e0166532 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166532] [Medline: 27861541]
- 23. Mobini A, Behzadipour S, Foumani MS. Accuracy of Kinect's skeleton tracking for upper body rehabilitation applications. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2014 Jul;9(4):344-352. [doi: <u>10.3109/17483107.2013.805825</u>] [Medline: <u>23786360</u>]
- 24. Borrego A, Latorre J, Alcañiz M, Llorens R. Comparison of Oculus Rift and HTC Vive: feasibility for virtual reality-based exploration, navigation, exergaming, and rehabilitation. Games Health J 2018 Jun;7(3):151-156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2017.0114] [Medline: 29293369]

- Windolf M, Götzen N, Morlock M. Systematic accuracy and precision analysis of video motion capturing systems exemplified on the Vicon-460 system. J Biomech 2008 Aug 28;41(12):2776-2780. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbiomech.2008.06.024</u>] [Medline: <u>18672241</u>]
- 26. Held JPO, Klaassen B, Eenhoorn A, van Beijnum BF, Buurke JH, Veltink PH, et al. Inertial sensor measurements of upper-limb kinematics in stroke patients in clinic and home environment. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2018 Apr;6:27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2018.00027] [Medline: 29707537]
- 27. Bertrand J, Brickler D, Babu S, Madathil K, Zelaya M, Wang T, et al. The role of dimensional symmetry on bimanual psychomotor skills education in immersive virtual environments. 2015 Presented at: IEEE Virtual Reality; March 23-27, 2015; Arles, Camargue, Provence, France p. 3-10. [doi: 10.1109/VR.2015.7223317]
- 28. Burdick RK, Borror CM, Montgomery DC. Design and analysis of gauge R&R studies: making decisions with confidence intervals in random and mixed ANOVA models. In: ASA-SIAM Series on Statistics and Applied Probability. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Alexandria, Virginia: American Statistical Association and Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics; 2005.
- 29. Fezzik T. Imperium News. 2017. VR Level Up Inverse Kinematics URL: <u>https://imperium.news/vr-level-inverse-kinematics/</u> [accessed 2018-09-20] [WebCite Cache ID 72YvFSbY1]
- 30. Sixense Entertainment Inc. Kickstarter. 2014. Sixense VR SDK Update URL: <u>https://www.kickstarter.com/projects/89577853/</u> stem-system-the-best-way-to-interact-with-virtual/posts/823494 [accessed 2018-09-19] [WebCite Cache ID 72YvgUmWB]

# Abbreviations

**3D:** 3-dimensional **IMU:** inertial measurement unit **JND:** just noticeable difference

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 21.09.18; peer-reviewed by S Berrouiguet, I Cikajlo; comments to author 02.03.19; revised version received 25.04.19; accepted 14.05.19; published 06.06.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Shum LC, Valdés BA, Van der Loos HFM Determining the Accuracy of Oculus Touch Controllers for Motor Rehabilitation Applications Using Quantifiable Upper Limb Kinematics: Validation Study JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e12291

URL: <u>http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e12291/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/12291</u>

PMID:

©Leia C Shum, Bulmaro A Valdés, HF Machiel Van der Loos. Originally published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering (http://biomedeng.jmir.org), 06.06.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://biomedeng.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Review**

# The Effects of Titanium Implant Surface Topography on Osseointegration: Literature Review

Preeti Satheesh Kumar<sup>1</sup>, BDS, MDS; Satheesh Kumar KS<sup>2</sup>, BDS, MDS; Vyoma Venkatesh Grandhi<sup>1</sup>, BDS, MDS; Vrinda Gupta<sup>1</sup>, BDS, MDS

<sup>1</sup>Department of Prosthodontics, The Oxford Dental College, Bangalore, India
<sup>2</sup>Sakthi Smile Craft - A Multispeciality Dental Clinic & Implant Centre, Bangalore, India

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Vyoma Venkatesh Grandhi, BDS, MDS Department of Prosthodontics The Oxford Dental College 10th Milestone, Hosur Road, Bommanahalli Bangalore, 560068 India Phone: 91 8123044549 Email: vyomagrandhi@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** A variety of claims are made regarding the effects of surface topography on implant osseointegration. The development of implant surfaces topography has been empirical, requiring numerous in vitro and in vivo tests. Most of these tests were not standardized, using different surfaces, cell populations, or animal models. The exact role of surface chemistry and topography on the early events of the osseointegration of dental implants remains poorly understood.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to consider the major claims made concerning the effects of titanium implant surface topography on osseointegration. The osseointegration rate of titanium dental implants is related to their composition and surface roughness. The different methods used for increasing surface roughness or applying osteoconductive coatings to titanium dental implants were reviewed. Important findings of consensus were highlighted, and existing controversies were revealed.

**Methods:** This paper considered many of the research publications listed in Medical Literature Analysis and Retrieval System Online and presented in biomedical research publications and textbooks. Surface treatments, such as titanium plasma spraying, grit blasting, acid etching, alkaline etching, anodization, polymer demixing, sol-gel conversion, and their corresponding surface morphologies and properties were described.

**Results:** Many in vitro evaluations are not predictive of or correlated with in vivo outcomes. In some culture models, increased surface topography positively affects proosteogenic cellular activities. Many studies reveal increase in bone-to-implant contact (BIC), with increased surface topography modifications on implant surfaces.

Conclusions: Increased implant surface topography improves the BIC and the mechanical properties of the enhanced interface.

(JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e13237) doi:10.2196/13237

# KEYWORDS

implant interface; TPS; acid etching; alkaline etching; anodisation; polymer demixing; sol gel

# Introduction

The elusive dream of replacing missing teeth with an artificial analogue, which is as close to its natural predecessor, has been a part of dentistry for thousands of years. The coincidental discovery of the tenacious affinity between living bone and tissues, termed as osseointegration, propelled dentistry to a new age of reconstructive dentistry. Branemark et al [1] started the era of implantology. Since then, this method still remains

http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13237/

RenderX

popular and reliable, with only shape and surface of the titanium implants having changed [2-4]. Interactions between implant biomaterials and biological environments occur at interfaces, and they are affected by the nature of the biomaterial, such as its surface chemistry and energy, roughness, and topography. These parameters play a role during implant integration in bone tissue, and they consequently play a role for osseointegration [5-7]. Osteogenesis at the implant surface is influenced by several mechanisms. A series of coordinated events, including

cell proliferation, transformation of osteoblasts, and bone tissue formation might be affected by different surface topographies. There is a clinical impression that the amount of bone-to-implant contact (BIC) is an important determinant in the long-term success of dental implants. Consequently, maximizing the BIC and osseointegration has become a goal of treatment, which is enhanced by implant surface roughness. The first generation of successfully used clinical titanium implants, which were machined with a smooth surface texture, now approach 50 years in clinical use. The second generation of clinically used implants underwent chemical and topographical modifications, usually resulting in a moderately increased surface topography [8]. The implant surface plays an important role in biological interactions for 2 reasons. First, the surface of a material generally differs in terms of composition and morphology, from the body of the material. These differences are because of molecular rearrangements and surface reactions and contamination. Second, materials may or may not release toxic or biologically active substances. Thus, the properties of a surface guide the biological response [9-11]. The significant challenge in implantology is the design of biomaterials that actively promotes a faster and more improved osseointegration process while avoiding undesirable tissue responses. This requires selective control of interactions at the tissue-implant interface, the site of a series of complex events that depend on synergistic parameters, including surface chemistry. This review focuses on the different surfaces and methods that aim to accelerate the osseointegration of dental implants. The physical and chemical properties of implant surfaces are discussed in relation to their biological and clinical behavior. This literature review also aims to elucidate implant surface topography and obtain a perspective regarding the topography of the implant surface, which could be beneficial to implant surgery when implemented in practice

# Methods

#### Overview

Surface properties of oral titanium implants play decisive roles for molecular interactions, cellular response and, bone regeneration. It is increasingly recognized that interactions between biomaterials and host tissues are controlled by nanoscale features. Cells grow on nanostructured extracellular matrices, and biological events, such as signaling and cell-substrate interactions, occur at the nanometric level. Nanometer-scale surface features can increase the surface energy, thereby increasing the wettability of blood and the spreading and binding of fibrin and matrix proteins. This in turn favors cell attachment and tissue healing, particularly directly after implantation. It also directly influences cellular differentiation, proliferation. alignment, and, finally, osseointegration [10,12-18]. Currently, several techniques are commonly used to modify the smooth surface topography of dental implants to create nanosurface topography. Some techniques comprise adding matter to the implant surface, creating a dented surface (convex profile), and they are called additive techniques to increase the surface area and provide a more complex surface macrotopography, for example, titanium plasma spraying (TPS). Conversely, other techniques comprising eliminating matter from the titanium surface, creating pits (concave profile), are known as subtractive or ablative techniques, altering the microtopography or texture [19]. One or several of these methods are used to produce either an isotropic surface (ie, with surface asperities that are randomly distributed so the surface is identical in all directions) or an anisotropic surface (ie, surface with a directional pattern). The surface treatments are suggested to improve the capacity of anchorage into bone [20]. The additive methods employed the treatment in which other materials are added to the surface, either superficial or integrated, and they are categorized into coating-TPS, plasma-sprayed hydroxyapatite (HA) coating, alumina coating, and biomimetic calcium phosphate (CaP) coating-and impregnation. The common subtractive techniques are large-grit sands or ceramic particle blasts, acid etch, and anodization. Textbox 1 shows the ways through which surface roughness of dental implants can be obtained.



Textbox 1. Methods to obtain surface roughness.

- Mechanical modifications
  - Roughening of implants by titanium plasma-spraying
  - Roughening of implants by grit blasting
- Chemical modifications
  - Roughening of implants by acid etching
  - Roughening of implants by alkaline etch
  - Roughening of implants by anodization
  - Roughening of implants by sol gel
  - Roughening by polymer demixing
- Antibiotic coatings
- Stem-cell therapies and surface modification
- Shot peening/laser peening
- Photofunctionalization
- Biomolecular coatings
- Self-assembled monolayer in nanotextured titanium
- Fluoride-modified implant surfaces

# **Mechanical Modifications**

# Roughening of Implants by Titanium Plasma Spraying

This method comprises injecting titanium powders into a plasma torch at high temperature [21]. The titanium particles are projected onto the surface of the implants, where they condense and fuse together, forming a film about 30  $\mu$ m thick. The thickness must reach 40-50  $\mu$ m to be uniform [7]. Borsaria et al [22] compared the biological response of osteoblast-like cells with titanium surfaces with different roughness levels, and they concluded that the new ultrahigh roughness and dense coating provided a good biological response. In a preclinical study using pigs, the bone/implant interface formed faster with a TPS surface than with smooth-surface implants [7].

It has been shown that this 3-dimensional topography increased the tensile strength at the bone/implant interface. An extensive and close contact between the implant and the host bone surfaces is the condition that maintains primary stability and avoids excessive interfacial micromotion during bone healing, which may be detrimental to the osseointegration process. Ong et al [23] studied the bone interfacial strength and bone contact length at the plasma-sprayed HA and TPS implants in vivo, where noncoated titanium implants were used as controls. The interfacial strength between bone and TPS-coated implants was suggested to be governed by the bone ingrowth into the roughened titanium surfaces, thereby providing a mechanical bone-implant interlock, whereas the interfacial strength between bone and HA-coated implants was suggested to be attributed to bone apposition on HA surfaces. Several techniques were proposed to adhere HA to titanium implants, but only the plasma spraying coating technique has been successfully used on commercial implants [24].

# Roughening of Implants by Grit Blasting

Blasting is a technique that leads to the creation of a porous layer on the implant surface achieved through the collision with microscopic particles, such as ceramic, alumina, titanium oxide, and CaP particles [7]. The ceramic particles are projected through a nozzle at high velocity by means of compressed air. Depending on the size of the ceramic particles, different surface roughness can be produced on titanium implants. The thickness of the porous layer can be modulated by the granulometry of the particles [25]. Wennerberg et al [26-30] demonstrated in a rabbit model that grit blasting with different sizes of titania (TiO<sub>2</sub>) or Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> particles altered the commercially pure titanium topography and resulted in a similar enhancement of bone formation at the implant. These studies also demonstrated that specific surface modifications increased the biomechanical interlock of the implant with bone when measured with a torque device. TiO<sub>2</sub>, when used as a blasting material, showed interesting results in experimental studies, being associated to a significant enhancement of bone-to-implant contact when compared with machined surfaces [31]. CaPs, such as HA, beta-tricalcium phosphate, and mixtures, have also been considered for blasting materials. These materials are biocompatible and osseoconductive. They are resorbable, leading to a clean-textured, pure titanium surface. Manoa et al [32], to achieve better osteoconductivity, used the blast coating method of spraying apatite powder on the surface of titanium implants. Apatite powder-coated implants generally showed a more rapid bone response and good osteoconductivity than noncoated implants. The rough surface created by blasting has

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13237/
```

Kumar et al

been demonstrated to stimulate osteoblastic gene expression, as well as to enhance bone formation and bone-implant fixation, in a word, osseointegration [33,34]. Although an associated inflammatory response was reported [35], the overall success rate was satisfactory, with the majority of implants yielding good osseointegration and stability at 1 year after surgery [25]. Among the range of available materials, alumina is one of the most commonly used for blasting.

# **Chemical Modification**

# Roughening of Implants by Acid Etching

The combination of strong acids is effective in creating a thin grid of nanopits on a titanium surface [25], ranging from 0.5 to 2 µm in diameter. Etching with strong acids, such as HCl, H<sub>2</sub> SO<sub>4</sub>, HNO<sub>3</sub>, and particularly HF, is needed to attack titanium for creating rough surfaces [7]. Etching is then stopped by adding water. The recovered disks are washed further with ethanol in an ultrasonic bath for 20 min and dried [36]. Variola et al [36] demonstrate that by varying etching parameters, such as solution composition, temperature, and exposure time, it is possible to modify the topography, oxide thickness, and wettability of commercially pure titanium. Thus, chemical oxidation with H2SO4 (conc)/H2O2 (aq) solutions is an efficient tool to achieve various physical and chemical configurations on this implant surface. Yi et al [37] have shown that controlled chemical oxidation of titanium using a mixture of H2SO4/H2O2 yields a nanotextured surface. The resulting nanotopography significantly influences the very early stages of in vitro osteogenesis. Such an early effect is needed to control the healing cascade from the very start. They also showed that the treated titanium substrate becomes highly porous and has a surface comprising nanosized pits, which have average diameters and fractal dimensions ranging between 20-22 nm and 1.11-1.17 nm, respectively. Atomic force microscopy revealed a 3-fold increase in surface roughness. The thickness of the oxide layer on the treated titanium surface is estimated to be ~32-40 nm [21].

HF is known to show a high ability to dissolve the passivation layer, mainly comprising TiO<sub>2</sub>, on titanium-based materials. Therefore, a mixture of HF and HNO3 has been also used to create surface structures at the microlevel [33,38]. Moreover, it has been shown that fluoride incorporation into the created surface structures induces an enhanced osteoblastic differentiation, and it is favorable to the osseointegration of implants [39]. However, fluoride contaminations are known to have an ambivalent influence on the response of the host tissue [40]. Furthermore, dual acid etching with HCl and H2SO4 heated above 100°C has produced surface topography that is able to attach to fibrin scaffold and promote adhesion of osteogenic cells [21]. Various clinical studies have shown acid-etched (AE) implants to be successful in humans, with radiological evidence suggesting improved bone apposition rates compared with machined implants.

# Roughening of Implants by Alkaline Etch (Sodium Hydroxide, Potassium Hydroxide, and NaFl<sub>2</sub>)

Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) treatment catalyzes the production of titanium nanostructures outward from the titanium surface

[41]. Treatment with an NaOH solution results in a sodium titanate hydrogel layer converted in an amorphous sodium titanate layer, with heat treatment at 600°C. Titanate gel layer allows HA deposition. This behavior has also been seen with other metals, such as zirconium and aluminum [42]. Titanium oxide nanotubes chemically treated with NaOH accelerated HA crystal growth in a simulated body fluid (SBF). Both chemical and topography changes are imparted [41,43].

# Roughening of Implants by Anodization

Anodization is one of the most commonly used techniques to create nanostructures with diameters of less than 100 nm on titanium implants [44]. Voltage and direct current (galvanic current) are used to thicken the oxide layer among the implant surface. The titanium substrates serve as the anode in the process, whereas an inert platinum sheet provides the cathode. The anode and cathode are then connected by copper wires and linked to a positive and negative port of a 30 Volts/3 Amperes power supply, respectively. Diluted hydrogen fluoride (either at 0.5 wt% or 1.5 wt%) is used as electrolyte. Subsequently, a strong acid dissolves the oxide layer, creating a pattern that follows the convective lines of the galvanic current. Therefore, through the regulation of voltage and density, it is possible to control the diameters of nanotubes and the gap between them [25]. Kim et al [45] concluded that desired porosity and surface roughness can be achieved by adjusting the anodization conditions, such as voltage, solution concentration, and current density. By anodic oxidation, it is possible to get amorphous or crystalline oxide, depending on the applied voltage and electrolyte used [13,45]. Ercan et al [46] postulated that anodization can create novel nanotubular structures that can influence the concentration and conformation of adsorbed proteins to alter cellular interactions. Various studies have shown that in comparison with conventional titanium, the anodized nanotubular titanium showed increased osteoblast adhesion, osteocalcin production, alkaline phosphatase activity, and fibronectin adsorption [47,48]. It is also shown that osteoblasts spread, and they increase deposition are well of calcium-containing minerals on anodized nanotubular titanium [49]. Anodized surfaces result in a strong reinforcement of the bone response, with higher values for biomechanical and histomorphometric tests in comparison with machined surfaces [7]. A higher clinical success rate was observed for the anodized titanium implants in comparison with turned titanium surfaces of similar shapes [50]. A total of 2 mechanisms have been proposed to explain this osseointegration: mechanical interlocking through bone growth in pores and biochemical bonding [51,52]. Modifications to the chemical composition of the titanium oxide layer have been tested with the incorporation of magnesium, calcium, sulfur, or phosphorus. It has been found that incorporating magnesium into the titanium oxide layer leads to a higher removal torque value compared with other ions [7,52].

# Roughening of Implants by Sol Gel (Titania, Calcium Orthophosphates, Hydroxyapatite, and Silica Coatings)

Sol gel is a technique widely used to deposit surface coatings on the dental implants, such as  $TiO_2$ , calcium orthophosphates (CaPO<sub>4</sub>), HA, Silica, and TiO<sub>2</sub> [53-56]. The sol-gel technique

XSL•FO RenderX

involves the evolution of inorganic nanoscale networks in a continuous liquid phase through the formation of colloidal suspension, which is followed by gelation of the sol. In a typical sol-gel process, a colloidal suspension, or a sol, is formed from the hydrolysis and polymerization reactions of the precursors, which are usually inorganic metal salts or metal organic compounds, such as metal alkoxides. Complete polymerization and loss of solvent leads to the transition from the liquid sol into a solid gel phase. Thin films can be produced on a piece of substrate by spin coating or dip coating. A wet gel will form when the sol is cast into a mold, and the wet gel is converted into a dense ceramic, with further drying and heat treatment. A highly porous and extremely low-density material called an aerogel is obtained if the solvent in a wet gel is removed under a supercritical condition. Ceramic fibers can be drawn from the sol when the viscosity of a sol is adjusted into a proper viscosity range. Ultrafine and uniform ceramic powders are formed by precipitation, spray pyrolysis, or emulsion techniques. Under proper conditions, nanomaterials can be obtained [57-59].

#### **Titania Coating**

 $TiO_2$  coatings on titanium have been used to improve the corrosion resistance of titanium. In practice, the very thin (at most, several tens of nanometers) oxide film on the titanium surface, which is formed in an aqueous environment, plays a decisive role in determining the biocompatibility and corrosion behavior of the titanium implant [60,61]. As the corrosion resistance is known to increase with the thickness of the oxide layer [61-63], many attempts have been made to form a thick TiO<sub>2</sub> layer on the titanium substrate, using various methods, such as anodization, thermal oxidation, and the sol-gel process.

#### **Calcium Phosphate Coating**

CaP coatings provided titanium implants with an osteoconductive surface. Following implantation, the dissolution of CaP coatings in the periimplant region increased ionic strength and saturation of blood, leading to the precipitation of biological apatite nanocrystals onto the surface of implants. This biological apatite layer incorporates proteins and promotes the adhesion of osteoprogenitor cells that would produce the extracellular matrix of bone tissue. Furthermore, it has been also shown that osteoclasts, the bone resorbing cells, are able to degrade the CaP coatings through enzymatic ways and create resorption pits on the coated surface. Finally, the presence of CaP coatings on metals promotes an early osseointegration of implants with a direct bone bonding as compared with noncoated surfaces. Finally, the presence of CaP coatings on metals promotes an early osseointegration of implants with a direct bone bonding as compared with noncoated surfaces. The challenge is to produce CaP coatings that would dissolve at a similar rate than bone apposition to get a direct bone contact on implant surfaces [61].

#### **Roughening of Implants by Polymer Demixing**

Polymer demixing is receiving particular attention, as it is a method that can develop topographies over a large area by a relatively cheap manufacturing method. By controlling the polymer concentration and the proportions of the polymers, different topographies can be produced. These can be pits,

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13237/
```

islands, or ribbons of varying height or depth. The ratio of the polymers used varies the topography shape, and the concentration of polymer in the casting solution changes the feature sizes [62]. A 2-polymer mixture is spin cast so that phase separation occurs, resulting in topographies distributed across the surface, with geometry determined by choice of polymers, solvent, substrate, and spin casting parameters, with cell response shown to vary with topography geometry. It can control not only the topography's pattern but also the scale of such topography within nanoscale (10-100 nm). Features created using this technique have a somewhat disordered spatial arrangement; yet, very precise control can be achieved in the vertical scale. However, nanometric features created by polymer demixing often tend to exhibit larger micrometric structures in 1 or more planes, and they can exhibit different chemistries in addition to topography. This technique has proved to increase adhesion, proliferation, cytoskeleton deviant, and gene expression on nanosurface created on titanium [59,63,64].

#### **Chemical Vapor Deposition**

Chemical vapor deposition is a process involving chemical reactions between chemicals in the gas phase and the sample surface, resulting in the deposition of a nonvolatile compound on the substrate [65]. The substrates are heated at high temperature to cause the gases to decompose, resulting in deposition. Vapor deposition processes usually take place within a vacuum chamber. If no chemical reaction occurs, this process is called physical vapor deposition; otherwise, it is called chemical vapor deposition. In chemical vapor deposition processes, thermal energy heats the gases in the coating chamber and drives the deposition reaction. Thick crystalline TiO<sub>2</sub> films with grain sizes below 30 nm, as well as TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles with sizes below 10 nm, can be obtained with this method [66,67]. Surfaces created using this technique promote the adhesion of osteoblasts while minimizing the adhesion of fibroblasts [68]. Implant topography used to enhance the tissue-abutment interface remains largely unexplored. It should be noted that the currently available implants differ in their micron-level topography, their design, and their bulk material composition. It may be difficult to derive specific conclusions from the aggregate data regarding surface topography alone. However, for each example of current implant surfaces of available implants and cell culture, histological and clinical data suggest that surface modification offers incremental advantages to clinical problems where rapid bone accrual at the implant surface provides solutions.

#### **Antibiotic Coatings**

Antibacterial coatings on the surface have been studied as a possible way to prevent surgical-site infections. Gentamycin, along with the layer of HA, can be coated onto the implant surface, which may act as a local prophylactic agent, along with the systemic antibiotics in dental implant surgery. It was seen that the bacterial adhesion by Streptococcus mitis and Actinomyces oris can be restricted by acidic pH and aerobic atmosphere [69].

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

# **Stem-Cell Therapies and Surface Modification**

Surface treatment of titanium screw-shaped implants creates a nanopattern that has been demonstrated in vivo to be associated with an enhanced osteogenesis. Several studies confirmed the observation, stating the promotion of stem cells' growth, provided by oxidative nanopattering. Furthermore, the most suitable nanoarrangement of TiO2 nanotubes was with a diameter of 15 nm in a vertical alignment and was associated with a high spreading and differentiation of rat mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) into the osteogenic lineage. Notably, 15 nm roughly correspond to the predicted lateral spacing of integrin receptors in the flourapatitecomplexes. In adults, the osteoblast is derived from a bone marrow stromal fibroblastic stem cell, termed the MSC, a nonhematopoietic multipotent stem-like cell vital for the osteogenic process capable of differentiating into both osteoblastic and nonosteoblastic lineages, thus enhancing the bone commitment and osseointegration [69-71].

# Shot Peening/Laser Peening

Shot peening is similar to sand blasting, where the surface is bombarded with small spherical particles, each particle on coming in contact with the surface causes small indentations or dimples to form. Laser peening involves the rise of high-intensity (5-15 GW/cm<sup>2</sup>) nanoscale pulses (10-30 ns) of a laser beam striking a protective layer of paint on the metallic surface. These implants demonstrate a regular honeycomb pattern with small pores [71].

# Photofunctionalization

UV treatment of dental implant surfaces enhances bioactivity and osseointegration by altering the  $TiO_2$  on the surface. By promoting interactions of cells and proteins to the implant on a molecular level, UV light is believed to enhance the osteoconductivity. UV treatment reduces the degree of surface hydrocarbon and increases surface energy and wettability by converting hydrophobic implants to superhydrophilic. UV light has been suggested to raise the level of protein absorption and cellular attachment to titanium surfaces, and it has been shown to restore bioactivity caused by age-related degradations. UV treatment is simple and cost effective for all types of titanium surfaces [72,73].

# **Biomolecular Coatings**

The biomolecular coatings that can be used are the following: (1) bone morphogenic proteins (BMP), (2) non-BMP growth factors, (3) peptides, and (4) extracellular matrix. The surface-specific adsorbed biofilm determines cell adhesion, as proteins act as contact for the attachment of cells. This is accomplished by means of integrins, which are specific transmembrane receptors that bind to adhesive proteins on the biomaterials' surface and to components of the cytoskeleton through their extra and intracellular domains, respectively. In general, the biocompatibility of bone-replacing implant materials is closely related to osteoblast adhesion onto their surface. Osteoblast attachment, adhesion, and spreading will influence the capacity of these cells to proliferate and differentiate itself upon contact with the implant. These latter processes are quintessential for the establishment of a mechanically solid

XSL•FO

interface, with complete fusion between the implant surface and bone tissue without any intervening fibrous tissue.

# Self-Assembled Monolayers on Nanotextured Titanium

The recent development of nanomaterial science raised a large interest in understanding the influence of nanoscale properties of materials on the behavior of biomolecules. In particular, it was shown that cellular adhesion can be governed by selective nanostructuring of biomaterials [74]. Self-assembly of molecular monolayers is another powerful approach to modify surface properties. Thiol-based self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) on metals, mostly on gold, have been extensively studied and used as model systems for a variety of applications. In general, these highly ordered SAMs can alter surface electronic levels, hydrophobicity, and adhesive properties, and they provide the surface with chemical functional groups. For oxide surfaces, a variety of molecules, including alkyltrichlorosilanes, phosphonates, and carboxylic acids, can be grafted on the surface, although the resulting films are generally not as well ordered as alkanethiols on gold. A recent interest has emerged for organic functionalization of the native oxide surfaces of tantalum, titanium, and related alloys in connection with their wide use as biocompatible materials, particularly in implants. For this purpose, phosphoric acid-terminated alkyl chains were shown as a good candidate for building SAMs on such materials because of their strong chemical bonding to surface oxides. However, similar functionalization of commercial titanium metal, which is more relevant to fabrication of bioimplants, leads to lower contact angles [66].

# **Flouride-Modified Implant Surfaces**

The element fluoride was selected as a surface modification agent because of its specific qualities both in contact with calcified tissues and also in contact with titanium. Fluoride was known to have a particular affinity for calcified tissues, and it had proven an effect as a prophylactic agent against dental caries by binding to calcium forming calcium fluoride and fluorapatite, leading to an increased stability of the HA structure and resistance against acid attach [67].

The calcium-binding capacity of fluoride has also been successfully used in the treatment of systemic bone diseases, such as osteoporosis. Systemic treatment with fluoride was reported to give an increased trabecular density and further an induced calcification of bone, leading to a stronger bone, with improved load-bearing capacities and improved fracture resistance. There were indications in the literature that fluoride acted primarily on osteoprogenitor cells or undifferentiated osteoblasts, and fluoride thus had an effect at the cellular level, in addition to a physicochemical effect. It was reported in studies that fluoride treatment of bone triggered acute increases of intrinsic calcium levels, further indicating a cellular effect of fluoride [75]. A surface modification of titanium implants with fluoride incorporated into the superficial TiO<sub>2</sub> layer could thus lead to an implant with an improved bone response compared with nonmodified titanium implants. Studies were therefore initiated to establish a method for modifying titanium with the use of fluoride to create an implant intended to have improved biological properties. The nanoscale roughness created by the fluoride modification may add a further bone-promoting effect

to the already seen by the microstructure because of the blasting. A unique nucleating effect is demonstrated by fluoride-modified titanium, in the case when the implant is immersed into a liquid saturated with respect to calcium and phosphate, it attracts these ions to the surface, and crystals of CaP start to grow [76].

# Results

Coating the implant surfaces with rhBMP-2 and recombinant human vascular endothelial growth factor I65 (rhVEGFI65) affects osseointegration. On testing the effect of coating, there were 5 different groups of implants:

- 1. AE surface (control group);
- 2. CaP coated surface (CaP group);
- 3. CaP bearing incorporated rhBMP-2 (BMP group);
- CaP bearing incorporated rhVEGFI65 (VEGF group); and
   CaP bearing incorporated rhBMP-2+rhVEGFI65 (BMP+VEGF group).

On osseointegration, it was seen that the BMP and BMP+VEGF groups showed significant enhancement in bone volume density compared with the AE control group. All implants with CaP coating demonstrated significantly enhanced BIC rates compared with the AE controls at 2 weeks. However, the BMP+VEGF group did not significantly enhance BIC at 4 weeks. It was concluded that the biomimetic CaP-coated implant surfaces, with both BMP and VEGF, enhance bone volume density but not BIC [77].

Microstructured microrough surface topography implants provided by the grit-blasting/acid-etching process were further biofunctionalized using HA, bioactive peptide, or any bioactive substance. When (1) microstructured+HA+a low concentration of bioactive peptide (20 µg/mL), (2) micro-structured+HA, (3) microstructured, and (4) microstructured+HA+a high concentration of bioactive peptide (200 µg/mL) were compared, implants with 200 µg/mL peptide had the highest mean value of direct BIC. In addition, bone density analysis revealed that implant surfaces with 20 µg/mL peptide provided a higher adjacent bone density when compared with the other groups. Nevertheless, the differences among the groups were also not statistically significant. The authors concluded that biofunctionalization of the implant surface might interfere in the bone apposition around implants, especially regarding the aspect of bone density [78].

When a dual AE surface (minimally rough) had significantly higher rabbit-reverse torque (RTQ) values than when grit blasted (moderately rough) and plasma sprayed (rough) values were assessed to analyze the effect of coarse surface roughness, it was seen that coarse surface roughness had no benefit [79,80].

In recent years, studies on submicron, micron, and coarse roughness properties have been presented. It seems that all 3 layers play an important role in overall osseointegration, with each layer addressing bone formation at different time points. In vitro studies have evaluated the surface topography effects on bone formation through osteoconduction, including the steps of protein absorption, fibrin clot retention, and platelet interaction. For example, enhanced surface topographies, because of blasting or acid etching, displayed significantly

```
http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13237/
```

greater fibrin retention forces than machined surfaces. Microtopographic surfaces, defined as those exhibiting features in the scale range of platelets ( $\leq 3 \mu m$ ), displayed greater platelet activation than smoother surfaces. The new T3 implant (BIOMET 3i) has a surface addressing different aspects of osseointegration and periimplant health. The coronal aspect of the implant has a microtopography similar to the fully etched OSSEOTITE implant, comprising submicron features superimposed on 1-3 µm pitting, overlaid on a minimally rough surface topography (Sa<1.0 µm). From the base of the collar to the apical tip, the T3 implant has greater roughness. The resulting trilevel surface comprises submicron features of CaP nanoparticles superimposed on 1-3 µm pitting, overlaid on a moderately rough surface topography (Sa ~1.4 µm). The apical surface is designed to enhance osseointegration. As such, the included surface features have been researched to assess their potential impacts on de novo bone formation and the strength of the resulting bone-to-implant interface at different time points: nanoroughness to initiate osseointegration, double acid-etchedfor the next osseointegrative time point, and course micron features for long-term bone locking. Preliminary clinical results are promising in different bone qualities and locations. However, further follow- up is needed before definitive conclusions can be drawn about this implant surface.

Furthermore, it is seen that fluoride-modified titanium implants increase the expression of Runt-related transcription factor 1 (RUNX-2), osterix, type I collagen, and bone sialoprotein and increases *alkaline phosphatase* activity. In addition, fluoride modification augments the thrombogenic properties of titanium, promoting fibrinogen activation and rapid coagulation, resulting in a less dense fibrin clot that could promote osteoblast migration to the implant surface in vivo [81].

# Discussion

Surface characteristics play a special role in the biological performance of implants. Mechanical properties, such as Young's modulus, and fatigue properties are mainly determined by the bulk of the material and chemical and biological interactions between the material and the host tissue. They are closely associated with the material surface properties. These interactions include early events, such as binding of water molecules, ions, and biomolecules, as well as mineralization at the implant surface. The original surface is thus a result of these early interactions with a conditioning layer, on which the cells will eventually interact. This is regarded as one of the factors that will determine the tissue regeneration around the implant [8]. It is a generally held and very widely supported principle that implants that have a roughened surface are much more likely to rapidly osseointegrate than implants with a smooth-machined surface, with the optimal roughness being in the range of 1-1 OpM. This may be because of implants with smooth surfaces being more susceptible to fibrous encapsulation than implants with roughened surfaces [82]. Fibrous encapsulation is the formation of a poorly vascularized collagenous capsule around the implant, which results in the failure of osseointegration. There are a number of factors that can cause fibrous encapsulation, including a sustained inflammatory response, lack of vascularization at the implant

XSL•FO RenderX

site, and low levels of osteoblast migration or attachment to the implant surface [83]. The ultimate result of fibrous encapsulation is that the tissue does not attach directly to the implant surface, leaving a space between the fibrous capsule and implant, which fills with fluid. This fluid-filled space provides an ideal environment for bacterial infiltration and a subsequent infection, which leads to bone resorption via a sustained inflammatory response.

Roughened surfaces also have a thicker titanium oxide layer, which is a reactive layer of surface particles thought to have a dynamic effect on surrounding tissues, encouraging attachment. There is a broad consensus that rough implant surfaces have superior osseointegrative potential than smooth implant surfaces. However, there is a broad range of methods to create roughened titanium surfaces, and there has been much discussion in the literature about which of these methods creates surfaces optimized for osseointegration. Surface roughness can be divided into 3 levels depending on the scale of the features: macro, micro, and nanosized topologies. The macrolevel is defined as one which has topographical features in the range of millimetres to tens of microns. This scale is directly related to implant geometry, with threaded screw and macroporous surface treatments giving surface roughness of more than 10 microns. The microtopographic profile of dental implants is defined as one where surface roughness is in the range of 1-10 um. This range of roughness maximizes the interlocking between mineralized bone and the surface of the implant [7,26,84]. At the nanoscale, a more textured surface topography increases the surface energy. Nanotopography might also directly influence cell proliferation and differentiation, as it has been suggested that nanopatterning can modulate cell behavior [25,61,85-88]. Repetitiveness and homogeneity are key parameters to define the nanostructure of an implant surface, but these are difficult to quantify and are considered as qualitative morphological parameters. If nanostructures are not clearly visible (no patterns, no particles, and insignificant texture) or not homogeneous and repetitive, the surface should be considered as nanosmooth. Grit blasting is one of the most common methods by which titanium dental implants are roughened. The increased osseointegration was confirmed by Rasmusson et al [89], who investigated the osteogenic properties of titanium grit-blasted surfaces. Wennerberg et al [7,26,30] also demonstrated with a rabbit model that grit blasting with TiO<sub>2</sub> or Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> particles gave similar values of BIC, but it drastically increased the biomechanical fixation of the implants when compared with smooth titanium. These studies have shown that the torque force increased with the surface roughness of the implants while comparable values in bone apposition were observed. Nevertheless, Aparicio et al [34] highlighted some features related to alumina blasting for dental implants that could compromise osseointegration, such as particle detachment during the healing process and absorption by the surrounding tissues. The use of HA to roughen implant surfaces has been reported to result in similar rates of bone apposition around implants as other techniques, but HA has the advantage of being resorbable in situ. However, several in vitro and in vivo studies [7,26,30,89] suggested that grit-blasted titanium surfaces encourage osteoblast differentiation and, by extension, osseointegration. Cells from both osteoblast cell lines

and primary mandibular bone from various species grown on grit-blasted titanium surfaces have been reported to increase expression of osteoblast specific messenger RNA and proteins, as well as increase mineralization compared with cell grown on smooth surfaces. Similarly, grit-blasted microimplants in humans have been shown to increase bone apposition compared with smooth-machined edges [90].

Another titanium implant surface treatment that has been reported to increase the chances of osseointegration is acid etching. Acid etching is often used in conjunction with grit blasting in implant manufacture. Cho et al [91] postulated that chemical acid etching alone of the titanium implant surface has the potential to greatly enhance osseointegration without adding particulate matter (eg, TPS or HA) or embedding surface contaminants (eg, grit particles). Several investigators [92] have reported that grit particles can remain impregnated in the implant material, and they are potentially a causative agent in observed tissue breakdown. Their study indicated that rough AE implants achieve greater resistance to reverse torque removal than machined-surface implants, which infers that chemically acid etching implant surfaces has higher strengths of osseointegration than machined-implant surfaces [91]. Lima et al [93] designed a study to measure implant osseointegration using 3 different surface treatments. fiber mesh, grit blasting, and acid etching, and they concluded that overall, AE surfaces demonstrated greater mean osseointegration than fiber mesh surfaces. A study conducted by Bana et al [94] indicates that etching with concentrated sulfuric acid is an effective way to modify the surface of titanium for biological applications. Guo et al [68] compared the osteoinductive and bone-specific gene expression in cells adherent to TiO2-grit-blasted versus TiO2 grit-blasted and HF-treated (TiO<sub>2</sub>/HF) commercially pure titanium implant surfaces. They concluded that as a marker of osteoinduction, the increased levels of RUNX-2 in cells adherent to the TiO<sub>2</sub>/HF surfaces suggest that the additional HF treatment of the TiO<sub>2</sub> grit-blasted surface results in surface properties that support adherent cell osteoinduction. Etching with strong acids has been shown to cause hydrogen embrittlement of titanium, which can cause microcracks on the surface, potentially undermining the structural integrity of the implant and ultimately leading to implant failure. Nevertheless, AE implants have a proven clinical track record, and they are still in use [95]. Plasma surface coating of HA or titanium is one of the most effective methods in developing these surface depositions, thus enhancing the surface roughness. A metastable CaP solution provides excellent bioactivity of the HA/YSZ/Ti- 6Al-4V composite coating, which has the ability to induce bone-like apatite nucleation and growth on implant surface. HA coatings promote better cell proliferation. According to Liu et al [96], the bonding strength of HA on titanium alloys decreased long hours of immersion time in the SBF. After an immersion in the SBF, the HA coatings became weak because of the intermellar or cohesive bonding degradation in the coating. However, Knabe et al [97] found that a plasma-sprayed titanium surface exhibits the highest surface roughness compared with a deep profile surface structure (the surface was acid etched and grit blasted), and in an in vitro test, the HA coating has less bone contact compared with other surface modifications. Some reports showed that the mechanical

XSL•FO
properties of HA can be significantly improved by the addition of yttria-stabilized zirconia. HA coatings reinforced with zirconia possessed better performance in bond strength and dissolution behavior of the titanium implants. Over the same period (4 weeks after SBF immersion), the HA/YSZ/Ti-6Al-4V composite coating showed a reduced tensile strength by ~27.7% compared with the pure HA coatings with ~78.8% [98]. It has been reported that more new bone is formed, and new bone grows more rapidly into pores of the surface of alkaline-modified plasma-sprayed implants, and this may be beneficial to reduce clinical healing times and consequently improve implant success rates. Kim et al [60] concluded that the HA layer was employed to enhance the bioactivity and osteoconductivity of the titanium substrate, and the TiO<sub>2</sub> buffer layer was inserted to improve the bonding strength between the HA layer and titanium substrate, as well as to prevent the corrosion of the titanium substrate. The sol-gel approach was favored because of the chemical homogeneity, high surface area in single step, fine grain size of the resultant coating, the low crystallization temperature, and mass producibility of the process itself [60]. Cordioli et al [79] reported no benefits by increasing coarse surface roughness at 5 weeks in an RTQ model, specifically demonstrating that a dual AE surface (minimally rough) had significantly higher RTQ values than grit-blasted (moderately rough) and plasma-sprayed (rough) surface. These findings are consistent with those of Klokkevold et al [80], who measured reverse torque (RTQ) for dual AE and moderately rough-surfaced implants 1 month after placement in rabbit tibias. The latter study included additional time points for testing reverse torque and showed that the rougher-surfaced implants had significantly higher RTQ results at 2 and 3 months after placement. The authors attributed the higher RTQ to the moderately rough surfaces' increased depth of topography and subsequent void volume, which permitted additional bone ingrowth for mechanical interlocking. In recent years, studies on submicron, micron, and coarse roughness properties have been presented. It seems that all 3 layers play an important role in overall osseointegration, with each layer addressing bone formation at different time points. In vitro studies have evaluated the surface topography effects on bone formation through osteoconduction, including the steps of protein absorption, fibrin clot retention, and platelet interaction. Becker et al [99] investigated bone formation onto sand-blasted and AE (control group), chromosulfuric acid surface-enhanced (CSA group), and recombinant human BMP-2 (rhBMP-2) biocoated CSA-BMP-A group: noncovalently immobilized rhBMP-2 (596 ng/cm2); BMP-B group: covalently immobilized rhBMP-2 (819 ng/cm2)-implants after placement in the mandibles and tibiae of dogs. After 4 weeks of healing, BIC values appeared to be highest for the BMP-B group, followed by BMP-A, CSA, and the control in both the mandible and the tibia. Wikesjo et al [100] studied whether adsorbing rhBMP2 onto a titanium porous oxide (TPO) implant surface might increase or accelerate local bone formation and support osseointegration in the posterior mandible (type II bone) in dogs. A similar study

conducted by Wikesjo et al to evaluate local bone formation and osseointegration in the posterior maxillae (type IV bone) was analyzed in 8 adult monkeys. The authors concluded that rhBMP-2–coated TPO surfaces enhanced local bone formation in type IV bone in a dose-dependent fashion in nonhuman primates, resulting in significant osseointegration.

Nikolidakis et al [101] examined the effect of transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF-beta 1) on the early bone healing around dental implants installed into the femoral condyle of goats. The authors concluded that a low dose of TGF-beta 1 has a negative influence on the integration of oral implants in trabecular bone during the early postimplantation healing phase. Schouten et al [102] investigated the effect of implant design, surface properties, and TGF-beta 1 on periimplant bone response, an extensive improvement of the bone response to titanium implants can be obtained by adding an electrosprayed CaP coating. The supplementation of a 1 µg TGF-beta 1 coating has only a marginal effect. The cellular response to fluoride-modified titanium implants has been assessed in different osteoblast cellular models using MSCs from different origin, primary cultures of osteoblasts, nontransformed clonal cell lines (MC3T3-E1), or osteosarcoma cell lines (MG63). The different cellular models, time-point of the analysis, or implant production might explain the differences in the reported results. Thus, although some studies have reported increased proliferation on fluoride-modified titanium implants, others failed [103,104]. In solution, fluoride has been proved to stimulate bone cell proliferation, but its effect varies according to the stage of differentiation of the cells; thus, the fluoride ion acts primarily on osteoprogenitor cells or undifferentiated osteoblasts rather than on more differentiated osteoblasts. In addition, some studies find higher cell adhesion in fluoride-modified titanium implants compared with control; other studies found no differences. In this regard, it is important to include the importance of the surface topography when discussing the number of cells attached on the surfaces, as the modification of titanium surface with HF is influenced by HF concentration, the exposure time, and the initial surface topography. In the same line, differences in the results of gene expression analysis might also be explained by differences in the roughness or chemical composition of the surfaces used in the different studies.

Thus, the future of dental implantology should aim to develop surfaces with controlled and standardized topography or chemistry. Different methods have been described to modify or embellish titanium substrates by mechanical and chemical methods. Modification of titanium endosseous implant surfaces enhances interfacial bone formation measured as BIC. The future of dental implantology should aim at developing surfaces with controlled and standardized topography or chemistry. This approach is the only way to understand protein, cell, and tissue interactions with implant surfaces. These therapeutic strategies should ultimately enhance the osseointegration process of dental implants for their long-term success.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- 1. Brånemark PI, Adell R, Breine U, Hansson BO, Lindström J, Ohlsson A. Intra-osseous anchorage of dental prostheses. I. Experimental studies. Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg 1969;3(2):81-100. [Medline: <u>4924041</u>]
- 2. Epifanov NS. [Pioneer of higher medical education in Siberia (on the 125th anniversary of the birth of E. G. Salishchev)]. Sov Zdravookhr 1976(7):76-79. [Medline: 798309]
- Quirynen M, Bollen CM, Papaioannou W, van Eldere J, van Steenberghe D. The influence of titanium abutment surface roughness on plaque accumulation and gingivitis: short-term observations. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 1996;11(2):169-178. [Medline: <u>8666447</u>]
- 4. Juodzbałys G, Sapragoniene M, Wennerberg A, Baltrukonis T. Titanium dental implant surface micromorphology optimization. J Oral Implantol 2007;33(4):177-185. [doi: <u>10.1563/1548-1336(2007)33[177:TDISMO]2.0.CO;2]</u> [Medline: <u>17912958</u>]
- 5. Albrektsson T, Brånemark PI, Hansson H, Lindström J. Osseointegrated titanium implants. Requirements for ensuring a long-lasting, direct bone-to-implant anchorage in man. Acta Orthop Scand 1981;52(2):155-170. [Medline: 7246093]
- 6. Carinci F, Pezzetti F, Volinia S, Francioso F, Arcelli D, Marchesini J. Analysis of osteoblast-like MG63 cells response to a rough implant surface by means of DNA microarray. J Oral Implantol 2003;29(5):215-220. [Medline: 15008929]
- 7. Le Guéhennec L, Soueidan A, Layrolle P, Amouriq Y. Surface treatments of titanium dental implants for rapid osseointegration. Dent Mater 2007 Jul;23(7):844-854. [doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2006.06.025] [Medline: 16904738]
- Palmquist A, Omar M, Esposito M, Lausmaa J, Thomsen P. Titanium oral implants: surface characteristics, interface biology and clinical outcome. J R Soc Interface 2010 Oct 6;7(Suppl 5):S515-S527 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1098/rsif.2010.0118.focus] [Medline: 20591849]
- Smith D, Pilliar R, Metson J, McIntyre N. Dental implant materials. II. Preparative procedures and surface spectroscopic studies. J Biomed Mater Res 1991 Sep;25(9):1069-1084. [doi: 10.1002/jbm.820250903] [Medline: 1663952]
- 10. Kieswetter K, Schwartz Z, Dean DD, Boyan BD. The role of implant surface characteristics in the healing of bone. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 1996;7(4):329-345. [Medline: <u>8986395</u>]
- 11. Ratner B, Johnston A, Lenk T. Biomaterial surfaces. J Biomed Mater Res (A1) 1987;21:59-90. [Medline: <u>3571303</u>]
- 12. Lavenus S, Ricquier JC, Louarn G, Layrolle P. Cell interaction with nanopatterned surface of implants. Nanomedicine (Lond) 2010 Aug;5(6):937-947. [doi: 10.2217/nnm.10.54] [Medline: 20735227]
- Lavenus S, Louarn G, Layrolle P. Nanotechnology and dental implants. Int J Biomater 2010 Jun 16;2010(12):915327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2010/915327] [Medline: 21253543]
- 14. Yim EK, Reano RM, Pang SW, Yee AF, Chen CS, Leong KW. Nanopattern-induced changes in morphology and motility of smooth muscle cells. Biomaterials 2005 Sep;26(26):5405-5413. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.01.058</u>] [Medline: <u>15814139</u>]
- 15. Webster TJ, Ejiofor JU. Increased osteoblast adhesion on nanophase metals: Ti, Ti6Al4V, and CoCrMo. Biomaterials 2004 Aug;25(19):4731-4739. [doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2003.12.002] [Medline: 15120519]
- Variola F, Vetrone F, Richert L, Jedrzejowski P, Yi JH, Zalzal S, et al. Improving biocompatibility of implantable metals by nanoscale modification of surfaces: an overview of strategies, fabrication methods, and challenges. Small 2009 May;5(9):996-1006. [doi: 10.1002/smll.200801186] [Medline: 19360718]
- 17. Dorozhkin S. Nanodimensional and nanocrystalline apatites and other calcium orthophosphates in biomedical engineering, biology and medicine. Materials 2009 Nov 27;2(4):1975-2045. [doi: 10.3390/ma2041975]
- Palin E, Liu H, Webster T. Mimicking the nanofeatures of bone increases bone-forming cell adhesion and proliferation. Nanotechnology 2005;16:1828-1835. [doi: <u>10.1088/0957-4484/16/9/069</u>]
- 19. Wennerberg A, Albrektsson T. Effects of titanium surface topography on bone integration: a systematic review. Clin Oral Implants Res 2009 Sep;20(Suppl 4):172-184. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0501.2009.01775.x] [Medline: 19663964]
- 20. Jokstad A, Braegger U, Brunski JB, Carr AB, Naert I, Wennerberg A. Quality of dental implants. Int Dent J 2003;53(6 Suppl 2):409-443. [Medline: <u>14725421</u>]
- 21. Shrestha S. Current concepts in biomaterials in dental implant. Sci Res 2014;2(1):7-12. [doi: 10.11648/j.sr.20140201.12]
- 22. Borsari V, Giavaresi G, Fini M, Torricelli P, Tschon M, Chiesa R, et al. Comparative in vitro study on a ultra-high roughness and dense titanium coating. Biomaterials 2005 Aug;26(24):4948-4955. [doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.01.010] [Medline: 15769530]
- 23. Ong JL, Carnes DL, Bessho K. Evaluation of titanium plasma-sprayed and plasma-sprayed hydroxyapatite implants in vivo. Biomaterials 2004 Aug;25(19):4601-4606. [doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2003.11.053] [Medline: 15120505]
- 24. Le Guéhennec L, Soueidan A, Layrolle P, Amouriq Y. Surface treatments of titanium dental implants for rapid osseointegration. Dent Mater 2007 Jul;23(7):844-854. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.dental.2006.06.025</u>] [Medline: <u>16904738</u>]
- 25. Bressan E, Sbricoli L, Guazzo R, Tocco I, Roman M, Vindigni V, et al. Nanostructured surfaces of dental implants. Int J Mol Sci 2013 Jan 17;14(1):1918-1931 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijms14011918] [Medline: 23344062]

- 26. Wennerberg A, Albrektsson T, Andersson B, Krol JJ. A histomorphometric and removal torque study of screw-shaped titanium implants with three different surface topographies. Clin Oral Implants Res 1995 Mar;6(1):24-30. [Medline: 7669864]
- 27. Wennerberg A, Albrektsson T, Andersson B. An animal study of cp titanium screws with different surface topographies. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1995 Feb;6(5):302-309. [doi: 10.1007/BF00120275]
- Wennerberg A, Albrektsson T, Lausmaa J. Torque and histomorphometric evaluation of cp titanium screws blasted with 25- and 75-microns-sized particles of Al2O3. J Biomed Mater Res 1996 Feb;30(2):251-260. [doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4636(199602)30:2<251::AID-JBM16>3.0.CO;2-P] [Medline: 9019491]
- 29. Wennerberg A, Ektessabi A, Albrektsson T, Johansson C, Andersson B. A 1-year follow-up of implants of differing surface roughness placed in rabbit bone. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 1997;12(4):486-494. [Medline: <u>9274077</u>]
- 30. Abron A, Hopfensperger M, Thompson J, Cooper LF. Evaluation of a predictive model for implant surface topography effects on early osseointegration in the rat tibia model. J Prosthet Dent 2001 Jan;85(1):40-46. [doi: 10.1067/mpr.2001.112415] [Medline: 11174677]
- 31. Ivanoff CJ, Hallgren C, Widmark G, Sennerby L, Wennerberg A. Histologic evaluation of the bone integration of TiO(2) blasted and turned titanium microimplants in humans. Clin Oral Implants Res 2001 Apr;12(2):128-134. [Medline: <u>11251662</u>]
- 32. Mano T, Ueyama Y, Ishikawa K, Matsumura T, Suzuki K. Initial tissue response to a titanium implant coated with apatite at room temperature using a blast coating method. Biomaterials 2002 May;23(9):1931-1936. [Medline: <u>11996033</u>]
- 33. Ellingsen JE, Johansson CB, Wennerberg A, Holmén A. Improved retention and bone-tolmplant contact with fluoride-modified titanium implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2004;19(5):659-666. [Medline: <u>15508981</u>]
- Berglundh T, Abrahamsson I, Albouy JP, Lindhe J. Bone healing at implants with a fluoride-modified surface: an experimental study in dogs. Clin Oral Implants Res 2007 Apr;18(2):147-152. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1600-0501.2006.01309.x</u>] [Medline: <u>17269959</u>]
- 35. Stanford CM, Johnson GK, Fakhry A, Gratton D, Mellonig JT, Wanger W. Outcomes of a fluoride modified implant one year after loading in the posterior-maxilla when placed with the osteotome surgical technique. Appl Osseointegr Res 2006;5:50-55.
- 36. Nanci A, Wuest JD, Peru L, Brunet P, Sharma V, Zalzal S, et al. Chemical modification of titanium surfaces for covalent attachment of biological molecules. J Biomed Mater Res 1998 May;40(2):324-335. [Medline: 9549628]
- 37. Yi J, Bernard C, Variola F, Zalzal SF, Wuest JD, Rosei F, et al. Characterization of a bioactive nanotextured surface created by controlled chemical oxidation of titanium. Surf Sci 2006 Oct;600(19):4613-4621. [doi: 10.1016/j.susc.2006.07.053]
- 38. Ellingsen JE. Pre-treatment of titanium implants with fluoride improves their retention in bone. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1995 Dec;6(12):749-753. [doi: 10.1007/BF00134312] [Medline: 16112191]
- Cooper LF, Zhou Y, Takebe J, Guo J, Abron A, Holmén A, et al. Fluoride modification effects on osteoblast behavior and bone formation at TiO2 grit-blasted cp titanium endosseous implants. Biomaterials 2006 Feb;27(6):926-936. [doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.07.009] [Medline: 16112191]
- 40. Bauer S, Schmuki P, von der Mark K, Park J. Engineering biocompatible implant surfaces. Prog Mater Sci 2013 Apr;58(3):261-326. [doi: 10.1016/j.pmatsci.2012.09.001] [Medline: 312456520]
- 41. Mendonça G, Mendonça DB, Aragão FJ, Cooper LF. Advancing dental implant surface technology--from micron- to nanotopography. Biomaterials 2008 Oct;29(28):3822-3835. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.05.012</u>] [Medline: <u>18617258</u>]
- 42. Uchida M, Kim HM, Miyaji F, Kokubo T, Nakamura T. Apatite formation on zirconium metal treated with aqueous NaOH. Biomaterials 2002 Jan;23(1):313-317. [Medline: <u>11762851</u>]
- 43. Lakstein D, Kopelovitch W, Barkay Z, Bahaa M, Hendel D, Eliaz N. Enhanced osseointegration of grit-blasted, NaOH-treated and electrochemically hydroxyapatite-coated Ti-6Al-4V implants in rabbits. Acta Biomater 2009 Jul;5(6):2258-2269. [doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2009.01.033] [Medline: 19251497]
- 44. Yao C, Slamovich EB, Webster TJ. Enhanced osteoblast functions on anodized titanium with nanotube-like structures. J Biomed Mater Res A 2008 Apr;85(1):157-166. [doi: <u>10.1002/jbm.a.31551</u>] [Medline: <u>17688267</u>]
- 45. Kim KH, Ramaswamy N. Electrochemical surface modification of titanium in dentistry. Dent Mater J 2009 Jan;28(1):20-36 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19280965]
- 46. Ercan B, Webster TJ. Greater osteoblast proliferation on anodized nanotubular titanium upon electrical stimulation. Int J Nanomedicine 2008;3(4):477-485 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19337416</u>]
- 47. Yao C, Perla V, McKenzie JL, Slamovich EB, Webster TJ. Anodized Ti and Ti6Al4V possessing nanometer surface features enhance osteoblast adhesion. J Biomed Nanotechnol 2005 Mar 1;1(1):68-73. [doi: <u>10.1166/jbn.2005.008</u>]
- 48. Rodriguez R, Kim K, Ong JL. In vitro osteoblast response to anodized titanium and anodized titanium followed by hydrothermal treatment. J Biomed Mater Res A 2003 Jun 1;65(3):352-358. [doi: <u>10.1002/jbm.a.10490</u>] [Medline: <u>12746882</u>]
- Yao C, Slamovich EB, Webster TJ. Enhanced osteoblast functions on anodized titanium with nanotube-like structures. J Biomed Mater Res A 2008 Apr;85(1):157-166. [doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.31551] [Medline: 17688267]
- 50. Jungner M, Lundqvist P, Lundgren S. Oxidized titanium implants (Nobel Biocare TiUnite) compared with turned titanium implants (Nobel Biocare mark III) with respect to implant failure in a group of consecutive patients treated with early functional loading and two-stage protocol. Clin Oral Implants Res 2005 Jun;16(3):308-312. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0501.2005.01101.x] [Medline: 15877751]

- 51. Schüpbach P, Glauser R, Rocci A, Martignoni M, Sennerby L, Lundgren A, et al. The human bone-oxidized titanium implant interface: a light microscopic, scanning electron microscopic, back-scatter scanning electron microscopic, and energy-dispersive x-ray study of clinically retrieved dental implants. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2005;7(Suppl 1):S36-S43. [Medline: <u>16137086</u>]
- Sul Y, Johansson C, Wennerberg A, Cho L, Chang B, Albrektsson T. Optimum surface properties of oxidized implants for reinforcement of osseointegration: surface chemistry, oxide thickness, porosity, roughness, and crystal structure. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2005;20(3):349-359. [Medline: <u>15973946</u>]
- 53. Fröjd V, Linderbäck P, Wennerberg A, Chávez de Paz L, Svensäter G, Davies JR. Effect of nanoporous TiO2 coating and anodized Ca2+ modification of titanium surfaces on early microbial biofilm formation. BMC Oral Health 2011 Mar 8;11:8-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6831-11-8] [Medline: 21385428]
- Nguyen H, Deporter D, Pilliar RM, Valiquette N, Yakubovich R. The effect of sol-gel-formed calcium phosphate coatings on bone ingrowth and osteoconductivity of porous-surfaced Ti alloy implants. Biomaterials 2004 Feb;25(5):865-876. [Medline: <u>14609675</u>]
- Advincula MC, Petersen D, Rahemtulla F, Advincula R, Lemons JE. Surface analysis and biocorrosion properties of nanostructured surface sol-gel coatings on Ti6Al4V titanium alloy implants. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2007 Jan;80(1):107-120. [doi: 10.1002/jbm.b.30575] [Medline: 16680691]
- 56. Afrooz L, Abdollah A, Aliasghar B. Sol-gel derived titania coating on titanium substrate. Iran J Pharm Res 2008;4(1):17-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.117-119.332]
- 57. Chen X, Mao SS. Titanium dioxide nanomaterials: synthesis, properties, modifications, and applications. Chem Rev 2007 Jul;107(7):2891-2959. [doi: 10.1021/cr0500535] [Medline: 17590053]
- 58. Mansor AH, Ismail AB. Preparation of titanium dioxide (TiO2) thin films by sol gel dip coating method. Malay J Chem 2003;5:89-91.
- 59. Kumar PS, Kumar S, Savadi RC, John J. Nanodentistry: a paradigm shift-from fiction to reality. J Indian Prosthodont Soc 2011 Mar;11(1):1-6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13191-011-0062-0] [Medline: 22379298]
- 60. Kim HW, Koh YH, Li LH, Lee S, Kim HE. Hydroxyapatite coating on titanium substrate with titania buffer layer processed by sol-gel method. Biomaterials 2004 Jun;25(13):2533-2538. [Medline: <u>14751738</u>]
- 61. Vetrone F, Variola F, de Oliveira PT, Zalzal SF, Yi JH, Sam J, et al. Nanoscale oxidative patterning of metallic surfaces to modulate cell activity and fate. Nano Lett 2009 Feb;9(2):659-665. [doi: <u>10.1021/nl803051f</u>] [Medline: <u>19159323</u>]
- Cabrini M, Cigada A, Rondelli G, Vicentini B. Effect of different surface finishing and of hydroxyapatite coatings on passive and corrosion current of Ti6Al4V alloy in simulated physiological solution. Biomaterials 1997 Jun;18(11):783-787. [Medline: 9177856]
- 63. Brown R, Alias M, Fontana R. Effect of composition and thickness on corrosion behavior of TiN and ZrN thin films. Surf Coat Technol 1993;62:467-473. [doi: 10.1016/0257-8972(93)90285-V]
- 64. Vaquila I, Vergara L, PasseggiJr M, Vidal R, Ferron J. Chemical reactions at surfaces: titanium oxidation. Surf Coat Technol 1999;122:67-71. [doi: 10.1016/S0257-8972(99)00420-X]
- 65. Dalby MJ, Riehle MO, Johnstone H, Affrossman S, Curtis AS. In vitro reaction of endothelial cells to polymer demixed nanotopography. Biomaterials 2002 Jul;23(14):2945-2954. [Medline: <u>12069336</u>]
- 66. Love JC, Estroff LA, Kriebel JK, Nuzzo RG, Whitesides GM. Self-assembled monolayers of thiolates on metals as a form of nanotechnology. Chem Rev 2005 Apr;105(4):1103-1169. [doi: 10.1021/cr0300789] [Medline: 15826011]
- 67. Rølla G, Ogaard B, Cruz R. Topical application of fluorides on teeth. New concepts of mechanisms of interaction. J Clin Periodontol 1993 Feb;20(2):105-108. [Medline: <u>8436628</u>]
- Guo J, Padilla RJ, Ambrose W, De Kok IJ, Cooper LF. The effect of hydrofluoric acid treatment of TiO2 grit blasted titanium implants on adherent osteoblast gene expression in vitro and in vivo. Biomaterials 2007 Dec;28(36):5418-5425. [doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.08.032] [Medline: 17868850]
- 69. Tomsia AP, Lee JS, Wegst UG, Saiz E. Nanotechnology for dental implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2013;28(6):e535-e546. [doi: 10.11607/jomi.te34] [Medline: 24278949]
- Variola F, Brunski JB, Orsini G, de Oliveira PT, Wazen R, Nanci A. Nanoscale surface modifications of medically relevant metals: state-of-the art and perspectives. Nanoscale 2011 Feb;3(2):335-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1039/c0nr00485e] [Medline: 20976359]
- 71. Parekh RB, Shetty O, Tabassum R. Surface modifications for endosseous dental implants. Int J Oral Implantol Clin Res 2012;3(3):116-121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5005/JP-Journals-10012-1078]
- Smeets R, Stadlinger B, Schwarz F, Beck-Broichsitter B, Jung O, Precht C, et al. Impact of dental implant surface modifications on osseointegration. Biomed Res Int 2016;2016 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2016/6285620] [Medline: 27478833]
- 73. Ogawa T. Ultraviolet photofunctionalization of titanium implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2014;29(1):e95-102. [doi: 10.11607/jomi.te47] [Medline: 24451893]
- 74. Balasundaram T, Webster TJ. A perspective on nanophase materials for orthopedic implant applications. J Mater Chem 2006;16:3737 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1039/B604966B]

- 75. Kassem M, Mosekilde L, Eriksen E. Effects of fluoride on human bone cells in vitro: differences in responsiveness between stromal osteoblast precursors and mature osteoblasts. Eur J Endocrinol 1994 Apr;130(4):381-386. [Medline: <u>8162169</u>]
- 76. Ellingsen JE. On the properties of surface modified titanium. In: Davies JE, editor. Bone Engineering. Georgia, United States: Em Squared Inc; 2000:183-189.
- 77. Ramazanoglu M, Lutz R, Ergun C, von Wilmowsky C, Nkenke E, Schlegel K. The effect of combined delivery of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 and recombinant human vascular endothelial growth factor 165 from biomimetic calcium-phosphate-coated implants on osseointegration. Clin Oral Implants Res 2011 Dec;22(12):1433-1439. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0501.2010.02133.x] [Medline: 21418332]
- 78. Barros RR, Novaes AB, Papalexiou V, Souza SL, Taba M, Palioto DB, et al. Effect of biofunctionalized implant surface on osseointegration: a histomorphometric study in dogs. Braz Dent J 2009;20(2):91-98 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19738939]
- 79. Cordioli G, Majzoub Z, Piattelli A, Scarano A. Removal torque and histomorphometric investigation of 4 different titanium surfaces: an experimental study in the rabbit tibia. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2000;15(5):668-674. [Medline: <u>11055134</u>]
- Klokkevold P, Johnson P, Dadgostari S, Caputo A, Davies J, Nishimura R. Early endosseous integration enhanced by dual acid etching of titanium: a torque removal study in the rabbit. Clin Oral Implants Res 2001 Aug;12(4):350-357. [Medline: 11488864]
- Thor A, Rasmusson L, Wennerberg A, Thomsen P, Hirsch J, Nilsson B, et al. The role of whole blood in thrombin generation in contact with various titanium surfaces. Biomaterials 2007 Feb;28(6):966-974. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.10.020</u>] [Medline: <u>17095084</u>]
- 82. Abron A, Hopfensperger M, Thompson J, Cooper LF. Evaluation of a predictive model for implant surface topography effects on early osseointegration in the rat tibia model. J Prosthet Dent 2001 Jan;85(1):40-46. [doi: 10.1067/mpr.2001.112415] [Medline: 11174677]
- 83. Ellingsen JE, Thomsen P, Lyngstadaas SP. Advances in dental implant materials and tissue regeneration. Periodontol 2000 2006;41:136-156. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0757.2006.00175.x] [Medline: 16686931]
- 84. Wennerberg A, Hallgren C, Johansson C, Danelli S. A histomorphometric evaluation of screw-shaped implants each prepared with two surface roughnesses. Clin Oral Implants Res 1998 Feb;9(1):11-19. [Medline: <u>9590940</u>]
- Mendonça G, Mendonça DB, Simões LG, Araújo AL, Leite ER, Duarte WR, et al. The effects of implant surface nanoscale features on osteoblast-specific gene expression. Biomaterials 2009 Sep;30(25):4053-4062. [doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.04.010] [Medline: 19464052]
- Dalby M, McCloy D, Robertson M, Agheli H, Sutherland D, Affrossman S, et al. Osteoprogenitor response to semi-ordered and random nanotopographies. Biomaterials 2006 May;27(15):2980-2987. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.01.010</u>] [Medline: <u>16443268</u>]
- 87. Dalby M, McCloy D, Robertson M, Wilkinson CD, Oreffo RO. Osteoprogenitor response to defined topographies with nanoscale depths. Biomaterials 2006 Mar;27(8):1306-1315. [doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.08.028] [Medline: 16143393]
- Ehrenfest DM, Coelho PG, Kang BS, Sul YT, Albrektsson T. Classification of osseointegrated implant surfaces: materials, chemistry and topography. Trends Biotechnol 2010 Apr;28(4):198-206. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.tibtech.2009.12.003</u>] [Medline: <u>20116873</u>]
- 89. Rasmusson L, Kahnberg KE, Tan A. Effects of implant design and surface on bone regeneration and implant stability: an experimental study in the dog mandible. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2001;3(1):2-8. [Medline: <u>11441539</u>]
- 90. Ivanoff CJ, Hallgren C, Widmark G, Sennerby L, Wennerberg A. Histologic evaluation of the bone integration of TiO(2) blasted and turned titanium microimplants in humans. Clin Oral Implants Res 2001 Apr;12(2):128-134. [Medline: <u>11251662</u>]
- 91. Cho SA, Park KT. The removal torque of titanium screw inserted in rabbit tibia treated by dual acid etching. Biomaterials 2003 Sep;24(20):3611-3617. [Medline: <u>12809791</u>]
- Darvell B, Samman N, Luk WK, Clark RK, Tideman H. Contamination of titanium castings by aluminium oxide blasting. J Dent 1995 Oct;23(5):319-322. [Medline: <u>7560379</u>]
- 93. D'Lima DD, Lemperle SM, Chen PC, Holmes RE, Colwell CW. Bone response to implant surface morphology. J Arthroplasty 1998 Dec;13(8):928-934. [Medline: <u>9880187</u>]
- 94. Ban S, Iwaya Y, Kono H, Sato H. Surface modification of titanium by etching in concentrated sulfuric acid. Dent Mater 2006 Dec;22(12):1115-1120. [doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2005.09.007] [Medline: 16375960]
- 95. Yokoyama K, Ichikawa T, Murakami H, Miyamoto Y, Asaoka K. Fracture mechanisms of retrieved titanium screw thread in dental implant. Biomaterials 2002 Jun;23(12):2459-2465. [Medline: <u>12033593</u>]
- 96. Liu R, Poon WY, Kwok CH, Chu PK, Ding C. Plasma surface modification of titanium for hard tissue replacements. Surf Coat Technol 2004;186(1-2):227-233. [doi: 10.1016/j.surfcoat.2004.02.045]
- 97. Knabe C, Klar F, Fitzner R, Radlanski RJ, Gross U. In vitro investigation of titanium and hydroxyapatite dental implant surfaces using a rat bone marrow stromal cell culture system. Biomaterials 2002 Aug;23(15):3235-3245. [Medline: <u>12102195</u>]
- 98. Gu YW, Khor KA, Pan D, Cheang P. Activity of plasma sprayed yttria stabilized zirconia reinforced hydroxyapatite/Ti-6Al-4V composite coatings in simulated body fluid. Biomaterials 2004 Jul;25(16):3177-3185. [doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2003.09.101] [Medline: 14980413]

- 99. Becker J, Kirsch A, Schwarz F, Chatzinikolaidou M, Rothamel D, Lekovic V, et al. Bone apposition to titanium implants biocoated with recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 (rhBMP-2). A pilot study in dogs. Clin Oral Investig 2006 Sep;10(3):217-224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00784-006-0049-0] [Medline: 16683108]
- 100. Wikesjö UM, Xiropaidis A, Qahash M, Lim WH, Sorensen RG, Rohrer MD, et al. Bone formation at recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2-coated titanium implants in the posterior mandible (Type II bone) in dogs. J Clin Periodontol 2008 Nov;35(11):985-991. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-051X.2008.01318.x] [Medline: 18976395]
- 101. Nikolidakis D, Meijer G, Oortgiesen D, Walboomers X, Jansen J. The effect of a low dose of transforming growth factor beta1 (TGF-beta1) on the early bone-healing around oral implants inserted in trabecular bone. Biomaterials 2009 Jan;30(1):94-99. [doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.09.022] [Medline: 18838161]
- 102. Schouten C, Meijer G, van den Beucken JJ, Spauwen P, Jansen J. Effects of implant geometry, surface properties, and TGF-beta1 on peri-implant bone response: an experimental study in goats. Clin Oral Implants Res 2009 Apr;20(4):421-429. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0501.2008.01657.x] [Medline: 19298297]
- 103. Guida L, Annunziata M, Rocci A, Contaldo M, Rullo R, Oliva A. Biological response of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to fluoride-modified titanium surfaces. Clin Oral Implants Res 2010 Nov;21(11):1234-1241. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1600-0501.2010.01929.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20497444</u>]
- 104. Isa Z, Schneider G, Zaharias R, Seabold D, Stanford C. Effects of fluoride-modified titanium surfaces on osteoblast proliferation and gene expression. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2006;21(2):203-211. [Medline: <u>16634490</u>]

#### Abbreviations

AE: acid-etched **BIC:** bone-to-implant contact BMP: bone morphogenic protein CaP: calcium phosphate CSA: chromosulfuric acid HA: hydroxyapatite MSC: mesenchymal stem cell NaOH: sodium hydroxide RTQ: rabbit-reverse torque RUNX-2: Runt-related transcription factor 1 SAM: self-assembled monolayer **SBF:** simulated body fluid TGF-beta 1: transforming growth factor beta 1 TiO<sub>2</sub>: titania TPO: titanium porous oxide TPS: titanium plasma spraying **VEGF:** vascular endothelial growth factor

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.12.18; peer-reviewed by S Jagadeesh, G Madhav, MS Aslam, G Chander, À Salvador Verges; comments to author 14.04.19; revised version received 05.05.19; accepted 12.05.19; published 08.06.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Kumar PS, KS SK, Grandhi VV, Gupta V The Effects of Titanium Implant Surface Topography on Osseointegration: Literature Review JMIR Biomed Eng 2019;4(1):e13237 URL: <u>http://biomedeng.jmir.org/2019/1/e13237/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/13237</u> PMID:

©Preeti Satheesh Kumar, Satheesh Kumar KS, Vyoma Venkatesh Grandhi, Vrinda Gupta. Originally published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering (http://biomedeng.jmir.org), 08.06.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Biomedical Engineering, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://biomedeng.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

